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lEl holds an exclusive Shale Oi! Exploration and Production License that covers approximately 238 square kilometers in the south ofthe Shfela 
region in Israel. The license expires in July 2013. The initial term ofthe license was for three years until July 2011. The license has been extended, 
and it may be further extended in one year increments until July 2015 (the maximum term of a license under Israeli Law is seven years). Although 
the license may be further extended and lEl may also apply for a new license, there is no guarantee the license will be extended, that a new license 
would be granted or that the license will not be successfully challenged by environmental or other opposition groups. The license is subject to 
certain conditions and milestones and the failure to reach those milestones may result in the termination, revocation, suspension or limitation of the 
license. Our ability to construct the pilot plant is dependent on recently enacted permitting regulations, and there is no guarantee that we will be 
able to obtain the required permits under the new regulafions in a timely manner or at all. 

In February 2013, the Govemment of Israel awarded Genie Israel Oil and Gas, Ltd. an exclusive three year petroleum license in the southem 
portion ofthe Golan Heights. The grant ofthe license is subject to challenge by the competing applicant for the license which may be filed within 
30 days of the grant. Operations under the license may initiate intemational criticism, in addifion to the regulatory and permitting challenges 
described above in connection with the Shfela License. 

Genie Oil and Gas is subject to regulatory, legal and political risks thai may limit its operations. 
Our operations and potential eamings may be affected from time to time in varying degree by regulatory, legal and political factors including laws 
and regulations related to environmental or energy security matters, including those addressing altemative and renewable energy sources and the 
risks of global climate change. Such laws and regulations continue to increase in both number and complexity and affect our operafions with 
espect to, among other things: 

The discharge of pollutants into the environment; 

The handling, use, storage, transportation, disposal and cleanup of hazardous materials and hazardous and nonhazardous wastes; 

The dismantlement, abandonment and restoration ofour properties and facilities at the end of their useful lives; 

Restrictions on exploration and production; 

Loss of petroleum rights including key leases, licenses or permits; 

Tax or royalty increases, including retroactive claims; 

Intellectual property challenges that would limit our ability to use our planned in-situ production technologies; and 

Political instability, war or other conflicts in areas where we operate. 

For example, in March 2011, the Israeli Parliament passed a bill materially increasing the overall taxes, royalties and other fees due to the Israeli 
govemment from revenues derived by oil and natural gas producers. The Israeli Income Tax Ordinance was revised accordingly and the amount 
payable to the govemment from revenues derived by oil and natural gas producers increased from a maximum of 32% to 52%. This tax will only be 
imposed once a project has passed certain milestones set forth in the ordinance (when the profits derived from a certain field have reached 150% of 
the original investment in that field). 

AMSO, LLC's RD&D Lease is subject to other third party lease interests. 
There are other mineral leases which are collocated with AMSO, LLC's lease interests, including the tenitory designated for AMSO LLC's 
commercial lease conversion. While some ofthese other leases are subject to special oil shale stipulations requiring the leaseholders to minimize 
potential impacts and prevent interference with oil shale development, others are not. Although AMSO, LLC works to coordinate drilling plans and 
operations with these collocated leaseholders to preserve the integrity of its resource and operations, we cannot guaranty that these collocated 
leases will not interfere with AMSO LLCs operations. 

Regulation of greenhouse gas emissions could increase Genie Oi! and Gas' operational costs, cause delays and/or restrict our operations. 
The production and processing ofoil shale will result in some emission of greenhouse gases. Intemational agreements and national or regional 
legislation and regulatory measures to limit greenhouse emissions are currently in various phases of discussion or implementation. The Kyoto 
protocol and other actual or pending federal, state and local regulations, envision a reduction of greenhouse gas emissions through market-based 
trading schemes. As a result ofthese and other potential environmental regulafions, if our research and development activities are successful and 
we eventually begin commercial production, we can expect to incur additional capital, compliance, operating, maintenance and remediation costs. 
To the extent these costs are not ultimately reflected in the price of the products we sell, our operating results will be adversely affected. 
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The oil and gas industry is subject to the general inherent industry and economic risks. 
The oil and gas business is fundamentally a commodity business. This means that potential future commercial operations and eamings may be 
significantly affected by changes in oil and gas prices and by changes in margins on gasoline, natural gas and other refined products. 

We may be exposed to Infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties, which, if determined adversely to us, could cause us to lose 
significant rights and pay significant damage awards. 
Our success also depends largely on our ability to use and develop our technology and know-how without infringing on the intellectual property 
rights of third parties. The validity and scope of claims relating to our technology involve complex scientific, legal and factual questions and 
analysis. It is therefore difficult to accurately predict whether or not a third party will assert that we are infringing on its intellectual property or 
whether it would prevail. Although we are not currently aware of any infringement or of any parties pursuing or intending to pursue infringement 
claims against us, we cannot assure you that we will not be subject to such claims in the future. Also, in many jurisdictions, patent applications 
remain confidential and are not published for some period after filing. Thus, we may be unaware of other parties' pending patent applicafions that 
relate to our processes. While at present we are unaware of competing patent applicafions, such applications could potenfially surface. 

The defense and prosecution of intellectual property suits, patent opposition proceedings and related legal and administrative proceedings can be 
both costly and time consuming and may significantly divert the efforts and resources ofour technical and management personnel. An adverse 
determination in any such litigation or proceedings to which we may become a party could subject us to significant liability to third parties, require 
us to seek licenses from third parties, to pay ongoing royalties, to redesign our products, or subject us to injunctions prohibiting the manufacture 
and sale ofour products or the use ofour technologies. 

Risk Related to Our Fmancial Condition 

We hold significant cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit, and marketable securities that are subject to various market 
risks. 
As of December 31, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit, and marketable securities of $92.9 million. As 
a result of various market risks, the value ofthese holdings could be materially and adversely affected. 

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure 

Holders ofour Class B common stock and Series 2012-A Preferred Stock have significantly less voting power than holders ofour Class A common 
stock. 
Holders ofour Class B common stock and Series 2012-A Preferred Stock are entitled to one-tenth of a vote per share on all matters on which our 
stockholders are entitled to vote, while holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to three votes per share. As a result, the ability of holders 
ofour Class B common stock and Series 2012-A Preferred Stock to influence our management is limited. 

Holders ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock are entitled to an annual dividend and such payments may have a negative impact on the Company's 
cashflow. 
Holders ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive an annual dividend, payable quarteriy in cash. The payment of such dividend 
could have a negative impact on the Company's cash flow and cash balances. If dividends on any shares ofthe Series 2012-A Preferred Stock are 
in arrears for 6 or more quarters, whether or not consecutive, holders ofthe Series 2012-A Preferred Stock shall have the right to elect two (2) 
additional directors to serve on our Board, and this could have a negative impact on the market price ofour equity securities. 

We are controlled by our principal stockholder, which limits the ability of other stockholders to affect our management. 
Howard S. Jonas, our Chairman ofthe Board, has voting power over 4,398,112 shares ofour common stock (which includes 1,574,326 shares of 
our Class A common stock, which are convertible into shares ofour Class B common stock on a 1-for-l basis, and 2,823,786 shares ofour Class B 
common stock), representing approximately 73% ofthe combined voting power ofour outstanding capital stock, as of March 19, 2013. Mr. Jonas 
is able to control matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of all of the directors and the approval of significant 
corporate matters, including any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. As a result, the ability of any of our other 
stockholders to influence our management is limited. 

15 

Page 174 of 317 



Exhibit C-1 Annual Report (2012) 

Item IB . Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None. 

Item 2 . Properties. 

Our headquarters are located at 550 Broad St,, Newark, New Jersey. We lease approximately 3,500 square foot space in Newark, New Jersey. 

IDT Energy's Jamestown, New York offices are located at 20 West Third Street where we lease approximately 10,000 square feet of space. 

AMSO, LLC's operating office is in Rifle, Colorado. AMSO, LLC is supported by AMSO and Genie professionals based in Newark, New Jersey. 
AMSO, LLC rents approximately 2,450 square feet of office space and 2,000 square feet of warehouse space in Rifle under operating leases with 
flexible terms and conditions. 

lEl operates out of IDT Corporafion's offices in Jerusalem and a field office and a warehouse in the city of Beit Shemesh. In addifion, lEl built and 
operates a research laboratory located on the campus of Ben Gurion University in Be'er Sheva. 

Item 3 . Legal Proceedings. 

On August 15, 2010, the Israel Union for Environmental Defense, or the Union, filed a petition with the Supreme Court of Israel against various 
ministries of the State of Israel and the Jerusalem Regional Committee for Planning and Construction, and naming lEI, as a respondent. The 
petition sought an order of the Court requiring the respondents to explain the grant of the oil shale exploratory license to lEl and setting aside or 
cancelling the license. The Union claims that the license was granted without following all requirements imposed by applicable law, particularly 
regarding environmental impact and compliance with zoning, land use and similar laws and plans. lEI believes that it followed the requirements 
imposed by the Govemment of Israel and that it is in compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements. On October 29, 2012, the Court 
denied the petition. 

On June 6, 2012, the Union filed another petition with the Supreme Court of Israel, against various minisfries ofthe State of Israel, lEI and other oil 
and gas exploration companies. The Union sought to cancel the regulations enacted by the Ministry of Energy pursuant to Section 47 ofthe Israeli 
Petroleum Law goveming the permitting process of oil and gas exploration, and sought to cancel the exploration license granted to lEI. On 
December 24, 2012, the Supreme Court of Israel rejected the petition. 

In addifion to the foregoing, we may from time to time be subject to other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course ofbusiness. Although 
there can be no assurance in this regard, we do not expect any of those legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations, cash flows or fmancial condition. 

Item 4 . Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable, 
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P a r t n 

Item 5 . Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. 

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK 

Our Class B common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "GNE". 

The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our Class B Common Stock as reported by the NYSE for the fiscal periods indicated 
which represents the only fiscal periods our Class B Common Stock has been frading on the NYSE. 
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Part II 

Item 5 . Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. 

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK 

Our Class B common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "GNE". 

The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our Class B Common Stock as reported by the NYSE for the fiscal periods indicated 
which represents the only fiscal periods our Class B Common Stock has been frading on the NYSE. 

High Low 
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 
Fourth (garter $ 10.00 $6.68 

Fiscal year ended December 31,2012 
First Quarter $11.18 $ 7.87 
Second Quarter $9.73 $6.47 
Third Quarter $7.89 $6.76 
Fourth Qu^er $7.57 $5.75 

On March 13. 2013, there were 459 holders ofrecord ofour Class B common stock and 3 holders ofrecord ofour Class A common stock. All 
shares of Class A common stock are beneficially owned by Howard Jonas. These numbers do not include the number of persons whose shares are 
in nominee or m "street name" accounts through brokers. On March 20,2013, the last sales price reported on the New York Stock Exchange for the 
Class B common stock was $7.87 per share. 

The Series 2012-A Preferred Stock is listed and traded on the NYSE under the symbol "GNEPRA", Trading began on the NYSE on October 24, 
2012. 

The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock as reported by the NYSE for the fiscal periods 
indicated which represents the only fiscal periods our the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock has been trading on the NYSE. 

High Low 
Fiscal yem- ended December 31,2012 
FourthQuarter $8.24 $6.70 

On March 13, 2013, there were 7 holders ofrecord ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock. These numbers do not include the number of persons 
whose shares are in nominee or in "street name" accounts through brokers. On March 20, 2013, the last sales price reported on the New York Stock 
Exchange for the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock was $7.86 per share. 

Additional information regarding dividends required by this item is incorporated by reference from the Management's Discussion and Analysis 
section in Item 7 to Part II and Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 to Part II of this Annual Report. 

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders Meeting, which 
we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2012, and which is incorporated by reference 
herein. 
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Performance Graph of Stock 
The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder retum on our Class B common stock and our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock with 
the cumulative total retum ofthe New York Stock Exchange Composite Index and the Standard & Poor's Integrated Oil & Gas Index for the period 
beginning October 26, 2011 and ending December 31, 2012, The graph and table assume that $100 was invested on October 26, 2011 (the first day 
of trading for the Class B common stock) and on October 24, 2012 with respect to the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock (the first day of frading for 
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Performance Graph of Stock 
The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder retum on our Class B common stock and our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock with 
the cumulative total retum ofthe New York Stock Exchange Composite Index and the Standard & Poor's Integrated Oil & Gas Index forthe period 
beginning October 26, 2011 and ending December 31, 2012, The graph and table assume that $100 was invested on October 26, 2011 (the first day 
of trading for the Class B common stock) and on October 24, 2012 with respect to the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock (the first day of trading for 
the Series 2012-A Preferred stock) with the cumulative total retum ofthe NYSE Composite Index and the S&P Integrated Oil & Gas Index, and 
that all dividends were reinvested. Cumulative total stockholder retums for our Class B common stock. Series 2012-A Preferred Stock, NYSE 
Composite Index and the S&P Integrated Oil & Gas Index are based on our fiscal year, 

COMPARISON OF 14 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN* 
Among Genie Energy Class B-NYSE, the NYSE Composite Index, 

andthe S&P Integrated Oil & Gas Index 

10/26/11 12/11 3/12 6/12 10/24/12 12/12 

- B ^ Genie Eneigy Ltd. Class B 

-o-— NYSE Compostte 

- -A- • Genie Energy Ltd. Series 2012 - A Preferred 

— 4̂<— S&P Integrated Oil & Gas 

*S100 Invested on 10/26/11 in stock or9/30/11 in index, including reinvestment of dividends. 
Indexes calculated on month-end basis. 

10/26/11 12/11 3/12 6/12 10/24/12 12/12 

Genie Energy Ltd. Class B 
Genie Energy Ltd. Series 2012-A 
Preferred 
NYSEComposlte 
S&P Integrated Oil & Gas 

100,00 

100.00 
100.00 

92.79 

110.77 
117.94 

113.52 

122.34 
121.17 

91.86 

117.23 
117.65 

81.55 

100.00 
124.79 
127.46 

84.52 

93.75 
128.48 
120.54 
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
The following table provides information with respect to purchases by us ofour shares during the fourth quarter ofthe year ended December 31, 
2012. 
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
The following table provides information with respect to purchases by us of our shares during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 
2012. 

Total 
Number of 

Shares 
Purchased 

Average 
Price per 

Share 

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 

as part of 
Publicly 

Announced 
Plans 

or Programs 

Maximum 
Number of Shares 

that May Yet 
Be Purchased 

Under the Plans 
or Programs(l) 

October 1-31,2012 
November 1-30, 2012 
December 1-31,2012 
Total 

$ 
10,609(2) $ 

— 
10,609 (3) 

— 
7.21 

$ 

— 
— 
— 

$ 

20,000,000 
20,000,000 
20,000,000 

(1) Under our existing stock repurchase program, approved by our Board of Directors on December 8, 2011, we were authorized to 
repurchase up to an aggregate of 20 million shares ofour Class B common stock. 

(2) Consists of 10,609 shares of Class B common stock that were tendered by employees of ours to satisfy the employees' tax withholding 
obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on awards of restricted stock. Such shares are repurchased by us based on their 
fair market value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting date. 

(3) Excludes 1,604,591 shares Class B common stock that were exchanged by our stockholders on October 17, 2012 for an equal amount of 
Series 2012-A Preferred Stock (on a one-for-one basis) pursuant to an exchange offer. 
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Item 6 . Selected Financial Data. 

The selected consolidated fmancial data presented below as ofDecember 31, 2012 and 2011, and for the year ended December 31, 2012 and the 
five months ended December 31, 2011 has been derived fi-om our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been audited by Grant Thomton 
LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. The selected consolidated financial data presented below as of July 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
and for each ofthe fiscal years in the four-year period ended July 31, 2011 has been derived fi-om our Consolidated Financial Statements, which 
have been audited by Zwick and Banyai, PLLC, independent registered public accounting firm. The selected consolidated financial data presented 
below for the five months ended December 31, 2010 is unaudited. The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

(in thousands, except per share data) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

229,459 
(2,535) 
(0.17) 
(0.17) 
0.133 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 76,783 
(268) 
0.04 
0.04 
0.05 

December 
31,2012 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2011 

$ 196,018 
(2,555) 

0.08 
0.07 

— 

December 
31,2011 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2010 

$ 195,429 
14,081 

0.72 
0.65 

— 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2009 

$261,954 
22,728 

1.12 
1.02 

— 

July 31, 
2011 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2008 

$242,365 $ 
(681) 

(0.03) 
(0.03) 

— 

July 31, 
2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

74,877 
916 
0.09 
0.08 

— 

July 31, 
2009 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues 
Net (loss) income 

'•• (Loss) eamings per common share—^basic 
(Loss) eamings per common share—diluted 
Cash dividend declared per common share 

(in thousands) 

BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
Total assets S 15036 $ 150,194 $ 67,406 $ 56,998 $ 50,932 
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Item 6 . Selected Financial Data. 

The selected consolidated fmancial data presented below as ofDecember 31, 2012 and 2011, and for theyear ended December 31, 2012 andthe 
five months ended December 31,2011 has been derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been audited by Grant Thomton 
LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. The selected consolidated financial data presented below as of July 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
and for each ofthe fiscal years in the four-year period ended July 31, 2011 has been derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements, which 
have been audited by Zwick and Banyai, PLLC, independent registered public accounting firm. The selected consolidated financial data presented 
below for the five months ended December 31, 2010 is unaudited. The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

(in thousands, except per share data) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

229,459 : 
(2,535 ) 
(0.17) 
(0.17) 
0.133 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

i 76,783 
(268) 
0.04 
0.04 
0.05 

December 
31,2012 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2011 

$ 196,018 
(2,555) 

0.08 
0.07 

— 

December 
31,2011 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2010 

$ 195,429 
14,081 

0.72 
0.65 

— 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2009 

$261,954 
22,728 

1.12 
1.02 

— 

July 31, 
2011 

Fiscal 
year 

ended 
July 31, 

2008 

$242,365 $ 
(681) 

(0.03) 
(0.03) 

— 

July 31, 
2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

74,877 
916 
0.09 
0.08 

— 

July 31, 
2009 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
: Revenues $ 
Net (loss) income 
(Loss) eamings per common share—basic 
(Loss) eamings per common share—diluted 
Cash dividend declared per common share 

(in thousands) 
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
Total assets $ 150,306 $ 150,194 $ 67,406 $ 56,998 $ 50,932 

Item 7 . Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

This Armual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A ofthe Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E ofthe 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including statements that contain the words "believes," "anticipates," "expects," "plans," "intends" and similar 
words and phrases. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
the results projected in any forward-looking statement. In addition to the factors specifically noted in the forward-looking statements, other 
important factors, risks and uncertainties that could result in those differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed under Item IA to Part 
I "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report. The forward-looking statements are made as ofthe date of this Annual Report, and we assume no obligation 
to update the forward-looking statements, or to update the reasons why actual results could differ fi-om those projected in the forward-looking 
statements. Investors should consult all ofthe information set forth in this report and the other information set forth from time to time in our reports 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including our 
reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K. 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 8 of this 
Annual Report. 

OVERVIEW 
On January 30, 2012, our Board of Directors changed our fiscal year end from July 31 to December 31, in order to better align our financial 
reporting with our operational and budgeting cycle and with other industry participants. We previously reported the results for our transitional 
period in a Transition Report on Form 10-Q for the five months from August 1,2011 to December 31, 2011. 

We own 99.3% ofour subsidiary, GEIC, which owns 96.4% of IDT Energy and 92% of GOGAS. Our principal businesses consist of: 

• IDT Energy, an REP supplying electricity and naUiral gas to residential and small business customers in the Northeastem United States; 
and 

Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's abundant oil 
shale and other conventional and unconventional fuel resources, which consists of (1) AMSO, which holds and manages a 50%. interest in 
AMSO, LLC, our oil shale project in Colorado, and (2) an 89% interest in lEI, our oil shale project in Israel. In addition, in Febmary 
2013, GIOG was awarded an exclusive petroleum license by the Govemment of Israel covering 396.5 square kilometers in the southem 
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portion ofthe Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant ofthe license is subject to challenge by the competing 
applicant fof the license which may be filed within 30 days ofthe grant. 
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Genie was incorporated in January 2011. References to us in the following discussion are made on a consolidated basis as if we existed and owned 
IDT Energy and Genie Oil and Gas in all periods discussed. 

As part ofour ongoing business development efforts, we continuously seek out new opportunities, which may include complementary operations or 
businesses that reflect horizontal or vertical expansion from our current operations. Some ofthese potential opportunities are considered briefly and 
others are examined in further depth. In particular, we seek out acquisitions to expand the geographic scope and size of our REP business, and 
additional energy exploration projects to diversify our GOGAS unit's operations, among geographies, technologies and resources. 

As part of this process, in addition to other potential opportunities, we are currently actively evaluating several potential exploration and 
development projects for oil shale and other conventional and unconventional energy resources in other locations. The energy development 
prospects vary in potential size, applied technology and potential time to commercial production. For example, in June 2012, we signed an 
agreement with the Republic of Mongolia for a joint geological survey of certain of that country's oil shale deposits. The prospects we are 
evaluating or pursuing are in various stages of development and if is unclear when or if they will be developed or commercialized or prove to be 
profitable. However, if one or more ofthese prospects were to be successfully commercialized, they could be significant in terms of their potential 
impact on our operations and financial condition, and could materially affect our financial results, future prospects and valuation . 

Spin-Offfrom IDT 

We were formerly a subsidiary of IDT. On October 28, 2011, we were spun-offby IDT and became an independent public company through a pro 
rata distribution of ouf common stock to IDT's stockholders. As a resuh of the Spin-Off, each of IDT's stockholders received: (i) one shareof our 
Class A common stock for every share of IDT's Class A common stock held ofrecord on October 21, 2011, and (ii) one share ofour Class B 
common stock for every share of IDT's Class B common stock held of record on the Record Date. On October 28, 2011, 1.6 million sharesof our 
Class A common stock, and 21.1 million shares ofour Class B common stock were issued and outstanding. 

Prior to the Spin-Off, JDT made a capital contribution of $82.2 million to us. In addition, in connection with the capital contribution received from 
IDT, the amount due fiom IDT as ofthe date ofthe Spin-Off of $2.1 milhon was forgiven. 

We entered into various agreements with IDT prior to the Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the separation and 
provide a framework for our relationship with IDT after the Spin-Off, and a Transition Services Agreement, which provides for certain, services to 
be performed by us and IDT to facilitate our transition into a separate publicly-traded company. These agreements provide for, among other things, 
(1) the allocation between us and IDT of employee benefits, taxes and other liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to the Spin-Off, 
(2) transitional services to be provided by IDT relating to human resources and employee benefits administration, (3) the allocation of 

responsibilities relating to employee compensation and benefit plans and programs and other related matters, (4) finance, accounting, tax, infernal 
audit, facilities, investor relations and legal services to be provided by IDT to us following the Spin-Offand (5) specified administrative services to 
be provided by us to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries. 

In addition, we entered into a Tax Separation Agreement with IDT, which sets forth the responsibilities of us and IDT with respect to, among other 
things, liabilities for federal, state, local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the Spin-Off, the preparation and filing of tax retums for 
such periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods. 

IDT Energy 

IDT Energy resells electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Maryland. 
IDT Energy's revenues represented 100% ofour consolidated revenues in the year ended December 31, 2012, theyears ended July 31, 2011 and 
2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 

IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues consists primarily of gas and electricity purchased for resale. Since 2009, IDT Energy has been party to a 
Preferred Supplier Agreement with BP pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricity and natural gas. Under the 
arrangement, IDT Energy purchases electricity and natural gas at a market rate plus a fee. IDT Energy makes a monthly payment for its purchases 
and related fees. Any outstanding, unpaid balances accrue interest until paid. IDT Energy's obligations to BP are secured by a first security interest 
in deposits or receivables from utilities in connection with their purchase of IDT Energy's customer's receivables, and in any cash deposits or 
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Genie was incorporated in January 2011. References to us in the following discussion are made on a consolidated basis as if we existed and owned 
IDT Energy and Genie Oil and Gas in all periods discussed. 

As part ofour ongoing business development efforts, we continuously seek out new opportunities, which may include complementary operations or 
businesses that reflect horizontal or vertical expansion from our current operations. Some ofthese potential opportunities are considered briefly and 
others are examined in further depth. In particular, we seek out acquisitions to expand the geographic scope and size of our REP business, and 
additional energy exploration projects to diversify our GOGAS unit's operations, among geographies, technologies and resources. 

As part of this process, in addition to other potential opportunities, we are currently actively evaluating several potential exploration and 
development projects for oil shale and other conventional and unconventional energy resources in other locations. The energy development 
prospects vary in potential size, applied technology and potential time to commercial production. For example, in June 2012, we signed an 
agreement with the Republic of Mongolia for a joint geological survey of certain of that country's oil shale deposits. The prospects we are 
evaluating or pursuing are in various stages of development and it is unclear when or if they will be developed or commercialized or prove to be 
profitable. However, if one or more ofthese prospects were to be successfully commercialized, they could be significant in terms of their potential 
impact on our operations and financial condition, and could materially affect our financial results, future prospects and valuation . 

Spin-Offfrom IDT 

We were formeriy a subsidiary of IDT. On October 28, 2011, we were spun-off by IDT and became an independent public company through apro 
rata distribufion of our common stock to IDT's stockholders. As a result of the Spin-Off, each of IDT's stockholders received: (i) one share ofour 
Class A common stock for every share of IDT's Class A common stock held of record on October 21, 2011, and (ii) one share of our Class B 
common stock for every share of IDT's Class B common stock held ofrecord on the Record Date. On October 28, 2011, 1.6 million shares ofour 
Class A common stock, and 21.1 million shares ofour Class B common stock were issued and outstanding. 

Prior to the Spin-Off, IDT made a capital contribution of $82.2 million to us. In addition, in connection with the capital contribution received from 
IDT, the amount due from IDT as ofthe date ofthe Spin-Off of $2.1 million was forgiven. 

We entered into various agreements with IDT prior to the Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the separation and 
provide a framework for our relationship with IDT after the Spin-Off, and a Transition Services Agreement, which provides for certain, services to 
be performed by us and IDT to facilitate our transition into a separate publicly-traded company. These agreements provide for, among other things, 
(1) the allocation between us and IDT of employee benefits, taxes and other liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to the Spin-Off, 
(2) transitional services to be provided by IDT relating to human resources and employee benefits administration, (3) the allocation of 

responsibilities relating to employee compensation and benefit plans and programs and other related matters, (4) finance, accounting, tax, intemal 
audit, facilities, investor relations and legal services to be provided by IDT to us following the Spin-Offand (5) specified adminisft-ative services to 
be provided by us to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries. 

In addition, we entered into a Tax Separation Agreement with IDT, which sets forth the responsibilities of us and IDT with respect to, among other 
things, liabilities for federal, state, local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the Spin-Off, the preparation and filing of tax retums for 
such periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods. 

IDT Energy 

IDT Energy resells electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Maryland. 
IDT Energy's revenues represented 100% ofour consolidated revenues in the year ended December 31, 2012, the years ended July 31, 2011 and 
2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 

IDT Energy's direct cost of revenues consists primarily of gas and electricity purchased for resale. Since 2009, IDT Energy has been party to a 
Preferred Supplier Agreement with BP pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricity and natural gas. Under the 
arrangement, IDT Energy purchases electricity and natural gas at a market rate plus a fee. IDT Energy makes a monthly payment for its purchases 
and related fees. Any outstanding, unpaid balances accrue interest until paid. IDT Energy's obligations to BP are secured by a first security interest 
in deposits or receivables from utilities in connection with their purchase of IDT Energy's customer's receivables, and in any cash deposits or 
letters of credit posted in cormection with any collateral accounts with BP. The term ofthe agreement is through June 30, 2014, with an automatic 
renewal for an additional year unless either party provides written notice to the other party at least six months prior to June 30, 2014 that it will not 
renew the agreement. IDT Energy's ability to purchase electricity and natural gas under this agreement is subject to satisfaction of certain 
conditions including the maintenance of certain covenants. 

Page 181 of 317 



Exhibit C-1 Annual Report (2012) 

21 

As a REP, IDT Energy does not own electrical power generation, transmission, or distribution facilities, or natural gas production, pipeline or 
distribution facilities. Instead, IDT Energy contracts with various pipeline and distribution companies for natural gas pipeline, storage and 
transportation services, and utilizes NYISO and PJM for electric transmission and distribution. IDT Energy's direct cost of revenues include 
scheduling costs, independent system operator (ISO) fees, pipeline costs and utility service charges for the purchase ofthese services. 

For risk management purposes, IDT Energy utilizes forward physical delivery contracts for a portion of its purchases of electricity and natural gas, 
which are recorded in direct cost of revenues when the related electricity or natural gas is received from suppliers. In addition, IDT Energy enters 
into put and call options as hedges against unfavorable fluctuations in market prices of electricity and natural gas. The forward contracts and put 
and call options are recorded at fair value as a current asset or liability and any changes in fair value are recorded in direct cost ofrevenues. The 
impact ofthese contracts and options on direct cost ofrevenues is relatively small in comparison to IDT Energy's purchases of gas and electricity 
for resale. 

The NYISO and PJM perform real-time load balancing for each of the electrical power grids in which we operate. Similarly, load balancing is 
performed by the utility or the LDC for each ofthe natural gas markets in which we operate. Load balancing ensures that the amount of electricity 
and natural gas that we purchase is equal to the amount necessary to service our customers' demands at any specific point in time. We are charged 
or credited for balancing the electricity and natural gas purchased and sold for our account by our suppliers and the LDCs. We manage the 
differences between the actual electricity and natural gas demands of our customers and our bulk or block purchases by buying and selling in the 
spot market, and through monthly cash settlements and/or adjustments to future deliveries in accordance with the load balancing performed by 
utilities, LDCs, NYISO and PJM. 

The electricity and natural gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to our customers by the local utilities. The local utilities provide billing 
and collection services on our behalf for most ofour customers. The proceeds are remitted to us less the utility's POR fees and in some cases less 
fees for billing and other ancillary services. The positive difference between the sales price of electricity and natural gas sold to our customers and 
the sum of the cost of our electricity and natural gas supplies, transmission and ancillary services provides us with a gross profit margin. 

Volatility in the electricity and natural gas markets impacts the cost of the electricity and natural gas that IDT Energy sells to customers. For 
competitive and other reasons, IDT Energy may not always choose to pass along increases in costs to its customers for various reasons including 
competitive pressures and to protect overall customer satisfaction. This can adversely impact IDT Energy's gross margins and results of 

operations. Altematively, increases in IDT Energy's rates charged to customers may lead to increased customer chum. 

IDT Energy's selling expenses consist primarily of sales commissions paid to independent agents and marketing costs, which are the primary costs 
associated with the acquisition of customers. General and administrative expenses include compensation, benefits, utility fees for billing and 
collection, professional fees, rent and other adminisfrative costs. 

Seasonality and Weather 
IDT Energy's revenues are impacted by, among other things, the weather and the seasons. Weather conditions have a significant impact on the 
demand for natural gas for heating and electricity for air conditioning. Typically, colder winters and hotter summers increase demand for natural 
gas and electricity, respectively. Milder winters and/or summers have the opposite effect. Natural gas revenues typically increase in the first quarter 
due to increased heating demands and electricity revenues typically increase in the third quarter due to increased air conditioning use. 

Approximately 47% and 50% of IDT Energy's natural gas revenues were generated in the first quarter ofthe years ended December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively, when demand for heating was highest. Although the demand for electricity is not as seasonal as natural gas, approximately 34% 
and 35% of IDT Energy's electricity revenues were generated in the third quarter ofthe years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

Concentration of Customers and Associated Credit Risk 
IDT Energy reduces its credit risk by participating in purchase of receivable programs for a significant portion of its receivables. Utility companies 
provide billing and collection services, purchase IDT Energy's receivables and assume all credit risk without recourse to IDT Energy. IDT 
Energy's primary credit risk is therefore nonpayment by the utility companies. Certain ofthe utility companies represent significant portions ofour 
consolidated revenues and consolidated gross trade accounts receivable balance and such concentrations increase our risk associated with 

nonpayment by those utility companies. 
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The following table summarizes the percentage of consolidated revenues from customers by utility company that equal or exceed 10% of 
consolidated revenues in the period (no other single utility company accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues in any ofthe periods): 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 
34 % 
na 
na 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

52% 
14% 
na 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2011 
47% 
17% 
10% 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 
50% 
2 1 % 
12% 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
55% 
16% 
na 

Con Edison 
National Grid USA 
National (jrid dba Keyspan 

na-less than 10%) ofconsolidated revenue in the period 

The following table sununarizes the percentage of consolidated gross trade accounts receivable by utility company that equal or exceed 10% of 
consolidated gross trade accounts receivable at December 31,2012 and 2011: 

December 31 2012 2011 
19% 
10% 
na 
na 

34% 
na 
17% 
11% 

Con Edison 
Penelec 
National Grid USA 
National Grid dba Keyspan 

na-less than \0% ofconsolidated gross trade accounts receivable at December 31, 2012 or 2011 

Investment in American Shale Oil, LLC 

We account for our 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since we have the ability to exercise significant influence over 
its operating and financial matters, although we do not control AMSO, LLC. AMSO, LLC is a variable interest entity, however, we have 
determined that we are not the primary beneficiary. 

AMSO has agreed to fund AMSO, LLC's expenditures as follows: 20% ofthe initial $50 million of expenditures, 35% ofthe next $50 million in 
approved expenditures and 50% of approved expenditures in excess of $100 million. AMSO has also agreed to fund 40%) ofthe costs ofthe one­

time payment for conversion of AMSO, LLC's research, development and demonsfration lease to a commercial lease, in the event AMSO, LLC's 
application for conversion is approved. The remaining amounts are to be fimded by Total. Through December 31, 2011, AMSO was allocated 20% 
ofthe net loss of AMSO, LLC. AMSO's portion in the loss of AMSO, LLC increased in December 2011 from 20% to 35%, per our agreement 
with Total. AMSO's allocated share ofthe net loss of AMSO, LLC is included in "Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC" in the accompanying 
consolidated statements ofoperations. 

In accordance with the agreement between the parties, AMSO was committed to a total investment of $10.0 million in AMSO, LLC, all ofwhich 
had been invested by January 31, 2012. AMSO remains obligated to fiind its share ofthe expenditures it approves beyond the initial $10.0 million 
investment. AMSO's share of AMSO, LLC's budget for the year ending December 31, 2013 is $4.2 million. There are also a number of other 
situations where AMSO's funding obligation could increase fiirther. 

Total can increase AMSO's initial requfred funding commitment of $10.0 million up to an additional $8.75 million if Total notifies AMSO of its 
commitment to continue to fijnd the pilot test up to an agreed upon commitment level. To date, AMSO has not received such notification from 
Total. Additionally, even if AMSO were to withdraw its interest in AMSO, LLC, it will remain liable for its share of expenditures for safety and 
environmental preservation related to events occurring prior to its withdrawal. 

Total may terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. If Total withdraws as a member of 
AMSO, LLC, AMSO may also terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. Although, 
subject to certain situations, AMSO and Total are not obligated to make additional contributions beyond their respective shares, they could dilute or 
forfeit their ownership interests in AMSO, LLC if they fail to contribute their respective shares for additional funding. 

At December 31, 2012, our maximum exposure to additional loss as a result ofour required investment in AMSO, LLC was $4.2 million, based on 
AMSO, LLC's 2013 budget. Our maximum exposure to additional loss could increase based on the situations described above. 
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Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd. 

lEl holds an exclusive Shale Oil Exploration and Production License awarded in July 2008 by the Govemment of Israel. Under the terms of the 
license, lEI is to conduct a geological appraisal study across the license area, characterize the resource and select a location for a pilot plant in 
which it will demonstrate its in-situ technology. Construction ofthe pilot test is expected to begin in late 2013 barring further permitting, regulatory 
or litigation driven delays. We expect lEl's pilot test to require approximately $30 million of investment over the next three years. We expect to use 
the cash that we currently have to finance the pilot test constmction and operations. In addition, we are considering financing lEl's operations 
through partnerships and/or sales of equity interests in lEl. 

lEI does not currently generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost ofrevenues. Primarily all of lEl's costs and expenses are classified as 
research and development, which are charged to expense as incurred. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Critical accounting policies are 
those that require application of management's most subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of matters that are inherently uncertain and 
may change in subsequent periods. Our critical accounting policies include those related to the allowance for doubtfiil accounts, goodwill and 
income taxes. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. AcUial results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in this Annual Report for a complete discussion of our significant accounting policies. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that result from the inability or unwillingness of our customers to make 
required payments. The aflowance for doubtful accounts was $0.1 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Our allowance is 
determined based on known troubled accounts, historical experience and other currently available evidence. Our estimates of recoverability of 
customer accounts may change due to new developments, changes in assumptions or changes in our strategy, which may impact our allowance for 
doubtful accounts balance. We continually assess the likelihood of potential amounts or ranges of recoverability and adjust our allowance 
accordingly, however, actual collections and write-offs of frade accounts receivables may materially differ from our estimates. 

Goodwill 
Our goodwill balance of $3.7 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011 is allocated to our IDT Energy segment. IDT Energy is the reporting unit for 
our goodwill impairment test. Goodwill is not amortized since it is deemed to have an indefinite life. It is reviewed annually (or more frequently 
under various conditions) for impairment using a fair value approach. The goodwill impairment assessment involves estimating the fair value ofthe 
reporting unit and comparing it to its carrying amount, which is known as Step 1. If the carrying value ofthe reporting unit exceeds its estimated 
fair value. Step 2 is performed to determine if an impairment of goodwill is required. We estimate the fair value of our reporting unit using 
discounted cash flow methodologies, as well as considering third party market value indicators. Goodwill impairment is measured by the excess of 
the carrying amount ofthe reporting unit's goodwill over its implied fair value. 

IDT Energy's estimated fair value substantially exceeded its carrying value in Step 1 ofour annual impairment tests for the year ended December 
31,2012 andtheyearsended July 31, 2011 and2010, therefore it was not necessary to perform Step 2 for these tests. In addition, we do not believe 
IDT Energy is currently at risk of failing Step 1. Calculating the fair value ofthe reporting unit, and allocating the estimated fair value to all ofthe 
tangible assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should our estimates or 

assumptions regarding the fair value ofour reporting unit prove to be incorrect, we may be required to record impairments to our goodwill in future 
periods and such impairments could be material. 

On January 1, 2012, we adopted the accounting standard update to simplify how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. The amendments in the 
update allow us to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quanthative goodwill impairment test. 
We are no longer required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit (Step 1) unless we determine, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is 
more likely than not that the fair value ofthe reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. 

Income Taxes 
Our current and deferred income taxes are impacted by events and transactions arising in the normal course of business as well as in connection 
with special and non-routine items. Assessment of the appropriate amount and classification of income taxes is dependent on several factors, 

Page 184 of 317 



Exhibit C-1 Annual Report (2012) 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Critical accounting policies are 
those that require application of management's most subjectiveor complex judgments, often as a result of matters that are inherently uncertain and 
may change in subsequent periods. Our critical accounting policies include those related to the allowance for doubtful accounts, goodwill and 
income taxes. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in this Annual Report for a complete discussion ofour significant accounting policies. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that result from the inability or unwillingness of our customers to make 
required payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.1 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Our allowance is 
determined based on known troubled accounts, historical experience and other currently available evidence. Our estimates of recoverability of 
customer accounts may change due to new developments, changes in assumptions or changes in our strategy, which may impact our allowance for 
doubtful accounts balance. We continually assess the likelihood of potential amounts or ranges of recoverability and adjust our allowance 
accordingly, however, actual collections and write-offs of frade accounts receivables may materially differ from our estimates. 

Goodwill 
Our goodwill balance of$3.7 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011 is allocated to our IDT Energy segment. IDT Energy is the reporting unit for 
our goodwill impairment test. Goodwill is not amortized since it is deemed to have an indefinite life. It is reviewed annually (or more frequently 
under various conditions) for impairment using a fair value approach. The goodwill impairment assessment involves estimating the fair value ofthe 
reporting unit and comparing it to its carrying amount, which is known as Step 1. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated 
fair value. Step 2 is performed to determine if an impairment of goodwill is required. We estimate the fair value of our reporting unit using 
discounted cash fiow methodologies, as well as considering third party market value indicators. Goodwill impairment is measured by the excess of 
the carrying amount ofthe reporting unit's goodwill over its implied fair value. 

IDT Energy's estimated fair value substantially exceeded its carrying value in Step 1 ofour annual impairment tests for the year ended December 
31,2012andtheyearsended July 31,2011 and 2010, therefore h was not necessary to perform Step 2 for these tests. In addition, we do not believe 
IDT Energy is currently at risk of failing Step 1. Calculating the fair value of the reporting unit, and allocating the estimated fair value to all of the 
tangible assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should our estimates or 

assumptions regarding the fair value ofour reporting unit prove to be incorrect, we may be required to record impairments to our goodwill in future 
periods and such impairments could be material. 

On January 1, 2012, we adopted the accounting standard update to simplify how an entify tests goodwill for impairment. The amendments in the 
update allow us to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. 
We are no longer required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit (Step 1) unless we determine, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is 
more likely than not that the fair value ofthe reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. 

Income Taxes 
Our current and deferred income taxes are impacted by events and transactions arising in the normal course of business as well as in connection 
with special and non-routine items. Assessment of the appropriate amount and classification of income taxes is dependent on several factors, 
including estimates ofthe timing and realization of deferred income tax assets, the results of Intemal Revenue Service audits ofour federal income 
tax retums, and changes in tax laws or regulations. We use a two-step approach for recognizing and measuring tax benefits taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax retum. We determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution 
of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits ofthe position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-

likely-than-not recognition threshold, we presume that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of 
all relevant information. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured to determine the amount of tax 
benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of 
being realized upon ultimate settlement. Differences between tax positions taken in a tax retum and amounts recognized in the financial statements 
will generally result in one or more of the following: an increase in a liability for income taxes payable, a reduction of an income tax refund 
receivable, a reduction in a deferred tax asset, or an increase in a deferred tax liability. We review and adjust our liability for unrecognized tax 
benefits based on our best estimate and judgment given the facts, circumstances and information available at each reporting date. To the extent that 
the final outcome of these tax positions is different than the amounts recorded, such differences may impact income tax expense and actual tax 
payments. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

We evaluate the performance of our operating business segments based primarily on income (loss) from operations. Accordingly, the income and 
expense line items below income (loss) from operations are only included in our discussion ofthe consolidated results ofoperations. 

Year Ended December 31,2012 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2011 

The financial data for the year ended December 31, 2011 is unaudited. The financial data for the year ended December 31, 2011 is presented 
because it is the most appropriate period to compare with the year ended December 31, 2012 in order to discuss and analyze our operating trends 
and performance. 

IDT Energy Segment 

(in millions) 
Year ended December 31, 

Change 
2012 2011 % 

Revenues: 
Elecfric 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative 
Income from operations 

$ 

$ 

174.3 
55.2 

229.5 
159.9 
69.6 
44.6 
25.0 

$ 

$ 

134.3 
63.6 

197.9 
141.2 
56.7 
37.1 
19.6 

$ 

$ 

40.0 
(8.4) 
31.6 
18.7 
12.9 
7.5 
5.4 

29.7 % 
(13.2) 
15.9 
13.2 
22.7 
20.4 
27.2 % 

Revenues . IDT Energy's elecfricity revenues increased intheyearended December 31, 2012 comparedtotheyearended December 31, 2011, as a 
result of a significant increase in consumption, partially offset by a decrease in the average rate charged to customers. Electricity consumption 
increased 62.7% intheyearended December 31, 2012 compared to the yearended December 31, 2011, and the average rate charged to customers 
for electricity decreased 20.2%» in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in electricity 
consumption was the result of an increase in meters enrolled, coupled with an increase in average consumption per meter. The decrease in the 
average rate charged to customers for electricity was primarily the result of a decrease in the underlying commodity cost. In the second quarter of 
2012, IDT Energy entered an additional elecfric territory in Pennsylvania with an addressable market of approximately seven hundred thousand 
meters. In the third quarter of 2012, IDT Energy entered its fourth state, Maryland, and began marketing and enrolling customers in three elecfric 
utility territories in that state, as well as in one additional electric utilify territory in Pennsylvania. In the aggregate, these new territories represent 
an addressable market of 1.9 million meters. In the fourth quarter of 2012, IDT Energy entered an additional Maryland electric utility territory that 
has an addressable market of approximately two hundred forty thousand meters. 

IDT Energy's natural gas revenues decreased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to theyear ended December 31, 2011 primarily due 
to unusually warm weather in the three months ended March 31, 2012 which reduced the demand for natural gas for heat. This decrease was 
partially offset by an increase in the average active meters during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011. As measured by heating degree days, a measure of outside air temperature designed to refiect the energy required for heating. New York 
State was 24% warmer in the three months ended March 31, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011. The unseasonably warm weather 
contributed to decreases in both the per unit rate charged and in consumption per meter. The per unit rate charged to customers decreased 12.9% in 
the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. Consumption per meter decreased 4.9% in the year ended 
December 31, 2012 compared to the yearended December 31, 2011. The decline in demand for heat as well as increased domestic production of 
natural gas and relatively high storage gas inventories caused a decrease in the underlying natural gas cost, which allowed us to decrease the 
average rate charged to customers for natural gas. The decline in the average rate charged to customers for natural gas was also the result of 
discounts and promotional rates for new customers. The 0.4% decline in consumption in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year 
ended December 31,2011 due to the unusually warm weather was partially offset by an increase in meters served. Although the natural gas meters 
enrolled at December 31, 2012 were less than the meters enrolled at December 31, 2011, the number of meters served per month was higher in the 
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31,2011. 

IDT Energy's customer base as measured by meters enrolled consisted ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 
December 31, 

2012 
September 
30,2012 June 30,2012 

March 31, 
2012 

December 
31,2011 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

We evaluate the performance of our operating business segments based primarily on income (loss) from operations. Accordingly, the income and 
expense line items below income (loss) from operations are only included in our discussion ofthe consolidated results ofoperations. 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 compared to Year Ended December 31,2011 

The financial data for the year ended December 31, 2011 is unaudited. The financial data for the year ended December 31, 2011 is presented 
because it is the most appropriate period to compare with the year ended December 31, 2012 in order to discuss and analyze our operating trends 
and performance. 

IDT Energy Segment 

(in millions) 
Year ended December 31, 2012 2011 

Change 

Revenues: 
Elecfric 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative 
Income from operations 

$ 

$ 

174.3 
55.2 

229.5 
159.9 
69,6 
44.6 
25.0 

$ 

$ 

134.3 
63.6 

197.9 
141.2 
56.7 
37.1 
19.6 

$ 

$ 

40.0 
(8.4) 
31.6 
18.7 
12.9 
7.5 
5.4 

29.7 % 
(13.2) 
15.9 
13.2 
22.7 
20.4 
27.2 % 

Revenues . IDT Energy's elecfricity revenues increased intheyear ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, as a 
result of a significant increase in consumption, partially offset by a decrease in the average rate charged to customers. Electricity consumption 
increased 62.7% in theyearended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, and the average rate charged to customers 
for electricity decreased 20.2%) in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in elecfricity 
consumption was the result of an increase in meters enrolled, coupled with an increase in average consumption per meter. The decrease in the 
average rate charged to customers for electricity was primarily the result of a decrease in the underlying conmiodity cost. In the second quarter of 
2012, IDT Energy entered an additional elecfric territory in Pennsylvania with an addressable market of approximately seven hundred thousand 
meters. In the third quarter of 2012, IDT Energy entered its fourth state, Maryland, and began marketing and enrolling customers in three elecfric 
utilify territories in that state, as well as in one additional electric utilify territory in Pennsylvania. In the aggregate, these new territories represent 
an addressable market of 1.9 million meters. In the fourth quarter of 2012, IDT Energy entered an additional Maryland electric utility territory that 
has an addressable market of approximately two hundred forty thousand meters. 

IDT Energy's natural gas revenues decreased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to theyear ended December 31, 2011 primarily due 
to unusually warm weather in the three months ended March 31, 2012 which reduced the demand for natural gas for heat. This decrease was 
partially offset by an increase in the average active meters during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011. As measured by heating degree days, a measure of outside air temperature designed to reflect the energy required for heating, New York 
State was 24% warmer in the three months ended March 31, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011. The unseasonably warm weather 
contributed to decreases in both the per unit rate charged and in consumption per meter. The per unit rate charged to customers decreased 12.9%) in 
the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. Consumption per meter decreased 4.9% in the year ended 
December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The decline in demand for heat as well as increased domestic production of 
natural gas and relatively high storage gas inventories caused a decrease in the underlying natural gas cost, which allowed us to decrease the 
average rate charged to customers for natural gas. The decline in the average rate charged to customers for natural gas was also the result of 
discounts and promotional rates for new customers. The 0.4% decline in consumption in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2011 due to the unusually warm weather was partially offset by an increase in meters served. Although the natural gas meters 
enrolledatDecember 31, 2012 were less than the meters enrolled at December 31, 2011, the number of meters served per month was higher in the 
year ended December 31,2012 compared to the year ended December 31,2011. 

IDT Energy's customer base as measured by meters emolled consisted ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 
December 31, 

2012 
September 
30, 2012 June 30, 2012 

March 31, 
2012 

December 
31,2011 

Meters at end of quarter: 
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Elecfric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total meters 

331 
171 
502 

343 
180 
523 

313 
182 
495 

289 
186 
475 

254 
184 
438 

25 

Gross meter acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2012 were 407,000 compared to 302,000 in the year ended December 31, 2011. Nef 
meters enrolled increased by 64,000 or 14.6% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to an increase of 70,000 meters or 19.1% in the year 
ended December 31, 2011, as gross meter acquisitions were partially offset by higher rates of customer chum. Average monthly chum increased 
from 5.6% in the year ended December 31,2011 to 6.6% intheyearended December 31, 2012, primarily becauseof the continued acceleration in 
customer acquisitions. Newly acquired customers have higher chum rates than longer term customers. Increased competition in some of IDT 
Energy's key utility markets also contributed to higher rates of customer chum. 

The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the chart below. 
An RCE represents a natural gas customer with annual consumption of 100 mmbtu or an elecfricify customer with annual consumption of 10 MWh. 
Because different customers have different rates of energy consumption, RCEs are an industry standard mefric for evaluating the consumption 
profile of a given retail customer base. The 25.9%) RCE increase at December 31, 2012 compared to December 31, 2011 reflects primarily the 
increase in electric meters enrolled as well as, to a lesser degree, a shift in IDT Energy's electricity customer base to customers with higher 
consumption per meter. A significant portion of IDT Energy's growth in RCEs was from recent expansion into electric-only utilities' territories, 
with higher electric consumption per meter than IDT Energy's legacy customer base. This increase was partially offset by decreases in natural gas 
RCEs primarily due to consumption declines associated with the warmer than normal weather over the measurement period and a decline in gas 
meters served. 

(in thousands) 
RCEs at end of quarter: 

Elecfric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

December 31, 
2012 

238 
74 

312 

September 
30, 2012 

235 
87 

322 

June 30, 2012 

204 
88 

292 

March 31, 
2012 

176 
82 

258 

December 
31,2011 

153 
95 

248 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues and gross margin percentage were as follows: 

(in millions) 
Year ended December 31, 2012 2011 

Change 

Direct cost ofrevenues: 
Electric 
Natural gas 

Total direct cost ofrevenues 

Year ended December 31, 
Gross margin percentage: 

Elecfric 
Natural gas 

i Total gross margin percentage 

s 

S 

119.0 
40.9 

159.9 

$ 

$ 

89.0 
52.2 

141.2 

2012 

31.8 % 
25.8 
30.3 % 

$ 

$ 

30.0 
(11.3) 
18.7 

2011 

33.8% 
17.9 
28.7 % 

33.6 % 
(21.6) 
13.2 % 

Change 

(2.0)% 
7.9 
1.6% 

Direct cost ofrevenues for electricify increased in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily 
because consumption increased 62.7% In the year ended December 31,2012 compared to the year ended December 31,2011. These increases were 
partially offset by decreases in the average unit cost of 17.8% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011. 

Direct cost ofrevenues for natural gas decreased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The 
decrease was primarily due to decline in the average unit cost of 21.3% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011. Natural gas consumption decreased 0.4% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011. 
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Gross meter acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2012 were 407,000 compared to 302,000 in the year ended December 31, 2011. Net 
meters enrolled increased by 64,000 or 14.6% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to an increase of 70,000 meters or 19.1% in the year 
ended December 31, 2011, as gross meter acquisitions were partially offset by higher rates of customer chum. Average monthly chum increased 
from 5.6% in the yearended December 31, 2011 to 6.6% in theyear ended December 31, 2012, primarily because ofthe continued acceleration in 
customer acquisitions. Newly acquired customers have higher chum rates than longer term customers. Increased competition in some of IDT 
Energy's key utility markets also contributed to higher rates of customer chum. 

The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the chart below. 
An RCE represents a natural gas customer with annual consumption of 100 mmbtu or an electricity customer with annual consumption of 10 MWh. 
Because different customers have different rates of energy consumption, RCEs are an industry standard metric for evaluating the consumption 
profile of a given retail customer base. The 25.9% RCE increase at December 31, 2012 compared to December 31, 2011 reflects primarily the 
increase in electric meters enrolled as well as, to a lesser degree, a shift in IDT Energy's electricity customer base to customers with higher 
consumption per meter. A significant portion of IDT Energy's growth in RCEs was from recent expansion into electric-only utilities' territories, 
with higher electric consumption per meter than IDT Energy's legacy customer base. This increase was partially offset by decreases in natural gas 
RCEs primarily due to consumption declines associated with the warmer than normal weather over the measurement period and a decline in gas 
meters served. 

(in thousands) 
RCEs at end of quarter: 

Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

December 31, 
2012 

238 
74 

312 

September 
30, 2012 

235 
87 

322 

June 30, 2012 

204 
88 

292 

March 31, 
2012 

176 
82 

258 

December 
31,2011 

153 
95 

248 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues and gross margin percentage were as follows: 

(in millions) Change 
Year ended December 31, 2012 2011 $ 
Direct cost ofrevenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

: Total direct cost ofrevenues 

Year ended December 31, 
Gross margin percentage; 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total gross margin percentage 

$ 

$ 

119.0 
40.9 

159.9 

$. 

$ 

89.0 
52.2 

141.2 

2012 

31.8 % 
25.8 
30.3 % 

$ 

$ 

30.0 
(n.3) 
18.7 

2011 

33.8 % 
17.9 
28.7 % 

33.6 % 
(21.6) 
13.2 % 

Change 

(2.0 )% 
7.9 
1.6% 

Direct cost ofrevenues for electricify increased in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily 
because consumption increased 62.7% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. These increases were 
partially offset by decreases in the average unit cost of 17.8% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011. 

Direct cost ofrevenues for natural gas decreased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The 
decrease was primarily due to decline in the average unit cost of 21.3% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011. Natural gas consumption decreased 0.4% in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011. 

Gross margin on electricity sales decreased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily as a 
result ofdiscounts and promotional rates we offered new customers. Gross margins on natural gas sales increased in the year ended December 31, 
2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 as the cost ofthe underlying commodity declined more sharply than we decreased the 
average rate charged to customers. 

Selling, General and Administrative . The increase in selling, general and adminisfrative expenses in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2011, was primarily due to an increase in customer acquisition costs. These costs increased an aggregate of $7.5 
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million in the year ended December 31,2012 compared to the year ended December 31,2011. Customer acquisition costs increased primarily due 
to the significant increase in the number of new customers acquired as a result ofthe expansion into new territories. In addition, the increase in 
selling, general and administrative expenses in the year ended December 31,2012 compared to the year ended December 31,2011 was the result of 
increases in payroll, severance and stock-based compensation expenses, which increased an aggregate of $3.0 million in the year ended December 
31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in stock-based compensation expense is primarily due to expense from the 
November 2011 grants of restricted stock and stock options, as well as from the March 2012 grants of equity interests in IDT Energy. The expense 
from these grants is recognized over the expected service period. Selling, general and adminisfrative expenses in the year ended December 31, 2011 
included a $3.3 million charge for New York City gross receipts tax pertaining to liabilities incurred in prior periods, which reduced the increase in 
selling, general and adminisfrative expenses in the year ended December 31,2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. As a percentage 
of IDT Energy's total revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from 18.7% intheyear ended December 31, 2011 to 19.4% 
in the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily because ofthe significant increase in costs related to customer acquisitions. 

26 

Genie Oil and Gas Segment 

Genie Oil and Gas does not currently generate any revenues, nor does it incur any dfrect cost ofrevenues. 

(in millions) 
Year ended December 31, 
General and administrative expenses 
Research and development 
Equity in net loss of AMSO, LLC 
Loss from operations 

$ 

$ 

2012 
1.4 
9.4 
3.2 

14.0 

$ 

$ 

2011 ' 
1.2 
7.4 
5.7 

14.3 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

0.2 
2.0 

(2.5) 
(0.3) 

% 
22.5 % 
25.8 

(44.1) 
(2.1)% 

General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses increased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 as an increase in stock-based compensation expense was partially offset by a decrease in costs associated with our global 
business development efforts. 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in the year ended December 31, 2012 increased compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 primarily due to the increase in expenses in our global development efforts outside of AMSO and lEI. lEI's research and 
development expenses were $7.2 million in the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. lEI began its resource appraisal study in the third quarter 
of calendar 2009, and completed the field work included in its study in late calendar year 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2012, lEl 
continued lab work, engineering work and associated preparation of environmental permit applications that will initiate the pilot permitting 
process. However, the Israeli govemment has not yet published the final regulations required for preparation and submission of an environmental 
impact statement, which is a necessary prerequisite for the submission of a final permit application. lEl expects to begin constmction of the pilot 
test in late 2013, barring further permitting, regulatory or litigation driven delays. We expect continued, significant increases in the expenses 
reflecting the costs of facilify constmction, drilling and operations of the lEI pilot test as well as further staffing to support engineering and 
scientific operations and business development activities. We expect lEI's pilot test to require approximately $30 million of investment over the 
next three years. 

In Febmary 2013, GIOG was awarded an exclusive pefroleum exploration license by the Govemment of Israel covering 396.5 square kilometers in 
the southem portion of the Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant of the license is subject to challenge by the 
competing applicant for the license which may be filed within 30 days of the grant. We expect GIOG will begin to incur significant expenses 
related to its exploration program in the second quarter of 2013. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC. In the year ended December 31, 2012, AMSO, LLC continued with late-stage preparations for its pilot test. 
The pilot test is intended to confirm the accuracy of several ofthe key underlying assumptions of AMSO, LLC's proposed in-situ heating and 
retorting process. In January 2012, AMSO, LLC conducted a fully integrated commissioning test ofthe above and below ground facilities to 
determine their readiness for pilot test operations. The underground electric heater did not perform to specifications during the commissioning test. 
As a result, the manufacturer of the heater undertook extensive modifications and improvements. There were additional problems during a second 
commissioning test in December 2012. AMSO, LLC conducted a thorough readiness review and additional integrated testing, as well as acquiring 
additional equipment spares prior to beginning steady state pilot test operations. These preparations were completed and in early March 2013 
AMSO, LLC initiated start-up ofthe oil shale pilot test. Equipment modifications and technical issues are common in projects ofthe complexity 
and scope ofthe AMSO, LLC pilot test, particularly given the extent to which new concepts and applications have been incorporated into the pilot 
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Genie Oil and Gas Segment 

Genie Oil and Gas does not currently generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost ofrevenues. 

(in millions) 
Year ended December 31, 
General and administrative expenses 
Research and development 
Equify in net loss of AMSO, LLC 
Loss from operations 

s 

$ 

2012 
1.4 
9.4 

; 3.2 
14.0 

$ 

$ 

2011 " 
1.2 
7.4 
5.7 

14.3 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

0.2 
2.0 

(2.5) 
(0.3) 

% 
22.5 % 
25.8 

(44.1) 
(2.1)% 

General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses increased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 as an increase in stock-based compensation expense was partially offset by a decrease in costs associated with our global 
business development efforts. 

Research and Development . Research and development expenses in the year ended December 31, 2012 increased compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 primarily due to the increase in expenses in our global development efforts outside of AMSO and lEI. lEI's research and 
development expenses were $7.2 million in the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. lEI began its resource appraisal study in the third quarter 
of calendar 2009, and completed the field work included in its study in late calendar year 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2012, lEI 
continued lab work, engineering work and associated preparation of environmental permit applications that will initiate the pilot permitting 
process. However, the Israeli govemment has not yet published the final regulations required for preparation and submission of an environmental 
impact statement, which is a necessary prerequisite for the submission of a final permh application. lEI expects to begin constmction of the pilot 
test in late 2013, barring further permitting, regulatory or litigation driven delays. We expect continued, significant increases in the expenses 
refiecting the costs of facilify constmction, drilling and operations of the lEl pilot test as well as fiarther staffing to support engineering and 
scientific operations and business development activities. We expect lEFs pilot test to require approximately $30 million of investment over the 
next three years. 

In Febmary 2013, GIOG was awarded an exclusive pefroleum exploration license by the Govemment of Israel covering 396.5 square kilometers in 
the southem portion of the Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant of the license is subject to challenge by the 
competing applicant for frie license which may be filed within 30 days of the grant. We expect GIOG will begin to incur significant expenses 
related to its exploration program in the second quarter of 2013. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC. In the year ended December 31, 2012, AMSO, LLC continued with late-stage preparations for its pilot test. 
The pilot test is intended to confirm the accuracy of several ofthe key underlying assumptions of AMSO, LLC's proposed in-situ heating and 
retorting process. In January 2012, AMSO, LLC conducted a fiilly integrated commissioning test ofthe above and below ground facilities to 
determine thefr readiness for pilot test operations. The underground electric heater did not perform to specifications during the conunissioning test. 
As a result, the manufacturer of the heater undertook extensive modifications and improvements. There were additional problems during a second 
commissioning test in December 2012. AMSO, LLC conducted a thorough readiness review and additional integrated testing, as well as acquiring 
additional equipment spares prior to beginning steady state pilot test operations. These preparations were completed and in early March 2013 
AMSO, LLC initiated start-up ofthe oil shale pilot test. Equipment modifications and technical issues are common in projects ofthe complexity 
and scope ofthe AMSO, LLC pilot test, particularly given the extent to which new concepts and applications have been incorporated into the pilot 
test's design. Upon successful completion ofthe pilot test, AMSO, LLC will evaluate the appropriate timing to submit an application to convert its 
research, development and demonstration lease into a commercial lease. AMSO, LLC also expects to design and implement a larger scale 
demonstration project to further test its process and operations under commercial conditions, and assess scalability to commercial production 
levels. 

AMSO's equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC decreased in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 
due to the decrease in AMSO, LLC's net loss to $9.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 from $27.3 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2011, notwithstanding that, beginning in December 2011, AMSO's share ofthe loss of AMSO, LLC increased from 20% to 35%, 
in accordance with our agreement with Total. AMSO, LLC's net loss decreased as the costs associated with the pilot test facility constmction were 
substantially completed in the year ended December 31, 2011. 

27 
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Corporate 

Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, 
consulting fees, legal fees, business development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. 

(in millions) 
Year ended December 31, 
:General and administrative expenses and loss from operations $ 

2012 
7.9 $ 

2011 
2.1 $ 

Change 
$ 

5.8 
% 

269.3 % 

The increase in general and administrative expenses intheyear ended December 31, 2012 comparedtotheyearended December 31, 2011 was due 
primarily to increases in payroll and related expense, legal and consulting fees and stock-based compensation, including costs related to being a 
separate public company, following our Spin-Offfrom IDT. The service agreements between IDT and us include services provided by IDT, such as 
transitional services relating to human resources and employee benefits administration, finance, accounting, tax, intemal audit, facilities, investor 
relations and legal services, as well as specified adminisfrative services to be provided by us to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries . The c osts we 
incurred as a separate public company and the charges for additional services provided by IDT were not included in our fmancial statements prior 
to the Spin-Off since they were not applicable for periods that we were not a separate public company. 

Consolidated 

Selling, General and Administrative . Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, charged us for certam transactions and allocated 
routine expenses based on company specific items. In addition, IDT confrolled the flow ofour freasury transactions. Following the Spin-off, IDT 
charges us for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement. In the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, IDT charged us 
$3.8 million and $5.4 million, respectively, which was included in consolidated selling, general and administrative expense. 

Stock-based compensation expense included in consolidated selling, general and adminisfrative expenses was $3.4 million and $0.6 million in the 
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase is primarily due to expense from the November 2011 grants of resfricted 
stock and stock options, as well as from the March 2012 grants of equity interests in certain ofour subsidiaries. The expense from these grants is 
recognized over the expected service period. At December 31, 2012, aggregate unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock-based 
compensation was $6.8 million, which is expected to be recognized as follows: $3.4 million in the year ending December 31, 2013, $1.9 million in 
the year ending December 31, 2014, $1.0 million in theyear ending December 31, 2015 and the remaining $0.5 million from January 2016 through 
November 2019. 

The following is a discussion ofour consolidated income and expense line items below income from operations. 

(in milHons) 
Year ended December 31, 2012 2011 

Change 

% 
Income from operations 

Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other expense, net 
Provision for income taxes 

3.0 
0.4 

(2.9) 
(0.1) 
(2.9) 

3.1 
0.1 

(2.2) 
(1.4) 
(3.4) 

(0.1) 
0.3 

(0.7) 
1.3 
0.5 
1.3 

(5.3) 

(3.1)% 
392.7 
(33.7) 
89.9 
13.3 
32.2 

(116.6) 
; Net (loss) income 

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 
(2.5) 
(0.8) 

(3.8) 
4.5 

Net (loss) income atfributable to Genie $ (3.3) $ 0.7 $ (4.0) (540.4)% 

Financing Fees . Financing fees are the volumetric fees charged by BP under the Preferred Supplier Agreement between IDT Energy and BP, 
pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricity and natural gas. Financing fees increased in the year ended December 31, 
2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily because ofthe higher consumption by IDT Energy's customers. 

Other Expense, net. The decrease in other expense, net in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 
was mainly due to a decrease in foreign currency translation losses as well as a gain from the sale of IDT Energy's amount due from MF Global. 
On October 31, 2011, MF Global, our former clearing broker, filed for bankmptcy protection. On that date, IDT Energy held $1.65 million of cash 
on deposit with MF Global in support of hedging positions related to IDT Energy's commodity supply. Assets held by MF Global were placed 
under the control of the court appointed bankmptcy trustee to be released as deemed appropriate. In November 2011, we transferred our hedging 
securities to an altemative clearing broker. In October 2011, we recognized a $0.45 million loss, relating to our cash deposit with MF Global, based 
on management's best estimate ofthe unrecoverable amount. In November 2012, we received $0.6 million from a sale ofthe amount due from MF 
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Global and recognized a gain of $0.3 milHon. 

28 

Provision for Income Taxes . The decrease in the provision for income taxes in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to an increase in benefits from income tax due to the increase in GOGAS and Corporate pre-tax losses, as 
well as the reversal of $2.5 million of accrued New York state income taxes as a result of a settiement of prior years' income tax audits, partially 
offset by income tax expense from the recording of a valuation allowance of $5.5 million against deferred tax assets. Subsequent to the Spin-Off, 
we initiated a tax strategy that enables us to deduct losses from our foreign subsidiaries against our profitable U.S. operations. Because of this 
strategy, the decrease in pre-tax eamings of IDT Energy in 2012, and our current projections, we concluded that we no longer met the criteria of 
more likely than not in order to utilize our deferred federal income tax assets in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, we recorded a valuation 
allowance against our deferred federal income tax assets. Prior to the Spin-Off, we were included in the consolidated federal income tax retum of 
IDT. Our income taxes are presented for periods prior to the Spin-Off on a separate tax retum basis. Intheyearended December 31, 2011, IDT 
charged us $4.5 million for utilizing its net operating loss, which was included in "Provision for income taxes". 

Net (Income) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests . The change in the net (income) loss attributable to nonconfroUing interests in the year 
ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, primarily relates to 100% ofthe net income (loss) incurred by 
Citizen's Choice Energy, LLC, or CCE, which is a variable interest entity that is consolidated in our IDT Energy segment. We do not have any 
ownership interest in CCE, therefore all net income or loss incurred by CCE has been attributed to noncontrolling interests. CCE's net income in 
the year ended December 31, 2012 was $1.9 million, compared to net loss of $1.8 million in theyear ended December 31, 2011. CCE's customer 
base and revenues hsd grown significantly in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 since CCE 
commenced operations in the three months ended March 31, 2011. 

Year Ended July 31,2011 compared to Year Ended July 31,2010 

IDT Energy Segment 

(in millions) 
Year ended July 31, 
Revenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative 

: Income from operations 

S 

$ 

2011 

130.2 
65.8 

196.0 
142.2 
53.8 
31.3 
22.5 

$ 

$ 

2010 

126.2 $ 
69.2 

195.4 
137.6 
57.8 
20.0 
.37.8 $ 

Change 
$ 

4.0 
(3.4) 
0.6 
4.6 

(4.0) 
11.3 

(15.3) 

% 

3.2 % 
(5.0) 
0.3 
3.3 

(6.9) 
56.9 

(40.6)% 

Revenues . IDT Energy began adding customers in select utility territories in New Jersey and Pennsylvania in the third quarter of the year ended 
July 31, 2010. 

IDT Energy's electricify revenues increased 3.2%i in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 as a result of an 
increase in consumption since the average rate charged to customers was basically unchanged. Elecfricify consumption increased 3.3% and the 
average rate charged to customers for elecfricity decreased 0.1% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010. The 
increase in electricity consumption was the result of relatively higher usage meters added in the new territories coupled with, in the first quarter of 
the year ended July 31,2011 compared to the same period in the year ended July 31,2010, warmer temperatures. Elecfricity consumption per meter 
increased 2.4% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010. The decrease in the average rate charged to customers 
for electricity was primarily the result of discounted promotional rates for new customers and an effort to manage chum through rate adjustments 
during portions ofthe year ended July 31,2011. 

IDT Energy's natural gas revenues declined 5.0% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 primarily due to 
declines in the average rate charged to customers for natural gas. The average rate charged to customers for natural gas decreased 6.3% and natural 
gas consumption increased 1.4% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010. The decrease in the average rates 
charged to customers for natural gas reflected discounted promotional rates for new customers as well as decreases in the average unit cost of 
natural gas of 5.4% in the year ended July 31,2011 compared to the year ended July 31,2010. The slight increase in natural gas consumption was 
primarily the result ofan increase in meters served in the second half of the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the same period in the year 
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Provision for Income Taxes . The decrease in the provision for income taxes in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to an increase in benefits from income tax due to the increase in GOGAS and Corporate pre-tax losses, as 
well as the reversal of $2.5 million of accmed New York state income taxes as a result of a settlement of prior years' income tax audits, partially 
offset by income tax expense from the recording of a valuation allowance of $5.5 million against deferred tax assets. Subsequent to the Spin-Off, 
we initiated a tax strategy that enables us to deduct losses from our foreign subsidiaries against our profitable U.S. operations. Because of this 
strategy, the decrease in pre-tax eamings of IDT Energy in 2012, and our current projections, we concluded that we no longer met the criteria of 
more likely than not in order to utilize our deferred federal income tax assets in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, we recorded a valuation 
allowance against our deferred federal income tax assets. Prior to the Spin-Off, we were included in the consolidated federal income tax retum of 
IDT. Our income taxes are presented for periods prior to the Spin-Off on a separate tax retum basis. In the year ended December 31, 2011, IDT 
charged us $4.5 million for utilizing its net operating loss, which was included in "Provision for Income taxes". 

Net (income) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests . The change in the net (income) loss attributable to nonconfroUing interests in the year 
ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, primarily relates to 100% ofthe net income (loss) incurred by 
Citizen's Choice Energy, LLC, or CCE, which is a variable interest entity that is consolidated in our IDT Energy segment. We do not have any 
ovmership interest in CCE, therefore all net income or loss incurred by CCE has been attributed to noncontrolling interests. CCE's net income in 
the year ended December 31, 2012 was $1.9 million, compared to net loss of $1.8 million intheyearended December 31, 2011. CCE's customer 
base and revenues had grown significantly in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 since CCE 
commenced operations in the three months ended March 31, 2011. 

Year Ended July 31,2011 compared to Year Ended July 31,2010 

IDT Energy Segment 

(in millions) 
Yearended July 31, 
Revenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and adminisfrative 
Income from operations 

$ 

$ 

2011 

130.2 $ 
65.8 

196.0 
142.2 
53.8 
31.3 
22.5 $ 

2010 

126.2 $ 
69.2 

195.4 
137.6 
57.8 
20.0 
37.8 $ 

Change 
$ 

4.0 
(3.4) 
0.6 
4.6 

(4.0) 
11.3 

(15.3) 

% 

3.2 % 
(5.0) 
0.3 
3.3 

(6.9) 
56.9 

(40.6)% 

Revenues . IDT Energy began adding customers in select utility territories in New Jersey and Pennsylvania in the third quarter ofthe year ended 
July 31, 2010. 

IDT Energy's electricity revenues increased 3.2% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 as a result ofan 
increase in consumption since the average rate charged to customers was basically unchanged. Electricify consumption increased 3.3% and the 
average rate charged to customers for elecfricity decreased 0.1% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010. The 
increase in electricity consumption was the result of relatively higher usage meters added in the new territories coupled with, in the first quarter of 
the year ended July 31,2011 compared to the same period in the year ended July 31,2010, warmer temperatures. Electricity consumption per meter 
increased 2.4% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010. The decrease in the average rate charged to customers 
for electricity was primarily the result of discounted promotional rates for new customers and an effort to manage chum through rate adjustments 
during portions of the year ended July 31,2011. 

IDT Energy's natural gas revenues declined 5.0%) in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 primarily due to 
declines in the average rate charged to customers for natural gas. The average rate charged to customers for natural gas decreased 6.3%. and natural 
gas consumption increased 1.4% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010. The decrease in the average rates 
charged to customers for natural gas reflected discounted promotional rates for new customers as well as decreases in the average unit cost of 
natural gas of 5.4% inthe year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the yearended July 31, 2010. The slight increase in natural gas consumption was 
primarily the result ofan increase in meters served in the second half of the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the same period in the year 
ended July 31, 2010. This increase in consumption offset the declines In consumption in the first and second quarters ofthe year ended July 31, 
2011 compared to the similar periods in the year ended July 31,2010, which were due to the loss of relatively high usage meters in upstate New 
York and the addition of a concenfration of relatively low usage meters. Natural gas consumption per meter increased 0.1% in the year ended July 
31,2011 compared to the year ended July 31,2010. 
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IDT Energy's customer base as measured by meters enrolled consisted ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 
Meters at end of quarter: 

Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total meters 

July 31, 2011 

232 
173 
405 

July 31, 2010 

210 
159 
369 

Gross meter acquisitions in the year ended July 31, 2011 were 220,000 compared to 109,700 in the year ended July 31, 2010. The new meter 
acquisitions in the year ended July 31, 2011 were partially offset by customer chum, which resulted in net gains of approximately 36,000 meters 
since July 31, 2010. Average monthly chum increased to 4.9% inthe year ended July 31, 2011 compared to 3.1% inthe year ended July 31, 2010, 
partially because newly acquired customers have significantly higher chum rates than longer-term customers. 

The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the chart below. 
The RCE increase at July 31, 2011 compared to July 31, 2010 reflects the increase in meters served as well as a gradual shift in IDT Energy's 
customer base to customers with higher consumption per meter as a result of targeted customer acquisition programs. 

(in thousands) 
RCEs at end of quarter: 

Elecfric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

Jufy31,2011 

136 
99 

235 

April 30, 
2011 

119 
94 

213 

January 31, 
2011 

124 
91 

215 

October 31, 
2010 

122 
87 

209 

Jufy31,2010 

117 
88 

205 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues and gross margin percentage were as follows: 

(in millions) 
Yearended July 31, 
Direct cost ofrevenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total dfrect cost ofrevenues 

Yearended July 31, 
Gross margin percentage: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total gross margin percentage 

$ 

S 

2011 

90.6 
51.6 

142.2 

$ 

$ 

2010 " 

83.9 
53.7 

137.6 

2011 

30.4 % 
21.6 
27.5 % 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

6.7 
(2.1) 
4.6 

2010 

33.5 % 
22.4 
29.6% 

% 

8.0 % 
(4.0) 
3.3 % 

Change 

(3.1)% 
(0.8) 
(2.1)% 

Direct cost ofrevenues for elecfricity increased 8.0% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 due to the 4.6% 
increase in the average unit cost, as well as the increase in consumption. Direct cost ofrevenues for natural gas decreased 4.0% in the year ended 
July 31, 2011 comparedtotheyearended July 31, 2010 primarily due to the 5.4% decline inthe average unit cost partially offset by the increase in 
consumption. 

Gross margins in IDT Energy decreased in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 due to increased competition 
and the impact of expansion into new territories in New Jersey and Pennsylvania, where gross margin was sacrificed to facilitate customer 
acquisitions. 

Selling, General and Administrative . The increase in selling, general and adminisfrative expenses intheyear ended July 31, 2011 compared to the 
year ended July 31, 2010 was due to increases in customer acquisition costs and marketing costs, as well as a $3.3 million accmal related to a 
utility tax audit by the New York City Finance Department. Customer acquisition costs increased primarily due to the significant increase in the 
number of new customers acquired as described above. Marketing costs increased as a result of testing new sales channels coupled with the 
expansion into new territories. As a percentage of total IDT Energy revenues, selling, general and adminisfrative expenses increased from 10.2% in 
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IDT Energy's customer base as measured by meters enrolled consisted ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 
Meters at end of quarter; 

Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total meters 

Jufy31,2011 

232 
173 
405 

Jufy31,2010 

210 
159 
369 

Gross meter acquisitions in the year ended July 31, 2011 were 220,000 compared to 109,700 in the year ended July 31, 2010. The new meter 
acquisitions in the year ended July 31, 2011 were partially offset by customer chum, which resulted in net gains of approximately 36,000 meters 
since July 31, 2010. Average monthly chum increased to 4.9% in theyear ended July 31, 2011 compared to 3.1% in theyear ended July 31, 2010, 
partially because newly acquired customers have significantly higher chum rates than longer-term customers. 

The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the chart below. 
The RCE increase at July 31, 2011 compared to July 31, 2010 reflects the increase in meters served as well as a gradual shift in IDT Energy's 
customer base to customers with higher consumption per meter as a result of targeted customer acquisition programs. 

(in thousands) 
RCEs at end of quarter: 

Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

July 31, 2011 

136 
99 

235 

April 30, 
2011 

119 
94 

213 

January 31, 
2011 

124 
91 

215 

October 31, 
2010 

122 
87 

209 

Jufy31,2010 

117 
88 

205 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues and gross margin percentage were as follows: 

(in millions) 
Year ended July 31, 
Direct cost ofrevenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total dfrect cost ofrevenues 

Year ended July 31, 
Gross margin percentage: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total gross margin percentage 

$ " 

$ 

2011 

90.6 
51.6 

142.2 

$ 

$ 

2010 

83.9 $ 
53.7 

137.6 $ 

2011 

30.4 % 
21.6 
27.5 % 

Change 
$ 

6.7 
(2.1) 
4.6 

2010 

33.5 % 
22.4 
29.6 % 

% 

8.0 % 
(4.0) 
3.3 % 

Change 

(3.1)% 
(0.8) 
(2.1)% 

Direct cost ofrevenues for elecfricify increased 8.0% in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 due to the 4.6% 
increase in the average unit cost, as well as the increase in consumption. Direct cost of revenues for natural gas decreased 4.0% in the year ended 
July 31, 2011 comparedtotheyearended July 31, 2010 primarily due to the 5.4% decline in the average unit cost partially offset by the increase in 
consumption. 

Gross margins in IDT Energy decreased in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 due to increased competition 
and the impact of expansion into new territories in New Jersey and Pennsylvania, where gross margin was sacrificed to facilitate customer 
acquisitions. 

SeUing, General and Administrative . The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the 
year ended July 31, 2010 was due to increases in customer acquisition costs and marketing costs, as well as a $3.3 million accmal related to a 
utility tax audit by the New York City Finance Department. Customer acquisition costs increased primarily due to the significant increase in the 
number of new customers acquired as described above. Marketing costs increased as a result of testing new sales channels coupled with the 
expansion into new territories. As a percentage of total IDT Energy revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses increased fi'om 10.2% in 
the year ended July 31, 2010 to 16.0% in the year ended July 31, 2011 because ofthe significant increase in costs related to customer acquisitions 
and non-income related tax audit mentioned above. 
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Genie Oil and Gas Segment 

Genie Oil and Gas did not generate any revenues, nor did it incur any dfrect cost ofrevenues, in the years ended July 31,2011 and 2010. 

(in millions) 
Yearended July 31, 
General and administrative expenses 
Research and development 
Equify in net loss of AMSO, LLC 
Loss from operations 

S 

$ 

2011 
0.6 
7.8 
5.2 

13.6 

$ . 

$ 

2010 ' 
0.5 
5.2 
1.6 
7.3 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

0.1 
2.6 
3.6 
6.3 

% 
35.5 % 
49.3 

226.9 
87.5 % 

General and Administrative . The increase in general and administrative expenses in the year ended July 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended 
July 31, 2010 was due primarily to increases in payroll and consulting fees. 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in the years ended July 31,2011 and 2010 were entirely related to the operations 
of lEI in Israel. IE! began its resource appraisal study In the third quarter of calendar 2009, and completed the field work included in its study in 
late calendar year 2011. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC. AMSO's equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC increased inthe year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the 
year ended July 31, 2010 as a result ofthe increase in AMSO, LLC's net loss to $26.2 million intheyearended July 31, 2011 from $8.0 milhon in 
the year ended July 31, 2010. AMSO, LLC's net loss increased primarily as a result ofthe substantial increase in the costs associated with the pilot 
test. In the year ended July 31, 2011, AMSO, LLC continued advanced stage constmction work on the surface oil and gas processing facilities 
while drilling wells for its pilot test. 

Corporate 

Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, 
consulting fees, legal fees and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. 

(in millions) 
Year ended July 31, 
General and administrative expenses and loss from operations $ 

2011 
1.8 $ 

2010 
0.8 $ 

Change 
$ 

1.0 
% 

127.6 % 

The increase in general and adminisfrative expenses in the year ended July 31,2011 as compared to the year ended July 31,2010 was due primarily 
to increases in compensation, consulting fees and stock-based compensation. 

Consolidated 

Selling, General and Administrative . Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, charged us for certain transactions and allocated 
routine expenses based on company specific items. In addition, IDT controlled the flow of our treasury transactions. In the years ended July 31, 
2011 and 2010, IDT charged us $4.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively, which was included in selling, general and administrative expense. 

The following is a discussion ofour consolidated income and expense line items below income from operations. 

(in millions) 
Year ended July 31, 

Change 
1011 
7.0 $ 
0.1 

(2.1) 
(0.6) 
(7.0) 

2010 
29.7 $ 
0.1 

(1.8) 
— 

(14.0) 

$ 
(22.7) 

— 
(0.3) 
(0.6) 
7.0 

% 
(76.5 )% 
76.9 

(16.2) 
nm 

50.2 

Income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other (expense) income, net 
Provision for income taxes 

Net (loss) income (2.6) 14.0 (16.6) (118.1) 

Page 197 of 317 



Exhibit C-1 Annuai Report (2012) 

Genie Oil and Gas Segment 

Genie Oil and Gas did not generate any revenues, nor did it incur any direct cost ofrevenues, intheyearsended July 31, 2011 and 2010. 

(in millions) 
Yearended July 31, 
General and administratfye expenses 
Research and development 

. Equify in net loss of AMSC), LLC 
Loss from operations 

$ 

$ 

2011 
0.6 
7.8 
5.2 

13.6 

$ 

$ 

2010 " 
0.5 
5.2 
1.6 
7.3 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

0.1 
2.6 
3.6 
6.3 

% 
35.5 % 
49.3 

226.9 
87.5 % 

General and Administrative . The increase in general and administrative expenses in the year ended July 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended 
July 31, 2010 was due primarily to increases in payroll and consulting fees. 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010 were entirely related to the operations 
of lEl in Israel, lEI began its resource appraisal study in the third quarter of calendar 2009, and completed the field work included in its study in 
late calendar year 2011. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC . AMSO's equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC increased in the year ended July 31, 2011 compared to the 
year ended July 31, 2010 as a result ofthe increase in AMSO, LLC's net loss to $26.2 million in the year ended July 31, 2011 from $8.0 milHon in 
the year ended July 31, 2010. AMSO, LLC's net loss increased primarily as a result ofthe substantial increase in the costs associated with the pilot 
test. In the year ended July 31, 2011, AMSO, LLC continued advanced stage constmction work on the surface oil and gas processing facilities 
while drilling wells for its pilot test. 

Corporate 

Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, 
consulting fees, legal fees and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. 

(in millions) 
Year ended July 31, 
General and adrninisfrative expenses and loss from operations $ 

2011 
1.8 $ 

2010 
0.8 $ 

Change 
$ 

1.0 
% 

127.6 % 

The increase in general and administrative expenses intheyear ended July 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 was due primarily 
to increases in compensation, consulting fees and stock-based compensation. 

Consolidated 

Selling, General and Administrative . Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, charged us for certain transactions and allocated 
routine expenses based on company specific items. In addition, IDT controlled the flow ofour freasury transactions. In the years ended July 31, 
2011 and 2010, IDT charged us $4.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively, which was included in selling, general and administrative expense. 

The following is a discussion ofour consolidated income and expense line items below income from operations. 

(in millions) 
Year ended July 31, 

Change 
2011 2010 % 

Income from operations 
Interest inconie 
Financing fees 
Other (expense) income, net 

7.0 
0.1 

(2.1) 
(0.6) 

29.7 
0.1 

(1.8) 

(22.7 ) 

(0.3) 
(0.6) 

(76.5 )% 
76.9 

(16.2) 
nm 

Provision for income taxes 
Net (loss) income 

Net loss atfributable to noncontrolling interests 
Net income attributable to Genie $ 

(7-0) 
(2.6) 
4.2 
1.6 $ 

(14.0) 
14.0 
0.5 

14.5 $ 

7.0 
(16.6) 

3.7 
(12.9) 

50.2 
(118.1) 
750.6 
(88.8)% 
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nm—not meaningful 

Financing Fees . Financing fees are the volumetric fees charged by BP under the Preferred Supplier Agreement between IDT Energy and BP, 
pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricify and natural gas. Financing fees increased in the year ended July 31, 2011 
compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 primarily because ofthe higher consumption by IDT Energy's customers. 

Other (Expense) Income, net. The change in other (expense) income, net in the year ended July 31, 2011 comparedtotheyearended July 31, 2010 
was due primarily to the change in foreign currency translation gains (losses) from a $30,000 gain in the year ended July 31, 2010 to a $0.5 million 
loss in the year ended July 31, 2011. In addition, other (expense) income, net in the year ended July 31, 2011 included aggregate expense of $0.1 
million related to the change in the estimated fair value of the options to purchase shares of our subsidiary held by Michael Steinhardt, the 
Chainnan ofthe Board of lEI. 

31 

Provision for Income Taxes . The provision for income taxes in the year ended July 31, 2011 decreased compared to the year ended July 31,2010 
due primarily to a decrease in pre-tax income. In the years ended July 31,2011 and 2010, we were included in the consolidated federal income tax 
retum of IDT. Our income taxes are presented on a separate tax retum basis. 

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests . The majorify of the increase in the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in the year 
ended July 31, 2011 comparedtotheyearended July 31, 2010 relates to 100% ofthe net loss incurred by CCE, which is a variable interest entity 
that is consolidated in our IDT Energy segment. We do not have any ownership interest in CCE, therefore all net income or loss incurred by CCE 
has been atfributed to noncontrolling interests. CCE began operations in the year ended July 31, 2011. CCE's net loss in the year ended July 31, 
2011 of $2.0 million related primarily to sales commissions for customer acquisitions as CCE grows its customer base. The remainder ofthe 
increase in the net loss atfributable to nonconfroUing interests intheyearended July 31, 2011 compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 was mostly 
due to increases in the net losses of AMSO and lEI, which are included in the Genie Oil and Gas segment discussed above, and in the 
nonconfrolHng interests' share of a portion ofthese net losses. The noncontrolling interests' share of AMSO and lEl losses increased as a result of 
the April 2010 sales ofan aggregate 2.7% interest in GEIC and the November 2010 sales ofan aggregate 5.5%) interest in GOGAS. 

Five Months Ended December 31,2011 compared to Five Months Ended December 31,2010 

IDT Energy Segment 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 
Revenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative 

[Income from operations 

S 

S 

2011 

57.1 
19.7 
76.8 
52.5 
24.3 
15.4 
8.9 

$ 

$ 

2010 " 

53.0 
21.8 
74.8 
53.4 
21.4 

9.7 
11.7 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

4.1 
(2.1) 
2.0 

(0.9) 
2.9 
5.7 

(2.8) 

% 

7.8 % 
(10.1) 

2.5 
(1-8) 
13.3 
58.5 

(24.1)% 

Revenues . IDT Energy's electricity revenues increased in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 as a 
result of an increase m consumption, partially offset by decrease in the average rate charged to customers for elecfricify. Electric consumption 
increased 18.6%, and the average charged to customers for elecfricify decreased 9.2%. The increase in electric consumption was the result ofan 
increase in meters served coupled with an increase in the consumption per meter. The decrease in the average rate charged to customers for 
electricity was primarily the result of a decrease in the underlying commodity cost. 

IDT Energy's natural gas revenues decreased in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 primarily due to 
unusually warm weather m November and December 2011 which reduced the need for heat. As measured by heating degree days. New York State 
was 22% warmer in November and December 2011 than in the same period in 2010. The warm weather caused decreases in both the average rate 
charged to customers and in consumption, which decreased 7.1% and 3.3%, respectively. The decline in demand for heat as well as increased 
domestic production of natural gas caused a decrease in the underlying natural gas cost, which allowed us to decrease the average rate charged to 
customers for natural gas. The decline in the average rate charged to customers for natural gas was also the result of discounted promotional rates 
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Provision for Income Taxes . The provision for income taxes in the year ended July 31, 2011 decreased compared to the year ended July 31, 2010 
due primarily to a decrease in pre-tax income. In the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, we were included in the consolidated federal income tax 
retum of IDT. Our income taxes are presented on a separate tax retum basis. 

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests . The majorify of the increase in the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in the year 
ended July 31, 2011 comparedtotheyearended July 31, 2010 relates to 100% of thenet loss incurred by CCE, which is a variable interest entity 
that is consolidated in our IDT Energy segment. We do not have any ownership interest in CCE, therefore all net income or loss incurred by CCE 
has been atfributed to noncontrolling interests. CCE began operations in the year ended July 31, 2011. CCE's net loss in the year ended July 31, 
2011 of $2.0 million related primarily to sales commissions for customer acquisitions as CCE grows its customer base. The remainder ofthe 
increase in the net loss atfributable to noncontrolling interests in the year ended July 31,2011 compared to the year ended July 31,2010 was mostly 
due to increases in the net losses of AMSO and lEI, which are included in the Genie Oil and Gas segment discussed above, and in the 
noncontrolling interests' share of a portion ofthese net losses. The noncontrolling interests' share of AMSO and lEl losses increased as a result of 
the April 2010 Sales ofan aggregate 2.7% interest in GEIC and the November 2010 sales ofan aggregate 5.5% interest in GOGAS. 

Five Months Ended December 31,2011 compared to Five Months Ended December 31, 2010 

IDT Energy Segment 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 2011 2010 

Change 

% 
Revenues: 

Elecfric 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative 
Income from operations 

$ 

$ 

57.1 
19.7 
76.8 
52.5 
24.3 
15.4 
8.9 

$ 

$ 

53.0 
21.8 
74.8 
53.4 
21.4 

9.7 
11.7 

$ 

$ 

4.1 
(2.1) 
2.0 

(0.9) 
2.9 
5.7 

(2.8) 

7.8 % 
(10.1) 

2.5 
(1.8) 
13.3 
58.5 

(24.1)% 

Revenues . IDT Energy's electricity revenues increased in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 as a 
result of an increase In consumption, partially offset by decrease in the average rate charged to customers for elecfricify. Elecfric consumption 
increased 18.6%, and the average charged to customers for electricity decreased 9.2%. The increase in electric consumption was the result ofan 
increase in meters served coupled with an increase in the consumption per meter. The decrease in the average rate charged to customers for 
electricity was primarily the result of a decrease in the underiying commodity cost. 

IDT Energy's natural gas revenues decreased in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 primarily due to 
unusually warm weather in November and December 2011 which reduced the need for heat. As measured by heating degree days, New York State 
was 22% warmer in November and December 2011 than in the same period in 2010. The warm weather caused decreases in both the average rate 
charged to customers and in consumpfion, which decreased 7.1% and 3.3%, respectively. The decline in demand for heat as well as increased 
domestic production of natural gas caused a decrease in the underlying natural gas cost, which allowed us to decrease the average rate charged to 
customers for natural gas. The decline in the average rate charged to customers for natural gas was also the result of discounted promotional rates 
for new customers. The decline in consumption was partially offset by an increase in meters served. 

IDT Energy's customer base as measured by meters served consisted ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 
Meters at end of quarter: 

. Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

, Total meters 

December 31, 
2011 

254 
184 
438 

September 
30,2011 

247 
183 
430 

June 30, 2011 

224 
172 
396 

March 31, 
2011 

210 
167 
377 

December 
31,2010 

208 
160 
368 

Gross meter acquisitions in the five months ended December 31, 2011 were 157,000 compared to 75,000 in the same period in 2010, which 
represented increases in meters served of 38.6%) and 20.3% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The new meter 
acquisitions in the five months ended December 31, 2011 were partially offset by customer chum, which resulted in a net increase of 7.9% in 
meters served or net gains of approximately 32,000 meters since July 31, 2011. The new meter acquisitions in the five months ended December 31, 
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2010 were more than offset by customer chum, which resuUed in a net decrease of 0.6% in meters served or a net loss of approximately 2,000 
meters since July 31, 2010. Average monthly chum increased from 4.7% in the five months ended December 31, 2010 to 6.4% in the five months 
ended December 31, 2011 in part due to the impact ofthe recent acceleration in customer acquisitions as new customers tend to chum at a higher 
initial rate than long-term customers. 

32 

The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the chart below. 
The 17.8% RCE increase at December 31, 2011 compared to December 31, 2010 reflects primarily the increase in meters served as well as, to a 
lesser degree, a shift in IDT Energy's customer base to customers with higher consumption per meter as a result of targeted customer acquisition 
programs. 

(in thousands) 
RCEs at end of quarter: 

Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

December 
31,2011 

153 
95 

248 

September 
30,2011 

142 
100 
242 

June 30, 2011 

135 
99 

234 

March 31, 
2011 

119 
89 

208 

December 
31,2010 

123 
88 

211 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues and gross margin percentage were as follows: 

Change (in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 2011 2010 % 
Direct cost ofrevenues: 

Elecfric 
Natural gas 

Total dfrect cost ofrevenues 

Five Months ended December 31, 
Gross margin percentage; 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total gross margm percentage 

$ 

S 

35.4 
17.1 
52.5 

$ 

$ 

37.0 
16.4 
53.4 

2011 

38.1 % 
12.9 
31.7 % 

$ 

$ 

(1.6) 
0.7 

(0.9) 

2010 

30.3 % 
24.7 
28.7 % 

(4.3)% 
3.9 

(1.8)% 

Change 

7.8 % 
(11.8) 

3.0 % 

Direct cost ofrevenues for elecfricity decreased 4.3% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 as the 
19.4%) decrease in the average unit cost was partially offset by an increase of 18.6% in consumption. Direct cost ofrevenues for natural gas 
increased 3.9% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 primarily due to the 7.5%> increase in the 
average unit cost. The increase in the average unit cost of natural gas was due to increases in the per unit cost of pipeline, storage and transportation 
services in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 as a resuU of lower natural gas consumption. We 
purchase these services at the beginning ofthe heating season based on projected consumption, so the lower than expected natural gas consumption 
resulted in amortization ofthe amount purchased over a smaller number of units. 

Gross margins on electricity sales increased as the cost of the underlying commodity declined more sharply than the decrease in the average rate 
charged to customers. Gross margins on natural gas sales declined due to increased pipeline, storage and transportation costs in selected territories 
that were not fully recovered through rate increases during the period. 

Selling, General and Administrative . The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the five months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to the same period in 2010 was primarily due to increases in customer acquisition costs and marketing costs, which increased an 
aggregate of $3.5 million. Customer acquisition costs increased primarily due to the significant increase in the number of new customers acquired. 
Marketing costs increased as a result of the expansion into new territories. In addition, sales and use tax expense, which is included in selling, 
general and adminisfrative expenses, increased $0.9 million in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 
primarily due to accmals related to ongoing tax audits. As a percentage of total IDT Energy revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses 
increased from 13.0% in the five months ended December 31, 2010 to 20.1% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 primarily because ofthe 
significant increase in costs related to customer acquisitions mentioned above. 
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The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the chart below. 
The 17.8% RCE increase at December 31, 2011 compared to December 31, 2010 reflects primarily the increase in meters served as well as, to a 
lesser degree, a shift in IDT Energy's customer base to customers with higher consumption per meter as a result of targeted customer acquisition 
programs. 

(in thousands) 
RCEs at end of quarter: 

.- Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

December 
31,2011 

153 
95 

248 

September 
30,2011 

142 
100 
242 

June 30, 2011 

135 
99 

234 

March 31, 
2011 

119 
89 

208 

December 
31,2010 

123 
88 

211 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost ofrevenues and gross margin percentage were as follows: 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 
Direct cost ofrevenues: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total direct cost ofrevenues 

Five Months ended December 31, 
Gross margin percentage: 

Electric 
Natural gas 

Total gross margin percentage 

$ 

$ 

2011 

35.4 $ 
17.1 
52.5 $ 

2010 

37.0 $ 
16.4 
53.4 $ 

2011 

38.1 % 
12.9 
31.7 % 

Change 
$ 

(1.6) 
0.7 

(0.9) 

2010 

30.3 % 
24.7 
28.7 % 

% 

(4.3)% 
3.9 

(1.8 )% 

Change 

7.8 % 
(11.8) 

3.0 % 

Direct cost ofrevenues for elecfricity decreased 4.3% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 as the 
19.4% decrease in the average unit cost was partially offset by an increase of 18.6% in consumption. Direct cost ofrevenues for natural gas 
increased 3.9% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 primarily due to the 7.5% increase in the 
average unit cost. The increase in the average unit cost of natural gas was due to increases in the per unit cost of pipeline, storage and fransportation 
services in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 as a resuh of lower natural gas consumption. We 
purchase these services at the beginning ofthe heating season based on projected consumption, so the lower than expected natural gas consumption 
resulted in amortization ofthe amount purchased over a smaller number of units. 

Gross margins on elecfrichy sales increased as the cost of the underlying commodify declined more sharply than the decrease in the average rate 
charged to customers. Gross margins on natural gas sales declined due to increased pipeline, storage and transportation costs in selected territories 
that were not fully recovered through rate increases during the period. 

Selling, General and Administrative . The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the five months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to the same period in 2010 was primarily due to increases in customer acquisition costs and marketing costs, which increased an 
aggregate of $3.5 million. Customer acquisition costs increased primarily due to the significant increase in the number of new customers acquired. 
Marketing costs increased as a result of the expansion into new territories. In addition, sales and use tax expense, which is included in selling, 
general and administrative expenses, increased $0.9 million in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 
primarily due to accmals related to ongoing tax audits. As a percentage of total IDT Energy revenues, selling, general and adminisfrative expenses 
increased from 13.0% inthe fivemonths ended December 31, 2010 to 20.1% in the five months ended December 31, 2011 primarily because ofthe 
significant increase in costs related to customer acquisitions mentioned above. 

Genie Oil and Gas Segment 

Genie Oil and Gas did not generate any revenues, nor did it incur any direct cost ofrevenues, in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010. 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 

Change 
2011 2010 % 
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General and adminisfrative expenses 
Research and development 
Equify in net loss.of AMSO, LLC 

0.8 $ 
2.6 
2.1 

0.9 $ 
3.0 
1.7 

(0.1) 
(0.4) 
0.4 

(15.5)% 
(13.0) 
26.4 

Loss from operationg $ 5.5 5.6 $ (0.1) (1.7)% 

General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses in the five months ended December 31, 2011 decreased sHghtly compared to the 
same period in 2010 as increases in costs associated with our global business development efforts in 2011 were partially offset by a decrease in 
stock-based compensation expense. 

33 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses inthe fivemonths ended December 31,2011 and 2010 were primarily related to 
the operations of lEI in Israel. lEl completed the field work included in its resource E^praisal study in late calendar year 2011. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC . AMSO's equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC increased in the five months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to the same period in 2010 as a result ofthe increase in AMSO, LLC's net loss to $9.4 million in the five months ended December 31, 
2011 from $8.3 million in the five months ended December 31, 2010. AMSO, LLC's net loss increased primarily as a resuh ofthe substantial 
increase inthe costs associated with the pilot test. AMSO's portion ofthe loss of AMSO, LLC increased in December 2011 from 20% to 35%o, per 
our agreement with Total. In the five months ended December 31, 2011, AMSO, LLC continued with late-stage preparations for its pilot test and 
received all permits required to begin operations including well drilling and installation of down-hole instmmentation. 

Corporate 

Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it Incur any direct cost of revenues. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, 
consulting fees, legal fees, business development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. 

(in millions) 

Five Months ended December 31, 

General and administrative expenses and loss from operations $ 

2011 

1.7 $ 

2010 

0.6 $ 

Change 

$ 
1.1 

% 
177.9 % 

The increase in general and administrative expenses in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 was due 
primarily to increases in compensation, consulting fees and stock-based compensation, including costs related to being a separate public company, 
following our Spin-Offfrom IDT. 

Consolidated 

Selling, General and Administrative . Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, charged us for certain transactions and allocated 
routine expenses based on company specific items. In addition, IDT confrolled the fiow ofour treasury transactions. Following the Spin-off, IDT 
charges us for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement. In the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, IDT 
charged us $2.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, which was included in selling, general and administrative expense. 

The following is a discussion of our consolidated income and expense line items below income from operations. 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 2011 2010 

Change 

% 
Income from operations 

Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other (expense) income, net 
Provision for income taxes 

1.7 

(1-0) 
(0.4) 
(0.6) 

5.6 
0.1 

(0.9) 
0.3 

(4.2) 

(3.9) 
(0.1) 
(0.1) 
(0.7) 
3.6 

(1.2) 
0.3 

(68.9 )% 
(17.0) 
(13.7) 

(233.8) 
85.3 

(129.2) 
36.8 

Net (loss) income 
Net loss atfributable to noncontrolling interests 

(0.3) 
1.1 

0.9 
0.8 

Net mcome attributable to Genie S 0.8 $ 1.7 $ (0.9) (51.1)% 

Financing Fees . Financing fees are the volumetric fees charged by BP under the Preferred Supplier Agreement between IDT Energy and BP, 
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Research and Development. Research and development expenses in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were primarily related to 
the operations of lEI in Israel. lEI completed the field work included in its resource appraisal study in late calendar year 2011. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC . AMSO's equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC increased in the five months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to the same period in 2010 as a resuU ofthe increase in AMSO, LLC's net loss to $9.4 million in the five months ended December 31, 
2011 from $8.3 million in the five months ended December 31, 2010. AMSO, LLC's net loss increased primarily as a result ofthe substantial 
increase in the costs associated with the pilot test. AMSO's portion ofthe loss of AMSO, LLC increased in December 2011 from 20% to 35%, per 
our agreement with Total. In the five months ended December 31, 2011, AMSO, LLC continued with late-stage preparations for its pilot test and 
received all permits required to begin operations including well drilling and installation of down-hole instmmentation. 

Corporate 

Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, 
consulting fees, legal fees, business development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 
General and administrative expenses and loss from operations $ 

2011 
1.7 $ 

2010 
0.6 $ 

Change 
$ 

1.1 
% 

177.9 % 

The increase in general and administrative expenses in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 was due 
primarily to increases in compensation, consulting fees and stock-based compensation, including costs related to being a separate public company, 
following our Spin-Offfrom IDT. 

Consolidated 

Selling, General and Administrative . Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, charged us for certain transactions and allocated 
routine expenses based on company specific items. In addition, IDT confrolled the flow ofour treasury transactions. Following the Spin-off, IDT 
charges us for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement. In the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, IDT 
charged us $2.6 miUion and $1.8 million, respectively, which was included in selling, general and administrative expense. 

The following is a discussion ofour consolidated income and expense line items below income from operations. 

(in millions) 
Five Months ended December 31, 2011 2010 

Change 

% 
Income from operations 

Interest mcome 
Financing fees 
Other (expense) income, net 
Provision for income taxes 

1.7 $ 

(1.0) 
(0.4) 
(0.6) 

5.6 
0.1 

(0.9) 
0.3 

(4.2) 

(3.9) 
(0.1) , 
(0.1) 
(0.7) 
3.6 

(1.2) 
0.3 

(68.9)% 
(17.0) 
(13.7) 

(233.8 ) 
85.3 

(129.2 ) 
36.8 

Net (loss) income 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 

(0.3) 
1.1 

0.9 
0.8 

''• Net income attributable to Genie 0.8 $ 1.7 $ (0.9) (51.1)% 

Financing Fees . Financing fees are the volumetric fees charged by BP under the Preferred Supplier Agreement between IDT Energy and BP, 
pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricity and natural gas. Financing fees increased in the five months ended 
December 31, 2011 compared to the five months ended December 31, 2010 primarily because ofthe higher consumption by IDT Energy's 
electricity customers. 

Other (Expense) Income, net. Other expense, net in the five months ended December 31, 2011 consisted primarily of a $0.45 million expense 
related to the estimated loss resulting from the bankruptcy of MF Global and interest of $0.4 million on the sales tax expense recorded by IDT 
Energy related to audits of prior periods, partially offset by foreign currency translation gains. Other income, net in the five months ended 
December 31, 2010 was due primarily to foreign currency translation gains, partially offset by $0.3 million loss on GEIC stock option. 

Provision for Income Taxes . The provision for income taxes in the five months ended December 31, 2011 decreased compared to the similar 
period in 2010 due primarily to a decrease in pre-tax income. Prior to the Spin-Off, we were included in the consolidated federal income tax retum 
of IDT. Our income taxes are presented for periods prior to the Spin-Off on a separate tax rehim basis. 
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Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests . The majority of the increase in the net loss atfributable to noncontrolling interests in the five 
months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the similar period in 2010 relates to 100% ofthe net loss incurred by CCE and DAD Sales, LLC, or 
DAD, which are variable interest entities that are consolidated in our IDT Energy segment. CCE and DAD were not consolidated in our IDT 
Energy segment in the five months ended December 31, 2010. We do not have any ownership interest in CCE or DAD, therefore all net losses 
incurred by CCE and DAD have been attributed to noncontrolling interests. The aggregate net loss incurred by CCE and DAD in the five months 
ended December 31, 2011 of $0.7 million related primarily to sales commissions for customer acquisitions. 

34 

The remainder of the increase in the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in the five months ended December 31,2011 compared to the 
similar period in 2010 was mostiy due to increases in the net losses of AMSO and lEI, which are included in the Genie Oil and Gas segment 
discussed above, and in the noncontrolling interests' share of a portion ofthese net losses. The noncontrolling interests' share of AMSO and lEI 
losses increased as a result ofthe November 2010 sales ofan aggregate 5.5% interest in GOGAS. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

General 

Historically, we have satisfied our cash requirements primarily through a combination ofour existing cash and cash equivalents, IDT Energy's cash 
fiow from operating activities, and, prior to the Spin-Off, operational funding from IDT. We currently expect that our operations in the next twelve 
months and the $92.9 million balance of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit and marketable securities that we held as of 
December 31,2012 will be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated cash requirements for at least the twelve months ending December 31,2013. 

As of December 31,2012, we had working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of $109.0 million. 

(in millions) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

$ (1.0) 
(17.7) 
(14.4) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ (2.4) 
(2.6) 
83.3 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2011 

$ 5.5 
(3.8) 
9.0 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

$ 16.9 
6.9 

(15.6) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

$ 0.1 
(2.6) 
20.1 

Cash flows provided by (used in) 
Operating activities 
Investing activities 
Financing activities 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents 0.3 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (32.8) $ 78.3 $ 10.7 $ 8.2 $ 17.6 

Operating Activities 
Our cash flow from operations varies significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year, depending on our operating results and the timing 
of operating cash receipts and payments, specifically trade accounts receivable and frade accounts payable, including payments relating to lEI's 
research and development activities. 

CCE, DAD and Tari Corporation, or Tari, are consolidated variable interest entities. We determined that we have the power to direct the activities 
of CCE, DAD and Tari that most significantly impact their economic performance, and we have the obligation to absorb losses of CCE, DAD and 
Tari that could potentially be significant to CCE, DAD and Tari on a stand-alone basis. We therefore determined that we are the primary 
beneficiary of CCE, DAD and Tari, and as a result, we consolidate CCE, DAD and Tari with our IDT Energy segment. We provided CCE, DAD 
and Tari with all ofthe cash required to fund their operations. In the year ended December 31, 2012, CCE, DAD and Tari repaid $0.7 million to us. 
In the five months ended December 31, 2011 and the year ended July 31, 2011, we provided CCE, DAD and Tari with net funding of $2.5 million 
and $3.3 million, respectively, in order to finance their operations. In April 2012, IDT Energy entered into a Consulting Agreement with Tari for 
customer networking services and other sales related services. In addition, in April 2012, IDT Energy and DAD entered into a Client Agreement 
whereby DAD will use its network ofdoor-to-door sales agents to obtain customers for IDT Energy in exchange for cash commissions. 

Since 2009, IDT Energy has been party to a Preferred Supplier Agreement with BP, pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of 
electricify and natural gas. IDT Energy's obligations to BP are secured by a first security interest In deposits or receivables from utilities in 
connection with their purchase of IDT Energy's customer's receivables, and in any cash deposits or letters of credit posted in connection with any 
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The remainder of the increase in the net loss atfributable to noncontrolling interests in the five months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the 
similar period in 2010 was mostiy due to increases in the net losses of AMSO and lEI, which are included in the Genie Oil and Gas segment 
discussed above, and in the noncontrolling interests' share of a portion ofthese net losses. The noncontrolling interests' share of AMSO and lEI 
losses increased as a result ofthe November 2010 sales ofan aggregate 5.5% interest in GOGAS. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

General 

Historically, we have satisfied our cash requirements primarily through a combination ofour existing cash and cash equivalents, IDT Energy's cash 
flow from operating activities, and, prior to the Spin-Off, operational funding from IDT. We currently expect that our operations in the next twelve 
months and the $92.9 million balance of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit and marketable securities that we held as of 
December 31,2012 will be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated cash requirements for at least the twelve months ending December 31,2013. 

As of December 31, 2012, we had working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of $ 109.0 million. 

(in millions) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

$ (1.0) 
(17.7) 
(14.4) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ (2.4) 
(2.6) 
83.3 

Year ended 
Jufy31, 

2011 

$ 5.5 
(3.8) 
9.0 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

$ 16.9 
6.9 

(15.6) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

$ 0.1 
(2.6) 
20.1 

Cash flows provided by (used in) 
Operating activities 
Investing activities 
Financing activities 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents 0.3 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (32.8) $ 78.3 $ 10:7 $ 8.2 $ 17.6 

Operating Activities 
Our cash flow from operations varies significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year, depending on our operating results and the timing 
of operating cash receipts and payments, specifically trade accounts receivable and frade accounts payable, including payments relating to lEI's 
research and development activities. 

CCE, DAD and Tari Corporation, or Tari, are consolidated variable interest entities. We determined that we have the power to direct the activities 
of CCE, DAD and Tari that most significantly impact their economic performance, and we have the obligation to absorb losses of CCE, DAD and 
Tari that could potentially be significant to CCE, DAD and Tari on a stand-alone basis. We therefore determined that we are the primary 
beneficiary of CCE, DAD and Tari, and as a result, we consolidate CCE, DAD and Tari with our IDT Energy segment. We provided CCE, DAD 
and Tari with all ofthe cash required to fund their operations. In the year ended December 31, 2012, CCE, DAD and Tari repaid $0.7 million to us. 
In the five months ended December 31, 2011 and the year ended July 31, 2011, we provided CCE, DAD and Tari with net funding of $2.5 million 
and $3.3 million, respectively, in order to finance their operations. In April 2012, IDT Energy entered into a Consulting Agreement with Tari for 
customer networking services and other sales related services. In addition, in April 2012, IDT Energy and DAD entered into a Client Agreement 
whereby DAD will use its network ofdoor-to-door sales agents to obtain customers for IDT Energy in exchange for cash commissions. 

Since 2009, IDT Energy has been parfy to a Preferred Supplier Agreement with BP, pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of 
electricify and natural gas. IDT Energy's obligations to BP are secured by a first security interest in deposits or receivables from utilities in 
connection with their purchase of IDT Energy's customer's receivables, and in any cash deposits or letters of credit posted in connection with any 
collateral accounts with BP. The term of the agreement is through June 30, 2014, with an automatic renewal for an additional year unless either 
party provides written notice to the other party at least six months prior to June 30, 2014 that it will not renew the agreement. IDT Energy's abilify 
to purchase electricity and natural gas under this agreement is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions including the maintenance of certain 
covenants. At December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with such covenants. As ofDecember 31, 2012, restricted cash of $0.8 million and trade 
accounts receivable of $40.2 million were pledged to BP as collateral for the payment of IDT Energy's frade accounts payable to BP of $15.9 
million as of December 31, 2012. 

IDT Energy's New York State sales and use tax retums for the period from June 2003 though August 2009 are currently being audited. At 
December 31, 2012, IDT Energy had accrued $0.8 million for this audit and the estimated potential exposure above the amount accrued was $1.2 
million. 
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We are subject to audits in various jurisdictions for various taxes. At December 31, 2012, we accrued for the estimated loss from these audits for 
which it is probable that a liability has been incurred, however amounts asserted by taxing authorify or the amount ultimately assessed against us 
could be greater than the accrued amounts. Accordingly, additional provisions may be recorded in the future as revised estimates are made or 
underlying matters are settled or resolved. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax audits could have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

In October 2012, IDT Energy reached an agreement relating to the New York City utility tax audit on electricity sales for the period from June 1, 
2007 (commencement of IDT Energy's business activities) through October 31, 2012. As a result, IDT Energy paid $5.5 million in November 
2012, all ofwhich was accmed Jn prior periods. Also in October 2012, IDT Energy completed the New York State income tax audit for the years 
ended July 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and received a refund of $0.4 million. The accmal for the New York State income tax audit of $2.5 million 
was reversed in September 2012-

Following the Spin-Off, we are no longer eligible to utilize IDT's net operating loss to offset our taxable income and, as a result, may have to pay 
federal income taxes to the U.S. Treasury instead of incurring charges from IDT. 

Investing Activities 
Our capital expenditures were $0.1 million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $45,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012, the years 
ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Costs for research and development activities 
in lEI and AMSO, LLC are charged to expense when incurred. We currently anticipate that our total capital expenditures for the year ending 
December 31, 2013 will be approximately $0.2 million. We did not have any material commitments for capital expenditures at December 31, 2012. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, cash used 
for capital contributions to AMSO, LLC was $4.1 million, $3.9 million, $2.0 million, $2.0 million and $2.5 million, respectively. 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents increased $0.4 million and $37,000 in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
Restrictedcashandcashequivalentsdecreased$0.3millionand$9.0minion intheyearsended July 31,2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease 
in the year ended July 31, 2010 was primarily due to the decrease in the collateral required to secure IDT Energy's purchases of natural gas, electric 
capacify, electricity and ancillary services as a result of the agreement with BP which we entered into in June 2009, pursuant to which BP is IDT 
Energy's preferred provider of elecfricity and natural gas. 

In the yearended December 31, 2012, we entered into loans with employees for an aggregate of $0.7 million. 

In theyearended December 31, 2012, we used cash of $2.2 million to purchase certificates of deposits and $11.5 million to purchase marketable 
securities. Also in the year ended December 31, 2012, proceeds from maturities of marketable securities were $1.0 miUion. 

Financing Activities 
Prior to the Spin-Off, in the five months ended December 31, 2011, IDT made a capital confribution of $82.2 million to us. In addition, in 
connection with the capital contribution received from IDT, the amount due from IDT as ofthe date ofthe Spin-Off of $2.1 million was forgiven. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid an aggregate dividend per share of $0,183 to stockholders ofour Class A common stock and Class 
B common stock. The aggregate dividends paid were $4.2 million. On Febmary 15,2013, we paid a pro-rated Base Dividend of $0.1317 per share 
on our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock for the fourth quarter of 2012 (see below). The aggregate amount paid was $0.2 million. In March 2013, our 
Boardof Dfrectors declared a quarterly Base Dividend of$0.1594 per share on our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock for the first quarter of 2013. The 
dividend will be paid on May 15, 2013 to stockholders ofrecord as ofthe close ofbusiness on May 8, 2013. In addition, we have suspended 
payment of dividends on our Class A and Class B common stock for the foreseeable future. The Base Dividend on the 1.9 million shares of our 
Series 2012-A Preferred Stock for 2013 is expected to be approximately $1.2 million. 

Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, provided us with the cash required to fund our workmg capital requirements and our 
investments in our Genie Oil and Gas segment, when necessary. We used any excess cash provided by IDT Energy's operations to repay IDT. In 
the year ended July 31, 2011 and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, expenses paid by IDT on our behalf and net cash transfers 
received from IDT were an aggregate of $0.6 million, $1.1 million and $10.1 million, respectively. Intheyearended July 31, 2010, our repayments 
to IDT net of expenses paid by IDT on our behalf were $21.0 million. In addition, in connection with the April 2010 sales of GEIC common stock 
discussed below, an aggregate of $14.9 million ofthe amount due to us from IDT was forgiven and accounted for as a reduction ofour equity. 
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We are subject to audits in various jurisdictions for various taxes. At December 31, 2012, we accrued for the estimated loss from these audits for 
which it is probable that a liability has been incurred, however amounts asserted by taxing authority or the amount ultimately assessed against us 
could be greater than the accrued amounts. Accordingly, additional provisions may be recorded in the future as revised estimates are made or 
underlying matters are settled or resolved. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax audits could have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

In October 2012, IDT Energy reached an agreement relating to the New York City utility tax audit on electricity sales for the period from June 1, 
2007 (commencement of IDT Energy's business activities) through October 31, 2012. As a result, IDT Energy paid $5.5 million in November 
2012, all of which was accrued in prior periods. Also in October 2012, IDT Energy completed the New York State income tax audit for the years 
ended July 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and received a refund of $0.4 million. The accmal for the New York State income tax audit of $2.5 million 
was reversed in September 2012. 

Following the Spin-Off, we are no longer eligible to utilize IDT's net operating loss to offset our taxable income and, as a result, may have to pay 
federal income taxes to the U.S. Treasury instead of incurring charges from IDT. 

Investing Activities 
Our capital expenditures were $0.1 million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $45,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012, the years 
ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Costs for research and development activities 
in lEI and AMSO, LLC are charged to expense when incurred. We currently anticipate that our total capital expenditures for the year ending 
December 31, 2013 will be approximately $0.2 milHon. We did not have any material commitments for capital expenditures at December 31, 2012. 

In theyear ended December 31, 2012, theyears ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, andthe five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, cash used 
for capital contributions to AMSO, LLC was $4.1 million, $3.9 million, $2.0 million, $2.0 million and $2.5 million, respectively. 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents increased $0.4 million and $37,000 in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased $0.3 million and $9.0 million in the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease 
in the year ended July 31, 2010 was primarily due to the decrease in the collateral required to secure IDT Energy's purchases of natural gas, electric 
capacify, electricity and ancillary services as a result ofthe agreement with BP which we entered into in June 2009, pursuant to which BP is IDT 
Energy's preferred provider of elecfricity and natural gas. 

In the year ended December 31,2012, we entered into loans with employees for an aggregate of SO .7 miUion. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, we used cash of $2.2 miUion to purchase certificates of deposits and $11.5 mUlion to purchase marketable 
securities. Also in the year ended December 31, 2012, proceeds from maturities of marketable securities were $1.0 million. 

Financing Activities 
Prior to the Spin-Off, in the five months ended December 31, 2011, IDT made a capital confribution of $82.2 million to us. In addition, in 
connection with the capital contribution received from IDT, the amount due from IDT as ofthe date ofthe Spin-Off of $2.1 million was forgiven. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid an aggregate dividend per share of $0,183 to stockholders ofour Class A common stock and Class 
B common stock. The aggregate dividends paid were $4.2 million. On Febmary 15, 2013, we paid a pro-rated Base Dividend of $0.1317 per share 
on our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock for the fourth quarter of 2012 (see below). The aggregate amount paid was $0.2 million. In March 2013, our 
Board ofDirectors declared a quarterly Base Dividend of $0.1594 per share on our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock for the first quarter of 2013. The 
dividend will be paid on May 15, 2013 to stockholders ofrecord as ofthe close ofbusiness on May 8, 2013. In addition, we have suspended 
payment of dividends on our Class A and Class B common stock for the foreseeable future. The Base Dividend on the 1.9 million shares of our 
Series 2012-A Preferred Stock for 2013 is expected to be approximately $1.2 million. 

Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, our former parent company, provided us with the cash requfred to fund our working capital requirements and our 
investments in our Genie Oil and Gas segment, when necessary. We used any excess cash provided by IDT Energy's operations to repay IDT. In 
the year ended July 31, 2011 and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, expenses paid by IDT on our behalf and net cash fransfers 
receivedfromlDT were an aggregate of $0.6 million, $1.1 miUion and $10.1 million, respectively. Intheyear ended July 31, 2010, our repayments 
to IDT net of expenses paid by IDT on our behalf were $21.0 million. In addition, in connection with the April 2010 sales of GEIC common stock 
discussed below, an aggregate of $14.9 million ofthe amount due to us from IDT was forgiven and accounted for as a reduction ofour equity. 

In November 2010, GOGAS sold a 5.0% equity interest to an entity affiliated with Lord (Jacob) Rothschild for $10.0 million paid in cash. Also, in 
November 2010, GOGAS sold a 0.5% equity interest to Rupert Murdoch for $1.0 million paid with a promissory note. The note is secured by a 
pledge ofthe shares issued in exchange for the note. The note accmes interest at 1.58% per annum, and the principal and accmed interest is due and 
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payable on November 15, 2015. 

36 

In April 2010, GEIC sold shares of its common stock and an option to purchase additional shares of its common stock to Michael Steinhardt, the 
Chairman of the Board of lEI, for $5.0 million. In addition, in April 2010, GEIC sold shares of its common stock to W. Wesley Perry, the 
Chairman of the Board of GEIC, for $0-4 million. The aggregate equity interest of GEIC sold in April 2010 was 2.7%. In June 2011, in a 
refinement of the terms of the initial investment and the rights associated with that investment, Mr. Steinhardt exchanged his interest in GEIC 
(including the option to purchase additional interests) for a corresponding 2.5% interest (including options) in GOGAS and arranged for us and IDT 
to receive certain consulting services from a third party. In retum, the Steinhardt stockholder entity was paid $1.7 million. Repurchase of 
noncontrolling interests of $1.5 million in the year ended July 31, 2011 is the financing activity portion ofthe cash paid to the Steinhardt 
stockholder entify. 

We received proceeds from the exercise ofour stock options of $5,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012. 

The increase in resfricted cash of $10.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 was comprised of cash that was deposited in a money market 
account at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for a line of credit (see below). 

On December 8, 2011, our Board ofDirectors approved a stock repurchase program for the repurchase ofup to an aggregate of 20 million shares of 
our Class B common stock for up to an aggregate of $20 million. At December 31, 2012, no repurchases have been made and 20 million shares 
remained available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid $0.2 million to repurchase 27,202 shares ofour Class B common stock that were tendered by 
employees of ours to satisfy the employees' tax withholding obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on awards of resfricted stock. 
Such shares are repurchased by us based on their fair market value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting date. 

Exchange Offers and Issuances of Preferred Stock 
On August 2, 2012, we initiated an offer to exchange up to 8.75 million outstanding shares ofour Class B common stock for the same number of 
shares ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock. The offer expired on October 10, 2012. On October 17, 2012, we issued 1,604,591 shares ofour 
Series 2012-A Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number ofshares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

Each share ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $8.50, is entitled to receive an annual dividend per share equal to 
the sum of (i) $0.6375 (the "Base Dividend") plus (ii) seven and one-half percent (7.5%) ofthe quotient obtained by dividing (A) the amount by 
which the EBITDA for a fiscal year of our retail energy provider business exceeds $32 million by (B) 8,750,000 (the "Additional Dividend"), 
payable in cash and will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option following October 11, 2016. The redemption price for the Series 2012-A 
Preferred Stock is 101% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accrued and unpaid dividends between October 11, 2016 and October 11, 2017, and 
100% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accmed and unpaid dividends thereafter.. EBITDA consists of income (loss) from operations exclusive 
of depreciation and amortization and other operating gains (losses). 

During any period when we have failed to pay a dividend on the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock and until all unpaid dividends have been paid in 
full, we are prohibited from paying dividends or distributions on our Class B or Class A common stock. 

The Base Dividend wiU be payable (if declared by our Board ofDirectors, and accmed, ifnot declared) quarterly on each Febmary 15, May 15, 
August 15 and November 15, commencing with Febmary 15, 2013, and to the extent that there is any Additional Dividend payable with respect to 
a fiscal year, it will be paid to holders of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock with the May dividend (prorated for fiscal 2012). With respect to the 
payment of dividends and amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock is equal in rank to all other 
equify securities we issue, the terms ofwhich specifically provide that such equity securities rank on a parity with the Series 2012-A Preferred 
Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up; senior to our common stock; and junior to all ofour 
existing and fumre indebtedness. 

Each share of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock has the same voting rights as a share of Class B common stock, except on certain matters that only 
impact our common stock, as well as additional voting rights on specific matters or upon the occurrence of certain events. 

On November 26, 2012, we initiated an offer to exchange up to 7.15 million outstanding shares ofour Class B common stock for the same number 

ofshares ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock. The offer expired on March 5, 2013. On March 11, 2013, we issued 313,376 shares ofour Series 

2012-A Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number ofshares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

Page 209 of 317 



Exhibit C-1 Annual Report (2012) 

In April 2010, GEIC sold shares of its common stock and an option to purchase additional shares of its common stock to Michael Steinhardt, the 
Chairman of the Board of lEl, for $5.0 million. In addition, in April 2010, GEIC sold shares of its common stock to W. Wesley Perry, the 
Chairman ofthe Board of GEIC, for $0.4 million. The aggregate equity interest of GEIC sold in April 2010 was 2.7%. In June 2011, m a 
refinement of the terms of the initial investment and the rights associated with that investment, Mr. Steinhardt exchanged his interest in GEIC 
(including the option to purchase additional interests) for a corresponding 2.5% interest (including options) in GOGAS and arranged for us and IDT 
to receive certain consulting services from a third party. In retum, the Steinhardt stockholder entify was paid $1.7 million. Repurchase of 
noncontrolling interests of $1.5 million in the year ended July 31, 2011 is the financing activity portion ofthe cash paid to the Steinhardt 
stockholder entity. 

We received proceeds from the exercise of our stock options of $5,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012. 

The increase in restricted cash of $10.0 miUion in the year ended December 31, 2012 was comprised of cash that was deposited in a money market 
account at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for a line of credit (see below). 

On December 8, 2011, our Board ofDirectors approved a stock repurchase program for the repurchase ofup to an aggregate of 20 million shares of 
our Class B common stock for up to an aggregate of $20 million. At December 31, 2012, no repurchases have been made and 20 million shares 
remained available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid $0.2 million to repurchase 27,202 shares ofour Class B common stock that were tendered by 
employees of ours to satisfy the employees' tax withholding obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on awards of restricted stock. 
Such shares are repurchased by us based on their fair market value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting date. 

Exchange Offers and Issuances of Preferred Stock 
On August 2, 2012, we initiated an offer to exchange up to 8.75 miUion outstanding shares ofour Class B common stock for the same number of 
shares ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock. The offer expired on October 10, 2012. On October 17, 2012, we issued 1,604,591 shares ofour 
Series 2012-A Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number ofshares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

Each share of our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $8.50, is entitled to receive an annual dividend per share equal to 
the sum of (i) $0.6375 (the "Base Dividend") plus (ii) seven and one-half percent (7.5%) ofthe quotient obtained by dividing (A) the amount by 
which the EBITDA for a fiscal year of our retail energy provider business exceeds $32 million by (B) 8,750,000 (the "Additional Dividend"), 
payable in cash and will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option following October 11, 2016. The redemption price for the Series 2012-A 
Preferred Stock is 101% of the Liquidation Preferenceplus all accmed and unpaid dividends between October 11, 2016 and October 11,2017, and 
100% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accmed and unpaid dividends thereafter.. EBITDA consists of income (loss) from operations exclusive 
of depreciation and amortization and other operating gains (losses). 

During any period when we have failed to pay a dividend on the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock and until all unpaid dividends have been paid in 
full, we are prohibited from paying dividends or distributions on our Class B or Class A common stock. 

The Base Dividend will be payable (if declared by our Board ofDirectors, and accmed, ifnot declared) quarterly on each February 15, May 15, 
August 15 and November 15, commencing with Febmary 15, 2013, and to the extent that there is any Additional Dividend payable with respect to 
a fiscal year, it will be paid to holders of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock with the May dividend (prorated for fiscal 2012). With respect to the 
payment of dividends and amounts upon Hquidation, dissolution or winding up, the Series 2012-A Preferred Stock is equal in rank to all other 
equify securities we issue, the terms ofwhich specifically provide that such equity securities rank on a parity with the Series 2012-A Preferred 
Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up; senior to our common stock; and junior to all ofour 
existing and future indebtedness. 

Each share of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock has the same voting rights as a share of Class B conmion stock, except on certain matters that only 
impact our common stock, as well as additional voting rights on specific matters or upon the occurrence of certain events. 

On November 26, 2012, we initiated an offer to exchange up to 7.15 million outstanding shares of our Class B common stock for the same number 
ofshares ofour Series 2012-A Preferred Stock. The offer expired on March 5, 2013. On March 11, 2013, we issued 313,376 shares ofour Series 
2012-A Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number of shares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 
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The dividends onthe 1.6 million sharesof our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock issued in October 2012, as weU as the 0.3 million shares ofour Series 
2012-A Preferred Stock issued in March 2013 are expected to reduce net income available to common stockholders by $1.2 million each year. 

Revolving Line of Credit 
As of April 23, 2012, we and IDT Energy entered into a Loan Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank for a revolving line of credit for up to a 
maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. The proceeds from the line of credit may be used to provide working capital and for the issuance of 
letters of credit. We agreed to deposit cash in a money market account at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for the line of credit equal to the 
greater of (a) $10.0 million or (b) the sum ofthe amount of letters of credit outstanding plus the outstanding principal under the revolving note. We 
are not permitted to withdraw funds or exercise any authorify over the required balance in the collateral account. The principal outstanding will 
bear interest at the lesser of (a) the LIBOR rate multiplied by the statutory reserve rate established by the Board of Govemors of the Federal 
Reserve System plus 1-0% per annum, or (b) the maximum rate per annum permitted by whichever of applicable federal or Texas laws permit the 
higher interest rate. Interest is payable at least every three months and all outstanding principal and any accmed and unpaid interest is due on the 
maturify date of April 30, 2013. We paid a facility fee of $37,500 and pay a quarterly unused commitment fee of 0.08% per annum on the 
difference between $25.0 million and the average daily outstanding principal balance ofthe note. In addition, as of April 23, 2012, GEIC issued a 
Corporate Guaranfy to JPMorgan Chase Bank whereby GEIC unconditionally guarantees the full payment of all indebtedness of ours and IDT 
Energy under the Loan Agreement. At December 31, 2012, there were no amounts borrowed or utilized for letters of credit under the line of 
credit, and cash collateral of $10.0 million was included in "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Changes in Trade Accounts Receivable and Inventory 
Gross trade accounts receivable increased to $41.1 miUion at December 31, 2012 from $26.3 million at December 31, 2011 reflecting the increase 
in our revenues in the three months ended December 31, 2012 compared to the three months ended December 31,2011. 

Inventory of natural gas decreased to $2.6 million at December 31, 2012 from $4.1 million at December 31, 2011 primarily due to the decline in 
Uie cost of natural gas at December 31,2012 compared to December 31,2011. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

The following table quantifies our future contractual obligations as ofDecember 31, 2012: 

Payments Due by Period 

(in millions) 
IDT Energy's forward confracts 
Purchase and other obligations 
Operating leases 
TOTAL CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (1) 

$ 

$ 

Total 
0.5 
0.2 
0.4 
1.1 

$ 

$ 

Less than 
1 year 

0.5 
0.2 
0.2 
0.9 

1-
$ 

$ 

—3 years 
_ $ 

0.2 
0.2 $ 

4—5 years After 5 years 
— $ — 

— $ — 

(1) The above table does not include our unrecognized income tax benefits for uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2012 of $0.2 million due to 
the uncertainty of the amount and/or timing of any such payments. Uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken on an income tax retum 
may result in additional payments to tax authorities. We are not currently able to reasonably estimate the timing of any potential future payments. If 
a tax authority agrees with the tax position taken or expected to be taken or the applicable statute of limitations expires, then additional payments 
will not be necessary. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

We do not have any "off-balance sheet arrangements," as defined in relevant SEC regulations that are reasonably likely to have a current or future 
effect on our financial condition, results ofoperations, liquidify, capital expenditures or capital resources, other than the following. 

IDT Energy has performance bonds issued through an insurance company for the benefit of various states in order to comply with the states' 
financial requirements for retail energy providers. At December 31, 2012, IDT Energy had aggregate performance bonds of $3.2 million 
outstanding. 

In connection with our Spin-Off in October 2011, we and IDT entered mto various agreements prior to the Spin-Off including a Separation and 
Disfribution Agreement to effect the separation and provide a framework for our relationship with IDT after the Spin-Off, and a Tax Separation 
Agreement, which sets forth the responsibilities of us and IDT with respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state, local and foreign 
taxes for periods before and including the Spin-Off, the preparation and filing of tax reUims for such periods and disputes with taxing authorities 
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regarding taxes for such periods. Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, among other things, we indemnify IDT and IDT 
indemnifies us for losses related to the failure of the other to pay, perform or otherwise discharge, any of the liabilities and obligations set forth in 
the agreement. Pursuant to the Tax Separation Agreement, among other things, IDT indemnifies us from all liabilify for taxes of IDT with respect 
to any taxable period, and we indemnify IDT from all liabilify for taxes of ours with respect to any taxable period, including, without limitation, the 
ongoing tax audits related to our business. 

38 

Item 7A . Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks. 

Our primary market risk exposure is the price applicable to our natural gas and elecfricity purchases and sales. The sales price ofour natural gas 
and electricify is primarily driven by the prevailing market price. Hypothetically, if our gross profit per unit in the year ended December 31, 2012 
had remained the same as in the year ended December 31,2011, our gross profit from electricity sales would have increased by $ 18.4 million in the 
yearended December 31, 2012 and our gross profit from natural gas sales would have decreased by $2.9 million in that period. 

The energy markets have historically been very volatile, and we can reasonably expect that electricity and natural gas prices will be subject to 
fluctuations in the future. In an effort to reduce the effects of the volatility of the cost of electricify and natural gas on our operations, we have 
adopted a policy of hedging electricify and natural gas prices from time to time, at relatively lower volumes, primarily through the use of forward 
and future confracts and put and call options. While the use ofthese hedging arrangements limits the downside risk of adverse price movements, it 
also limits future gains from favorable movements. We do not apply hedge accounting to these contracts and options, therefore the mark-to-market 
change in fair value is recognized in direct cost of revenue in our consolidated statements ofoperations. 

The summarized volume of IDT Energy's outstanding call and put options and future contracts as of December 31, 2012 was as follows: 

Commodify 
Electricify 
Electricity 
Natural gas 
Natural gas 

Settlement Dates 
January 2013 
Febmary 2013 
Febmay2013 
August 2013 

Volume 
79,200 MWh 
72,000 MWh 
2,000,000 Dth 
350,000 Dth 
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Item 8 . Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

Our Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary data and the reports ofthe independent registered public accounting firms thereon set 
forth starting on page F-1 herein are incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A . Controls and Procedures. 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), as ofthe end ofthe period covered by this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of December 31,2012. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal confrol over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 
13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 . In connection with the preparation ofour Armual Report on Form 
10-K, our management assessed the effectiveness ofour intemal control over financial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2012. In making that 
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
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Item 8 . Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

Our Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary data and the reports of the independent registered public accounting firms thereon set 
forth starting on page F-1 herein are incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 9 . Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A . Controls and Procedures. 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), as ofthe end ofthe period covered by this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2012. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal confrol over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 
13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 . In connection with the preparation ofour Annual Report on Form 
10-K, our management assessed the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. In making that 
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Intemal Control-Integrated Framework. 

Based on its assessment, our management concluded that, as ofDecember 31, 2012, our intemal control over financial reporting was effective. 

The mles of the SEC do not require, and this annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting 
firm regarding, intemal control over fmancial reporting. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
There were no changes in our intemal control over financial reporting during tiie fourth quarter ofthe year ended December 31, 2012 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal confrol over financial reporting. 

Management's report on intemal control over financial reporting is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on page 44 and is incorporated 
herein by reference. 

Item 9B . Other Information. 

None. 
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Part III 

Item 10 . Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

The following is a list ofour dfrectors and executive officers along with the specific information required by Rule 14a-3 ofthe Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934: 

Executive Officers 

Howard S. Jonas—Chairman ofthe Board 

Claude A. Pupkin—Chief Executive Officer 
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Part III 

Item 10 . Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

The following is a list ofour directors and executive officers along with the specific information required by Rule 14a-3 ofthe Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934: 

Executive Officers 

Howard S. JonaS—Chairman ofthe Board 

Claude A. Pupkin—Chief Executive Officer 

Avi Goldin—Chief Financial Officer 

Geoff Rochwarger—Vice Chairman ofthe Board ofDirectors 

Ira Greenstein—President 

Directors 

Howard S. Jonas—Chairman ofthe Board and Chairman ofthe Board and Chief Executive Officer of IDT Corporation 

James A. Courter—Vice Chairman ofthe Board 

Irwin Katsof^Founder and managing partner of Katsof Energy Consultants 

W. Wesley Perry—Owner and operator of S.E.S. Investments, Ltd., an oil and gas investment company 

Alan B. Rosenthal—Founder and managing partner of ABR Capital Financial Group LLC, an investment fund 

Allan Sass—Former President and Chief Executive Officer of Occidental Oil Shale Corporation, a subsidiary of Occidental Pefroleum 

The remaining information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders Meeting, which will be 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2012, and which is incorporated by reference herein. 

Corporate Governance 
We have included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K certificates ofour Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifying 
the qualify ofour public disclosure. 

We make available free of charge through the investor relations page of our web site ( viww.idt.net/ir ) our Armual Reports on Form 10-K, 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports, and all beneficial ownership reports on Forms 
3,4 and 5 filed by directors, officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% ofour equity, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are 
elecfronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We have adopted codes ofbusiness conduct and ethics for all ofour employees, 
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. Copies of the codes of business conduct and 
ethics are available on our web site. 

Our web site and the information contained therein or incorporated therein are not intended to be incorporated into this Aimual Report on Form 10-
K or our other filings with the SEC. 

Item 1 1 . Executive Compensation. 

The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders Meeting, which will be filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2012, and which is incorporated by reference herein. 

Item 12 . Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 
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The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders Meeting, which will be filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2012, and which is incorporated by reference herein. 

Item 13 . Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders Meeting, which will be filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120daysafter December 31, 2012, and which is incorporated by reference herein. 

Item 14 . Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

The information required by this Item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Stockholders Meeting, which will be filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 daysafter December 31, 2012, and which is incorporated by reference herein. 
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Part IV 

Item 15 . Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report: 

1 Report of Management on Intemal Confrol Over Financial Reporting 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms on Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Financial Statements covered by Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms 

2 Financial Statement Schedule. 

All schedules have been omitted since they are either included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements or not requfred or not 
applicable. 

3 The exhibits Usted in paragraph (b) of this item. Exhibit Numbers 10.01 10.02, 10.03 and 10.04 are management confracts or compensatory 
plans or arrangements. 

(b) Exhibits. 

Exhibit 
Number Description of Exhibits 

3.01(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofthe Registrant. 

3.02(2) Certificate of Designation of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock of tiie Regisfrant. 

3.03(3) Amended and Restated By-Laws ofthe Regisfrant. 

10.01(4) Employment Agreement, effective as of October 28,2011, between the Registrant and Howard S. Jonas. 

10.02(4) Employment Agreement, effective as of October 28,2011, between the Regisfrant and Claude A. Pupkin. 

10.03(4) Employment Agreement, effective as of October 28,2011, between the Regisfrant and Avi Goldm. 

10.04(4) 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan ofGenie Energy Ltd. 

10.05(1) Preferred Supplier Agreement between IDT Energy, Inc. and BP Energy Company, dated June 29,2009, as amended. 

12.1* Computation of Consolidated Ratio of Eamings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends 
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Part IV 

Item 15 . Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a)The following documents are filed as part of this Report: 

1 Report of Management on Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms on Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Financial Statements covered by Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms 

2 Financial Statement Schedule. 

All schedules have been omitted since they are either included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements or not required or not 
applicable. 

3 The exhibits listed in paragraph (b) of this item. Exhibit Numbers 10.01 10.02, 10.03 and 10.04 are management contracts or compensatory 
plans or arrangements. 

(b) Exhibits. 

Exhibit 
Number Description of Exhibits 

3.01(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofthe Registrant. 

3.02(2) Certificate of Designation of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock ofthe Regisfrant. 

3.03(3) Amended and Restated By-Laws ofthe Regish-ant. 

10.01(4) Employment Agreement, effective as of October 28, 2011, between the Regisfrant and Howard S. Jonas. 

10.02(4) Employment Agreement, effective as of October 28,2011, between the Regisfrant and Claude A. Pupkin. 

10.03(4) Employment Agreement, effective as of October 28,2011, between the Regisfrant and Avi Goldin. 

10.04(4) 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan ofGenie Energy Ltd. 

10.05(1) Preferred Supplier Agreement between IDT Energy, Inc. and BP Energy Company, dated June 29,2009, as amended. 

12.1* Computation of Consolidated Ratio of Eammgs to Combmed Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends 

21.01* Subsidiaries of the Regisfrant. 

23.01* Consent of Grant Thomton LLP. 

23.02* Consent ofZwick and Banyai, PLLC 

23.03* Consent ofZwick and Banyai, PLLC 

31.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

: 31.02* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

: 32.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.02* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

99.01 * Significant subsidiary financial statements 
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lOl.INS* XBRL Instance Document 

lOl.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

; lOl.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Lfrikbase Docijment 

lOl.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

lOl.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

lOl.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

* filed herewith. 

(1) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-12G/A, filed October 7,2011. 
(2) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed October 11, 2012. 
(3) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed August 9, 2012. 
(4) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-12G/A, filed October 27, 2011. 
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Signatures 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securhies Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

By: 1st Claude A. Pupkin 

Chief Executive Officer 

Date: March 21, 2013 

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons 
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Titles Date 

Is! Howard S. Jonas 

Howard S. Jonas 

Isl Claude A. Pupkin 

Claude A. Pupkin 

Is! Avi Goldin 

Avi Goldfn 

Isl James A. Courter 
James A. Courter 

Isl Irwin Katsof 

Irwin Katsof 

/s/W. Wesley Peny 

Chairman ofthe Board and Director 

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) 

Vice Chairman ofthe Board and Director 

Director 

Director 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 
W. Wesley Perry 
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Signatures 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

By: Isl Claude A. Pupkin 

Chief Executive Officer 

Date: March 21, 2013 

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons 
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Titles Date 

Isl Howard S. Jonas 
Howard S. Jonas 

Isl Claude A. Pupkin 

Claude A. Pupldn 

Isl Avi Goldin 

Avi Goldin 

Isl James A. Courter 

James A. Courter 

Isl Irwin Katsof 
Irwin Katsof 

Isl W. Wesley Perry 

W. Wesley Perry 

Isl Alan B. Rosenthal 

Alan B. Rosenthal 

Isl Allan Sass 

Allan Sass 

Chairman ofthe Board and Director 

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) 

Vice Chairman ofthe Board and Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

March 21, 2013 

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

We, the management ofGenie Energy Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Company"), are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal 
control over financial reporting ofthe Company. 

The Company's intemal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company's principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by 
the Company's board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reUabilify of financial reporting 
and the preparation ofthe Company's fmancial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States and includes those policies and procedures that: 
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

We, the management of Genie Energy Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Company"), are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal 
control over financial reporting ofthe Company. 

The Company's intemal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company's principal executive and prmcipal financial officers and effected by 
the Company's board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation ofthe Company's financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States and includes those policies and procedures that; 

1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets of the 
Company; 

2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors ofthe Company; and 

3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Management has assessed the effectiveness ofthe Company's intemal control over financial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2012. In making this 
assessment, the Company's management used the criteria established in Intemal Confrol— Întegrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations ofthe Treadway Commission. 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of our intemal control over financial reporting, as prescribed above, for the period covered by this report. Based on our 
evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that the Company's intemal confrol over fmancial reporting as 
of December 31, 2012 is effective as a whole. 

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Isl Claude A. Pupkin 

Claude A. Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 

Isl Avi Goldin 

Avi Goldin 
Chief Financial Officer 

44 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms F-2 

Consolidated Balance Sheets F-4 

Consolidated Statements of Operations F-5 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements 

: Reports oflndependent Registered public Accounting Firms F-2 

Consolidated Balance Sheets F-4 

Consolidated Statements of Operations F-5 

Consolidated Statements ofComprehensive (Loss) Income F-6 

Consolidated Statements of Equify F-7 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-9 

Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements F-10 

F-1 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board ofDirectors and Stockholders 
Genie Energy Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Genie Energy Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the "Company") 
asof December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statementsofoperations, comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash flows for 
the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the five-month transition period ended December 31, 2011. These fmancial statements are the 
responsibility ofthe Company's management. Our responsibilify is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did 
not audit the financial statements of American Shale Oil, LLC, an equity method investment. The Company's investment in American Shale Oil, 
LLC was $0.2 miUion and $(0.7) mUUon, respectively, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, andthe Company's equity in the net loss of American 
ShaleOil, LLC was $3.2 miUion and $2.1 million, respectively, fortheyear ended December 31, 2012 andfor the fivemonths endedDecember 31, 
2011. Those statements were audited by other auditors, whose report has been fumished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it related to the amounts 
included for American Shale Oil, LLC, is based solely on the report of other auditors. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its intemal confrol over financial reporting. Our audits included 
consideration of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe Company's intemal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits and the report ofthe other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
materialrespects, the financial poshion of Genie Energy Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations 
and their cash flows fortheyear ended December 31, 2012 and forthe five-month transition period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Isl GRANT THORNTON LLP 

New York, New York 
March 21, 2013 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board ofDirectors and Stockholders 
Genie Energy Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Genie Energy Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the "Company") 
asof December 31, 2012 and 2011, and tiie related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash flows for 
the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the five-month transition period ended December 31, 2011. These financial statements are the 
responsibility ofthe Company's management. Our responsibilify is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did 
not audit the financial statements of American Shale Oil, LLC, an equify method investment. The Company's investment in American Shale Oil, 
LLC was $0.2 million and $(0.7) million, respectively, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the Company's equify in the net loss of American 
Shale Oil, LLC was $3.2 million and $2.1 mUHon, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2012 and for tiie five months ended December 31, 
2011. Those statements were audited by other auditors, whose report has been fumished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it related to the amounts 
included for American Shale Oil, LLC, is based solely on the report of other auditors. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its intemal confrol over fmancial reporting. Our audits included 
consideration of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe Company's intemal confrol over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits and the report ofthe other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report ofthe other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Genie Energy Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31,2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations 
and their cash flows for the year ended December 31,2012 and for the five-month transition period ended December 31, 2011, in conformify with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Isl GRANT THORNTON LLP 

New York, New York 
March 21, 2013 

F-2 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board ofDirectors snd Stockholders 
Genie Energy Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash fiows of Genie Energy 
Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the "Company") for the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010. These financial statements are the 
responsibility ofthe Company's management. Our responsibilify is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its intemal control over fmancial reporting. Our audit included 
consideration of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that were appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal confrol over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Genie Energy Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash flows of Genie Energy 
Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the "Company") for the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010. These financial statements are the 
responsibility ofthe Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fmancial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its intemal control over financial reporting. Our audit included 
consideration of intemal control over fmancial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that were appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash 
flows of Genie Energy Ltd. and subsidiaries for the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America. 

Isl Zwick and Banyai, PLLC 

Southfield, Michigan 
October 6, 2011 

F-3 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 
ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash 
Certificatesofdeposit 
Marketable securities 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $130 at December 31,2012 and 2011 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income tax assets, net—current portion 
Other current assets 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
Property and equipment, net 
Goodwill 
Deferred income tax. assets, net—long-term portion 
Other assets 

69,409 $ 
10,841 
2,205 
10,485 
40,932 
2,644 
3,315 
599 
771 

141,201 
409 

3,663 
— 

5,033 

102,220 
591 
— 
__ 

26,212 
4,067 
3,953 
3,081 
1,626 

141,750 
446 

3,663 
2,026 
2,309 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 150306 $ 150,194 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 
ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 
Restricted cash 
Certificatesofdeposit 
Marketable securities 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $130 at December 31,2012 and 2011 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income tax assets, net—current portion 
Other current a s s ^ 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
Properfy and equipment, net 
Goodwill 
Deferred income tax assets, net—long-term portion 
Other assets 
TOTAL ASSETS $ 150,306 $ 150,194 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Trade accounts payable $ 
Accmed expenses 
Advances from customers 
Income taxes payable 
Dividend payable 
Due to IDT Corporation 
Other current liabilities 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 32,209 29,895 
Commitments and contingencies 
EQUITY: 

Genie Energy Ltd. stockholders' equity: 
Preferredstock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—10,000: 

Series 2012-A, designated shares—8,750; at liquidation preference, consisting of 1,605 and nil shares 
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively 

Class A common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—35,000; 1,574 shares issued and outstandmg at 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 

Class B common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—200,000; 19,827 and 21,382 shares issued and 
19,800 and 21,382 shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively 

Additional paid-in capital 
Treasury stock, at cost, consisting of 27 and nil shares of ClassB common at December 31, 2012 and 2011, 

respectively 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
Retained eamings ^ 

Total Genie Energy Ltd. stockholders' equify 122,490 127,338 
Noncontrolling interests: 

Noncontrolling interests (3,393) (6,039) 
Receivable for issuance of equity (1,000) (1,000) 

20,641 $ 
7,832 
1,472 
1,244 

211 
600 
209 

12,929 
9,152 
2,253 
2,624 
1,148 

757 
1,032 

13,639 

16 

198 
80,196 

(204) 
270 

28,375 

— 

16 

214 
92,321 

(137) 
34,924 

Total nonconfroUing interests 
TOTAL EQUITY 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 

(4,393) 
118,097 
150,306 $ 

(7,039) 
120,299 
150,194 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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F-4 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands, except per share data) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

REVENUES 
Direct cost ofrevenues 

229,459 
159,872 

76,783 
52,476 

196,018 
142,171 

195,429 
137,603 

74,877 
53,422 

GROSS PROFIT 
OPERATING EXPENSES AND LOSSES: 

Selling, general and adminisfrative (i) 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

69,587 24,307 53,847 57,826 21,455 

54,000 
9,365 
3,175 
3,047 

404 
(2,913) 

(143) 

17,836 
2,648 
2,095 
1,728 

44 
(969) 
(455) 

33,792 
7,843 
5,238 
6,974 

92 
(2,061) 

(615) 

21,267 
5,226 
1,603 

29,730 
52 

(1,774) 
23 

11,196 
3,045 
1,658 
5,556 

53 
(852) 
340 

Income from operations 
Interest mcome 
Financing fees 
Other (expense) income, net 

Income before income taxes 
Provision for income taxes 

NET (LOSS) INCOME 
Net (income) loss atfributable to nonconfroUing interests 

NET (LOSS) INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO GENIE 
ENERGY LTD. 

Dividends on preferred stock 
NET (LOSS) INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO GENIE 

ENERGY LTD. COMMON STOCKHOLDERS 
(Loss) eamings per share athibutable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

common stockholders: 
Basic 
Diluted 

$ 

$ 
$ 

395 
(2,930) 
(2,535) 

(746) 

(3,281) 
(211) 

(3,492) 

(0.17) 
(0.17) 

$ 

$ 
$ 

348 
(616) 
(268) 

.1,115 

847 

847 

0.04 
0.04 

$ 

$ 
$ 

4,390 
(6,945) 
(2,555) 
4,185 

1,630 

1,630 

0.08 
0.07 

$ 

$ 
$ 

28,031 
(13,950) 
14,081 

492 

14,573 

14,573 

0.72 
0.65 

$ 

$ 
$ 

5,097 
(4,181) 

916 
815 

1,731 

1,731 

0.09 
0.08 

Weighted-average nmnber ofshares used m calculation of 
(loss) eamings per share 
Basic 
Diluted 

20,687 
20,687 

20,366 
22,497 

20,365 
22,342 

20,365 
22,342 

20,365 
22,342 

(i) Stock-based compensation included in selling, general 
and adminisfrative expenses $ 3,429 $ 630 $ 751 $ 315 $ 800 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

F-5 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 

Page 224 of 317 



Exhibit C-1 Annual Report (2012) 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
NET (LOSS) INCOME 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Change in unrealized loss on available-for-sale 
securities, net of tax 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 

(2,535) $ 

(15) 
386 

(268) S (2,555) 

(613) 492 

14,081 $ 

(26) 

916 

(632) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 
COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 

Comprehensive (income) loss atfributable to 
nonconfroilmg interests 

COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO GENIE ENERGY LTD. $ 

371 
(2,164) 

(710) 

(2,874) $ 

(613) 
(881) 

1,234 

353 $ 

492 
(2,063 ) 

4,074 

2,011 $ 

(26) 
14,055 

495 

14,550 $ 

(632) 
284 

836 

1,120 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

F-6 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (in thousands) 

Genie Energy Ltd. SlockhoIders 

Preferred Stock 
Class A 

Common Stock 
ClassB 

Common Stock 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Noncontrolling Interests 

Accumulated 
Additional Other 

Paid-in Treasury Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling 
Capital Stock Income (Loss) eamings Interests 

Receivable 
for 

of equity 
Total 

Equity 
BALANCE AT JULY 31,2009 — 1,574 $ 16 21,109 S ZH $ 1,472 $ = S <1) S 27.827 S — $ 29,525 

Stock-based compensatioJi 
Sales of stockof subsidiaO' 
Forgiveness ofamount due from 

IDT Corporation 
Oth^ comprehensive loss 
Net income (loss) for the year 

endedJuly31,2010 

— 315 — 
— 4,267 — 

— (6,054) — — (8,805) 
(23) -

— 14,573 

933 

(3) 

(492) 

— 315 
— 5,200 

— (14.859) 
— (26) 

— 14,081 

BALANCE AT JULY 31,2«ltf — 1,574 16 21,109 211 (24) 33,595 438 — 34,236 
Stock-based compensation 
Salesof stock of subsidiaiy 
Exchange of stock of subsidiary 
Other comprehensive income 
Net income (loss) for the year 

endedJuly31,201l 

— 710 
— 11,200 
— (333) 

381 — 

— 1,630 

(200) 
(969) 
111 

(4,185) 

(1,000) 
710 

10,000 
(1,302) 

492 

- (2,555) 
:BALANCEATJULY31,2I>11 1,574 16 21,109 211 11,577 357 35,225 (4,805) (1,000) 41381 

Dividends declared (S0.05 per 
share) 

' Stock-based compensatioii 
Other 
Capital contribution from IDT 

Coiporation in connection with 
the Spin-Off 

Forgiveness ofthe amount due from 
IDT Corporation in coiwection 
with the Spin-Off 

O&er comprehensive loss 
Net income (loss) for the five 

months ended December 31, 
2011 

— 238 
— 35 

3 668 

— 82,183 

— (2,107) 

- <l,148) (1,148) 
671 

— 82,183 

(494) — (119) 

— 847 (1.115) 

(2,107) 
(613) 

(268) 
BALANCE AT DECEMBEK 31, 

2011 — 1,574 16 21,382 214 92,321 (137) 34,924 (6,039) (1,000) 120,299 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (in thousands) 

Genie Energy Ltd. Stockholders 

Preferred Stock 
Class A 

Common Stock 
ClassB 

Common Stock 

Noncontrolling Interests 
Receivable 

for 

Shares Amount _ J _ Shares Amount 

Accumulated 
Additional Other 

Paid-in Treasury Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling issuance Total 
Shares Amount Capital Stock Incoine (Loss) earnings Interests ofequity Equity 

; BALANCE AT JULY 31,2009 1,574 $ 16 21,109 $ 211 S 1,472 (1) $27,827 S — S 29,525 
Stock-based compensation 
Sales of stock of "subsidiary 
Forgiveness of ainoonl due fiom 

IDT Corporation 
Othercomprehensive loss 
Net income"(loss) forthe year 

ended July 31.20iO 

— 315 — 
— 4,267 — 

— (6,054) — — (8,805) 
(23) ; -

— 14,573 

•933 

"(3) 

(492) 

— " 315 
— 5,200 

— (14,859) 
— (26) 

— 14,081 
: BALANCE AT JULY 31,2010 — 1,574 16 21,109 211 (24) 33,595 438 — 34,236 

Stock-based compensation 
Sales of stodc of subsidiary 
Exchange of stock of subsidiary 
Other comprehensivfi income 
Net income (loss) for the year 

ended July 31,2011 

— 710 
— 11.200 
— (333) 

381 — 

~ 1,630 

(200) 
(969) 
HI 

(4,185) 

(1,000) 
710 

10,000 
(1,302) 

492 

- (2,555) 
(4,805) (1,000) 41,581 BALANCE AT JULY 31,2011 — 1,574 16 21.109 211 11,577 357 35,225 

Dividends declared ($0.05 per 
share) 

Stock-based compensation 
Other 
Capital contribution from IDT 

Coiporation in connection with 
the Spin-Off 

Forgiveness ofthe amount due from 
IDT Corporation in connection 
with the Spin-Off 

Other comprehensive loss 
Net income (loss) for the five 

months ended December 31, 
20II 

— 238 3 
— 35 — 

668 
- (1,148) 

— 82,183 

— (2,107) 

(1,148) 
671 

— 82,183 

(494) 

(137) 

. -

847 

34,924 

(119) 

(1.115) 

(6,039) 

-

(1,000) 

(2,107) 
(fil3) 

(268) 

120,299 
BALANCE ATDECEMBER31, 

2011 — 1,574 16 21382 214 92^21 

F-7 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEiWENTS OF EQUITY (in thousands)-(Continued) 

Dividends declared on common 
stock ($0,133 per share) 

Accmed dividends ofi preferred 
stock 

Restricted Class B common stock 
purchased from employee 

Stock-based compensation 

Restricted stock issued to 

Genie Energy Ltd. Stockholders Noncontrolling Interests 

Preferred Stock 
Class A 

Common Stock 
Class B 

Common Stock 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares 

^ ^ ^ ^ Accumulated 
Additional Other 

Paid-in Treasuiy Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling 
Amount Capital Stock Income (Loss) eamings Interests 

Receivable 
for 

issuance 
of Total 

equity Equity 

— (3,057) 

- (211) 

3,404 
(204) 

25 

- (3.057) 

- (211) 

(204) 
3,429 

employees and directors 
Exercise of stock options 
Grants of stock of siiljsidiary 
Exchange of Class B common 

stock for Prefetre*? stock 
Other compreh^ive income 
Net (loss) income for the year 

ended December 31, 2012 
: BALANCE AT DECEIVIBEK 31, 
: 2012 

— 
— 
— 

1,605 

— 

-— 
1,605 

— 
— 
— 

13,639 

— 

— 
$ 13,639 

— 
— 
— 

— 
— 

— 
1,574 

— 
— 
— 

— 
— 

— 
S 16 

49 
1 

— 
(1,605) 

— 

— 
19,827 $ 

— 
— 
— 

(16) 

— 

— 
198 

_ 
5 

0.911) 

(13,623 ) 

— 

— 
S 80,196 S 

— 
-_ 
— 

— 
— 

— 
(204) $ 

_ 
— 
— 

— 
407 . 

— 
270 

— 
— 
— 

— 
^-

(3,281) 

$ 28375 S 

__ 
— 

1.911 

— 
(36) 

746 

(3393) S 

— — 
~ 5 
— — 

— — 
— 371 

- (2,535) 

(1,000) $118,097 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEIMENTS OF EQUITY (in tliousands)-(Continued) 

Dividends declared on cominoii 
stock (SO. 133 pCT" share) 

Accrued dividends on preferred 
stock 

Restricted Class B common stock 
purchased from employee 

Stock-based compensation 

Restricted stock issued to 
employees ̂ d directors 

Exercise of slock options 
Grants of Stock of subsidiary 
Exchange of Class B common 

stock for Preferred stock 
Other comprehensive inconie 
Net (loss) income for the year 

ended December 31,2012 

Genie Energy Ltd. Stockholders Noncontrolling Interests 

Preferred Slock 
Class A 

Common Stock 
Class B 

Common Stock 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Accumulated 
Additional Other 

Paid-in Treasury Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling 
Capital Stock Income (Loss) eamings Interests 

Receivable 
for 

issuance 
of 

equity 

— , (3.057) 

- (211) 

- (204) 
3,404 — 

1,605 13,639 — 

~ 49 — — 
— 1 — 5 
— - - (1.911) 

— (1,605) (16) (13,623) 
407 — 

- (3,281) 

25 

1.911 

(36) 

746 

Total 
Equity 

— (3.057) 

- (211) 

(204) 
3,429 

— 371 

- (2,535) 
BALANCE AT DECEMBEK 31, 

2012 1.605 $13,639 1374 $ 16 19,827 S 198 $ 80,196 $ (204) S 270 S 28,375 S ( 3 3 3 ) $ (1,000) $118,097 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

F-8 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands) 

Five Months 
Year ended ended 

December 31, December 31, 
2012 2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net (loss) income 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash 

(used in) provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Provision for doubtfiil accounts receivable 
Stock-based compensation 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Change in assets and liabilities: 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets and other assets 
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other 

current liabilities 
Advances fi-om customers 
Due to IDT Corporation 

• Income taxes payable 

$ (2,535) 

124 
4,508 

3,429 
3,175 

(233) 
(14,711) 

1,423 
638 

(783) 

6.275 
(781) 
(157) 

(1,380 ) 

(268) $ (2,555) $ 14,081 $ 

15 
(1,253) 

630 
2,095 

1,276 
(1,311) 
(1,795) 
(2,675) 

(1,595) 
806 
757 
961 

916 

24 
(684) 

66 
751 

5,238 

1,007 
(61) 

(1,095) 
156 

3,953 
(370) 

(954) 

86 
690 

8 
315 

1,603 

(7,941) 
1,426 

32 
763 

6,171 
976 

(1,352) 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net (loss) income 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash 

(used in) provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 
Stock-based compensation 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Change in assets and liabilities: 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets and other assets 
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other 

current Habilities 
Advances firom customers 
Due to IDT Corporation 
Income taxes payable . 

(2,535) $ 

124 
4,508 

3,429 
3,175 

(233) 
(14,711) 

1,423 
638 

(783) 

6,275 
(781) 
(157) 

(1.380) 

(268) $ (2.555) $ 14,081 $ 

15 
(1,253) 

630 
2.095 

1,276 
(1,311) 
(1,795) 
(2,675) 

(1,595) 
806 
757 
961 

24 
(684) 

66 
751 

5,238 

1,007 
(61) 

(1,095) 
156 

3,953 
(370) 

(954) 

86 
690 

8 
315 

1,603 

(7,941) 
1,426 

32 
763 

6,171 
976 

(1,352) 

916 

11 
(183) 

66 
800 

1,658 

676 
(816) 
(914) 
(312) 

(1,518) 
558 

(806) 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Capital expenditures 
Capital contributions to AMSO, LLC 
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash 
Issuance of notes receivable fi'om employees 
Purchase of licenses and security deposits 
Purchases of certificates of deposit 
Purchases of marketable securities 
Proceeds fi'om maturities of marketable securities 

(1,008) 

(91) 
(4,102) 

(650) 
(175) 

(2,205) 
(11,484) 

966 

(2,357) 

(134) 
(2,04()) 

(428) 

5,476 

(151) 
(3,943) 

309 

16,858 

(147) 
(1,991) 
8,996 

136 

(45) 
(2,514) 

(37) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Capital contribution fi-om IDT Corporation in connection 

with the spin-off 
Dividends paid 
Funding provided by (repaid to) IDT Corporation 
Proceeds from sales of stock of subsidiaries 
Repurchase ofnoncontrolling interests 
Proceeds fi'om exercise of stock options 
Increase in restricted cash 
Repurchases ofcommon stock and Class B common stock 

(17,741) 

(4,205) 

5 
(10,017 ) 

(204) 

(2,602 ) 

82,183 

1,120 

(3,785) 

571 
10,000 
(1,528) 

6,858 

(20,950 ) 
5,400 

(2,596) 

10,098 
10,000 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

(14.421) 

359 
(32,811) 
102,220 

$ 69,409 $ 

83,303 

78,344 
23,876 

102,220 $ 

9,043 

10,734 
13,142 
23,876 $ 

(15,550) 

8,166 
4,976 

13,142 $ 

20,098 

17,638 
13,142 
30,780 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW 
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INFORMATION 
Cash payments made for interest 
Cash payments made for income taxes 

$ 
$ 387 

$ 
$. 

394 $ 

— $•. 
5 $ 

3,337 $ 
— $ 

4,450 $ 
4 

1,935 
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH 

FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Forgiveness ofamount due from IDT Corporation 
Receivable for issuance ofequity of subsidiary 

$ 
$ 

— 
— 

$ 
$ 

2,107 $ 
— $ 

— $ 
1,000 $ 

14,859 $ 
— $ 

— • 

1,000 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

F-9 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 
Genie Energy Ltd. ("Genie"), a Delaware corporation, was incorporated in January 2011. Genie owns 99.3% of its subsidiary. Genie Energy 
Intemational Corporation ("GEIC"), which owns 96.4% of IDT Energy and 92% of Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. ("GOGAS"). Genie's principal 
businesses consist ofthe following: 

• IDT Energy, a retail energy provider ("REP") supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the 
Northeastem United States; and 

• Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels fi-om the world's abundant oil 
shale and other conventional and unconventional fuel resources, which consists of (1) American Shale Oil Corporation ("AMSO"), which 
holds and manages a 50% interest in American Shale Oil, L.L.C. ("AMSO, LLC"), the Company's oil shale project in Colorado, and 
(2) an 89% interest in Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd. ("lEI"), the Company's oil shale project in Israel. In addition, in February 2013, 
Genie Israel Oil and Gas, Ltd. ("GIOG") was awarded an exclusive three year petroleum license by the Govemment of Israel covering 
396.5 square kilometers in the southem portion ofthe Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant ofthe license 
is subject to challenge by the competing applicant for the license which may be filed within 30 days ofthe grant. 

lEI holds an exclusive Shale Oil Exploration and Production License that was awarded by the Govemment of Israel in July 2008. The license 
expires in July 2013. The license may be extended in one year increments until July 2015. 

The "Company" in these financial statements refers to Genie, IDT Energy and Genie Oil and Gas on a consolidated basis as if Genie existed and 
owned its subsidiaries in all periods presented, or fi-om the date an entity was acquired, if later. 

On January 30, 2012, the Company's Board ofDirectors changed the Company's fiscal year end from July 31 to December 31, in order to better 
align the Company's financial reporting with its operational and budgeting cycle and with other industry participants. The Company previously 
reported the results for its transitional period in a Transition Report on Form 10-Q for the five months from August 1, 2011 to December 31,2011. 

The Company's Spin-Off 
The Company was formerly a subsidiary of IDT Corporation ("IDT"). On October 28, 2011, the Company was spun-off by IDT and became an 
independent public company through a pro rata distribution ofthe Company's common stock to IDT's stockholders (the "Spin-Off). As a result of 
the Spin-Off, each of IDT's stockholders received: (i) one share of the Company's Class A common stock for every share of IDT's Class A 
common stock held ofrecord on October 21, 2011 (the "Record Date"), and (ii) one share ofthe Company's Class B common stock for every share 
of IDT's Class B common stock held ofrecord on the Record Date. On October 28, 2011, 1.6 million shares ofthe Company's Class A common 
stock, and 21.1 million shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock were issued and outstanding. 

Prior to the Spin-Off, IDT made a capital contribution of $82.2 million to the Company. In addition, in connection with the capital contribution 
received from IDT, the amount due fi-om IDT as ofthe date ofthe Spin-Off of $2.1 million was forgiven. 

The Company entered into various agreements with IDT prior to the Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 

Genie Energy Ltd. ("Genie"), a Delaware corporation, was incorporated in January 2011. Genie owns 99.3% of its subsidiary. Genie Energy 
Intemational Corporation ("GEIC"), which owns 96.4% of IDT Energy and 92% of Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. ("GOGAS"). Genie's principal 
businesses consist ofthe following: 

• IDT Energy, a retail energy provider ("REP") supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the 
Northeastem United States; and 

• Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's abundant oil 
shale and other conventional and unconventional fuel resources, which consists of (1) American Shale Oil Corporation ("AMSO"), which 
holds and manages a 50% interest in American Shale Oil, L.L.C. ("AMSO, LLC"), the Company's oil shale project in Colorado, and 
(2) an 89% interest in Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd. ("lEI"), the Company's oil shale project in Israel. In addition, in Febmary 2013, 
Genie Israel Oil and Gas, Ltd. ("GIOG") was awarded an exclusive three year petroleum license by the Govemment of Israel covering 
396.5 square kilometers in the southem portion ofthe Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant ofthe license 
is subject to challenge by the competing applicant for the license which may be filed within 30 days ofthe grant. 

lEI holds an exclusive Shale Oil Exploration and Production License that was awarded by the Govemment of Israel in July 2008. The license 
expires in July 2013. The license may be extended in one year increments until July 2015. 

The "Company" in these financial statements refers to Genie, IDT Energy and Genie Oil and Gas on a consolidated basis as if Genie existed and 
owned its subsidiaries in all periods presented, or fi-om the date an entity was acquired, if later. 

On January 30, 2012, the Company's Board ofDirectors changed the Company's fiscal year end firom July 31 to December 31, in order to better 
align the Company's financial reporting with its operational and budgeting cycle and with other industry participants. The Company previously 
reported the results for its transitional period in a Transition Report on Form 10-Q for the five months fi'om August 1,2011 to December 31, 2011. 

The Company's Spin-Off 
The Company was formeriy a subsidiary of IDT Corporation ("IDT"). On October 28, 2011, the Company was spun-offby IDT and became an 
independent public company through a pro rata distribution ofthe Company's common stock to IDT's stockholders (the "Spin-Off'). As a result of 
the Spin-Off, each of IDT's stockholders received: (i) one share of the Company's Class A common stock for every share of IDT's Class A 
common stock held ofrecord on October 21, 2011 (the "Record Date"), and (ii) one share ofthe Company's Class B common stock for every share 
of IDT's ClassB common stock held ofrecord on the Record Date. On October 28, 2011, 1.6 million sharesof the Company's Class A common 
stock, and 21.1 million shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock were issued and outstanding. 

Prior to the Spin-Off, IDT made a capital contribution of $82.2 million to the Company. In addition, in connection with the capital contribution 
received from IDT, the amount due from IDT as ofthe date ofthe Spin-Off of $2.1 million was forgiven. 

The Company entered into various agreements with IDT prior to the Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the 
separation and provide a framework for the Company's relationship with IDT after the Spin-Off, and a Transition Services Agreement, which 
provides for certain services to be performed by the Company and IDT to facilitate the Company's transition into a separate publicly-traded 
company. These agreements provide for, among other things, (1) the allocation between the Company and IDT of employee benefits, taxes and 
other liabilities and obligations attributable to periods prior to the Spin-Off, (2) transitional services to be provided by IDT relating to human 
resources and employee benefits admmistration, (3) the allocation of responsibilities relating to employee compensation and benefit plans and 
programs and other related matters, (4) finance, accounting, tax, intemal audit, facilities, investor relations and legal services to be provided by IDT 
to the Company following the Spin-Off and (5) specified administrative services to be provided by the Company to certain of IDT's foreign 
subsidiaries. 

In addition, the Company entered into a Tax Separation Agreement with IDT, which sets forth the responsibilities of the Company and IDT with 
respect to, among other things, liabilities for federal, state, local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the Spin-Off, the preparation 
and filing of tax returns for such periods and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods. Pursuant to the Tax Separation 
Agreement, among other things, IDT indemnifies the Company from all liability for taxes of IDT with respect to any taxable period, and the 
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Company indemnifies IDT from all liability for taxes ofthe Company with respect to any taxable period, including, without limitation, the ongoin| 
tax audits related to the Company's business. 

F-10 

Seasonality and Weather 
IDT Energy's revenues are impacted by, among other things, the weather and the seasons. Weather conditions have a significant impact on the 
demand for natural gas for heating and electricity for air conditioning. Typically, colder winters and hotter sunmiers increase demand for natural 
gas and electricity, respectively. Milder winters and/or summers have the opposite effect. Natural gas revenues typically increase in the first quarter 
due to increased heating demands, and electricity revenues typically increase in the third quarter due to increased air conditioning use. 
Approximately 47% and 50% of IDT Energy's natural gas revenues were generated in the first quarter ofthe years ended December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively, when demand for heating was highest. Although the demand for electricity is not as seasonal as natural gas, approximately 34% 
and 35% of IDT Energy's electricity revenues were generated in the third quarter ofthe years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

Reclassifications 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation: 

• In the consolidated statement of operations, excess electricity sold back to the NYISO (New York Independent System Operator, Inc.) 
of $7.5 million and $5.9 million in the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, previously included in revenues, have been 
reclassified as a reduction of direct cost ofrevenues; 

• In the consolidated balance sheet, advances fi-om customers of $2.3 million at December 31, 2011, previously netted in trade accounts 
receivable, have been reclassified as current liabilities; and 

• In the consolidated statements of cash flow, cash (used in) provided by advances from customers of $(0.4) million and $1.0 million in 
the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and $0.8 million and $0.6 million in the five months ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively, previously netted in trade accounts receivable, have been reclassified to advances from customers. 

Basis of Accounting and Consolidation 
For the periods prior to the Spin-Off, direct expenses historically incurred by IDT on behalf of the Company are reflected in these financial 
statements. The most significant expenses are as follows: Facility costs as well as certain salaries consisting of payroll, human resources, 
purchasing, accounts payable, treasury, network and telephone services, legal, travel, and consulting fees were allocated to the Company based on 
estimates ofthe incremental cost incurred by IDT. Medical and dental benefits were allocated to the Company based on rates similar to COBRA 
health benefit provision rates charged to former IDT employees. Stock-based compensation and retirement benefits under the defined contribution 
plan were allocated to the Company based on specific identification. Insurance was allocated to these entities based on a combination of headcount 
and specific policy identification. The assets and liabilities in these financial statements are recorded at historical cost. Management believes that 
the assumptions and methods of allocation used are reasonable. However, the costs as allocated are not necessarily indicative of the costs that 
would have been incurred if the Company operated on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, for the periods prior to the Spin-Off, the consolidated 
financial statements included herein may not necessarily be indicative of the results of operations, changes in equity and cash fiows of the 
Company had the Company been a separate stand-alone entity during the periods prior to the Spin-Off. 

The method of accounting applied to long-term investments, whether consolidated, equity or cost, involves an evaluation ofthe significant terms of 
each investment that explicitly grant or suggest evidence of control or influence over the operations of the investee and also includes the 
identification of any variable interests in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The consolidated financial statements include the 
Company's controlled subsidiaries and variable interest entities where the Company is the primary beneficiary (see Note 11). All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions between the consolidated entities are eliminated. 

Unaudited Financial Statements 
The accompanying consolidated statements ofoperations, comprehensive (loss) income, and cash flows for the five months ended December 31, 
2010 are unaudited. These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). In management's opinion, the unaudited consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, 
necessary for the fair presentation of the Company's consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the five months ended December 31, 
2010. 

Accounting for Investments 
Investments in businesses that the Company does not control, but in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over 
operating and financial matters, are accounted for using the equity method. The Company's investment In AMSO, LLC is accounted for using the 
equity method. The Company periodically evaluates its equity method investments for impairment due to declines considered to be other than 
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Seasonality and Weather 
IDT Energy's revenues are impacted by, among other things, the weather and the seasons. Weather conditions have a significant impact on the 
demand for natural gas for heating and electricity for air conditioning. Typically, colder winters and hotter summers increase demand for natural 
gas and electricity, respectively. Milder winters and/or summers have the opposite effect. Natural gas revenues typically increase in the first quarter 
due to increased heating demands, and electricity revenues typically increase in the third quarter due to increased air conditioning use. 

Approximately 47% and 50% of IDT Energy's natural gas revenues were generated in the first quarter ofthe years ended December 31, 2012 and 
20 II, respectively, when demand for heating was highest. Although the demand for electricity is not as seasonal as natural gas, approximately 34% 
and 35% of IDT Energy's electricity revenues were generated in the third quarter of theyears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

Reclassifications 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation: 

• In the consolidated statement ofoperations, excess electricity sold back to the NYISO (New York Independent System Operator, Inc.) 
of $7.5 million and $5.9 million in the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, previously included in revenues, have been 
reclassified as a reduction of direct cost ofrevenues; 

• In the consolidated balance sheet, advances from customers of $2.3 million at December 31, 2011, previously netted in trade accounts 
receivable, have been reclassified as current liabilities; and 

• In the consolidated statements of cash fiow, cash (used in) provided by advances from customers of $(0.4) million and $1.0 million in 
the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and $0.8 million and $0.6 million in the five months ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively, previously netted in trade accounts receivable, have been reclassified to advances from customers. 

Basis of Accounting and Consolidation 
For the periods prior to the Spin-Off, direct expenses historically incurred by IDT on behalf of the Company are refiected in these financial 
statements. The most significant expenses are as follows: Facility costs as well as certain salaries consisting of payroll, human resources, 
purchasing, accounts payable, treasury, network and telephone services, legal, travel, and consulting fees were allocated to the Company based on 
estimates ofthe incremental cost incurred by IDT. Medical and dental benefits were allocated to the Company based on rates similar to COBRA 
health benefit provision rates charged to former IDT employees. Stock-based compensation and retirement benefits under the defined contribution 
plan were allocated to the Company based on specific identification. Insurance was allocated to these entities based on a combination of headcount 
and specific policy identification. The assets and liabilities in these financial statements are recorded at historical cost. Management believes that 
the assumptions and methods of allocation used are reasonable. However, the costs as allocated are not necessarily indicative of the costs that 
would have been incurred if the Company operated on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, for the periods prior to the Spin-Off, the consolidated 
financial statements included herein may not necessarily be indicative of the results of operations, changes in equity and cash fiows of the 
Company had the Company been a separate stand-alone entity during the periods prior to the Spin-Off. 

The method of accounting applied to long-term investments, whether consolidated, equity or cost, involves an evaluation ofthe significant terms of 
each investment that explicitly grant or suggest evidence of control or infiuence over the operations of the investee and also includes the 
identification of any variable interests in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The consolidated financial statements include the 
Company's controlled subsidiaries and variable interest entities where the Company is the primary beneficiary (see Note 11). All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions between the consolidated entities are eliminated. 

Unaudited Financial Statements 
The accompanying consolidated statements ofoperations, comprehensive (loss) income, and cash flows for the five months ended December 31, 
2010 are unaudited. These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). In management's opinion, the unaudited consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, 
necessary for the fair presentation ofthe Company's consolidated results ofoperations and cash fiows for the five months ended December 31, 
2010. 

Accountingfor Investments 
Investments in businesses that the Company does not control, but in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over 
operating and financial matters, are accounted for using the equity method. The Company's investment in AMSO, LLC is accounted for using the 
equity method. The Company periodically evaluates its equity method investments for impairment due to declines considered to be other than 
temporary. If the Company determines that a decline in fair value is other than temporary, then a charge to eamings would be recorded, and a new 
basis in the investment is established. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
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amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

F-11 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenues from IDT Energy's sale of electricity and natural gas are recognized under the accmal method based on deliveries of electricity and 
natural gas to customers. Revenues from electricity and natural gas delivered but not yet billed are estimated and recorded as accounts receivable. 
Cash received in advance from customers under billing arrangement is reported as deferred revenue and is included in "Advances from customers" 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Genie Oil and Gas does not yet generate revenues. 

Direct Cost of Revenues 
Direct cost of revenues for IDT Energy consists primarily of the cost of natural gas and electricity sold, and also includes scheduling costs, 
Independent System Operator fees, pipeline costs and utility service charges. In addition, the changes in the fair value of IDT Energy's forward 
contracts and put and call options are recorded in direct cost ofrevenues. Genie Oil and Gas does not yet incur direct cost ofrevenues as primarily 
all of its expenses are classified as research and development. 

Research and Development Costs 
Research and development costs consist of expenses incurred by lEI. Costs for research and development are charged to expense as incurred. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

Marketable Securities 
The Company classifies its investments in marketable securities as "available-for-sale." Available-for-sale securities are required to be carried at 
their fair value, with unrealized gains and losses (net of income taxes) that are considered temporary in nature recorded in "Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company periodically evaluates its investments in marketable 
securities for impairment due to declines in market value considered to be other than temporary. Such impairment evaluations include, in addition 
to persistent, declining market prices, general economic and Company-specific evaluations. If the Company determines that a decline in market 
value is other than temporary, then a charge to operations is recorded in "Other (expense) income, net" in the accompanying consolidated 
statements ofoperations and a new cost basis in the investment is established. 

Inventory 
Inventory consists of natural gas which is stored at various third parties' underground storage facilities. Inventory is valued at a weighted average 
cost. The cost is based on the purchase price ofthe natural gas, cost to transport, plus or minus injections or withdrawals. 

Property and Equipment 
Computer software and development, computers and computer hardware, laboratory equipment and office equipment and other are recorded at cost 
and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range as follows: computer software and development—2, 3 or 
5 years; computers and computer hardware—5 years, laboratory equipment 7 years, and office equipment and other —5 or 7 years. Leasehold 
improvements included in office equipment and other are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of their lease or 
their estimated useful lives, whichever is shorter. 

Long-Lived Assets 
The Company tests the recoverability of its long-lived assets with finite useful lives whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. The Company tests the recoverability based on the projected undiscounted cash flows to be 
derived from such asset. If the projected undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the asset, the Company will record an 
impairment loss based on the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying value ofthe asset. The Company generally measures fair 
value by considering sale prices for similar assets or by discounting estimated future cash fiows from such asset using an appropriate discount rate. 
Cash flow projections and fair value estimates require significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should the estimates and assumptions 
prove to be incorrect, the Company may be required to record impairments in future periods and such impairments could be material. 

Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets 
Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of businesses over the fair value ofthe identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill and other indefinite 
lived intangible assets are not amortized. These assets are reviewed annually (or more frequently under various conditions) for impairment using a 
fair value approach. The goodwill impairment assessment involves estimating the fair value ofthe reportmg unit and comparing it to its carrying 
amount, which is known as Step 1. If the carrying value ofthe reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. Step 2 is performed to determine if an 
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Revenue Recognition 
Revenues from IDT Energy's sale of electricity and natural gas are recognized under the accrual method based on deliveries of electricity and 
natural gas to customers. Revenues from electricity and natural gas delivered but not yet billed are estimated and recorded as accounts receivable. 
Cash received in advance from customers under billing arrangement is reported as deferred revenue and is included in "Advances from customers" 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Genie Oil and Gas does not yet generate revenues. 

Direct Cost of Revenues 
Direct cost of revenues for IDT Energy consists primarily of the cost of natural gas and electricity sold, and also includes scheduling costs. 
Independent System Operator fees, pipeline costs and utility service charges. In addition, the changes in the fair value of IDT Energy's forward 
contracts and put and call options are recorded in direct cost ofrevenues. Genie Oil and Gas does not yet incur direct cost ofrevenues as primarily 
all of its expenses are classified as research and development. 

Research and Development Costs 
Research and development costs consist of expenses incurred by lEI. Costs for research and development are charged to expense as incurred. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

Marketable Securities 
The Company classifies its investments in marketable securities as "available-for-sale." Available-for-sale securities are required to he carried at 
their fair value, with unrealized gains and losses (net of income taxes) that are considered temporary in nature recorded in "Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company periodically evaluates its investments in marketable 
securities for impairment due to declines in market value considered to be other than temporary. Such impairment evaluations include, in addition 
to persistent, declining market prices, general economic and Company-specific evaluations. If the Company determines that a decline in market 
value is other than temporary, then a charge to operations is recorded in "Other (expense) income, net" in the accompanying consolidated 
statements ofoperations and a new cost basis in the investment is established. 

Inventory 
Inventory consists of natural gas which is stored at various third parties' underground storage facilities. Inventory is valued at a weighted average 
cost. The cost is based on the purchase price ofthe natural gas, cost to transport, plus or minus injections or withdrawals. 

Property and Equipment 
Computer software and development, computers and computer hardware, laboratory equipment and office equipment and other are recorded at cost 
and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range as follows: computer software and development—2, 3 or 
5 years; computers and computer hardware—5 years, laboratory equipment 7 years, and office equipment and other —5 or 7 years. Leasehold 
improvements included in office equipment and other are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of their lease or 
their estimated useful lives, whichever is shorter. 

Long-Lived Assets 
The Company tests the recoverability of its long-lived assets with finite useful lives whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value ofthe asset may not be recoverable. The Company tests the recoverability based on the projected undiscounted cash flows to be 
derived from such asset. If the projected undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value ofthe asset, the Company will record an 
impairment loss based on the difference between the estimated fair value and the canying value ofthe asset. The Company generally measures fair 
value by considering sale prices for similar assets or by discounting estimated future cash fiows from such asset using an appropriate discount rate. 
Cash flow projections and fair value estimates require significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should the estimates and assumptions 
prove to be incorrect, the Company may be required to record impairments in fiiture periods and such impairments could be material. 

Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets 
Goodwill is the excess ofthe acquisition cost of businesses over the fair value ofthe identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill and other indefinite 
lived intangible assets are not amortized. These assets are reviewed annually (or more frequently under various conditions) for impairment using a 
fair value approach. The goodwill impairment assessment involves estimating the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing it to its carrying 
amount, which is known as Step 1. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, Step 2 is performed to determine if an 
impairment of goodwill is required. The fair value of the reporting unit is estimated using discounted cash flow methodologies, as well as 
considering third party market value indicators. Goodwill impairment is measured by the excess ofthe carrying amount ofthe reporting unit's 
goodwill over its implied feir value. Calculating the fair value of the reporting units, and allocating the estimated fair value to all of the tangible 
assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions by management. Should the estimates and assumptions 
regarding the fair value of the reporting units prove to be incorrect, the Company may be required to record impairments to its goodwill in future 
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periods and such impairments could be material. The Company's goodwill is allocated to the IDT Energy operating segment. There was no change 
to the carrying value ofgoodwill in all reported periods. 

F-12 

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted the accounting standard update to simplify how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. The 
amendments in the update allow an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perfonn the two-step quantitative 
goodwill impairment test. An entity is no longer required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit (Step 1) unless the entity determines, based 
on a qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that the fair value ofthe reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The adoption of 
this standard update did not impact the Company's financial position, results ofoperations or cash flows. 

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted the accounting standard update to reduce the complexity of performing an impairment test for 
indefinite-lived intangible assets by simplifying how an entity tests those assets for impairment and to improve consistency in impairment testing 
guidance among long-lived asset categories. The adopted updated standard permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether 
it is more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the 
quantitative impairment test. Prior to the adoption of this update, an entity was required to test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment, on 
at least an annual basis, by comparing the fair value ofthe asset with its carrying amount. The adoption of this standard update did not impact the 
Company's financial position, results ofoperations or cash flows. 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 
The Company records its derivatives instmments at their respective fair values. The accounting for changes in the fair value (that is, gains or 
losses) of a derivative instmment is dependent upon whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and 
further, on the type of hedging relationship. 

IDT Energy supplies electricity and naharal gas to its retail customers. IDT Energy utilizes forward physical delivery contracts for a portion of its 
purchases of elecfricity and natural gas, which are defined as commodity derivative confracts. Using the exemption available for qualifying 
contracts, IDT Energy applies the normal purchase and normal sale accounting freatment to its forward physical delivery contracts. Accordingly, 
IDT Energy recognizes revenue from customer sales as electricity and natural gas is delivered to retail customers, and the related electricity or 
natural gas under the forward physical delivery contract is recognized as direct cost ofrevenues when it is received from suppliers. In addition, IDT 
Energy enters irUo put and call options as hedges against unfavorable fluctuations in market prices of electricity and natural gas. The forward 
contracts and put and call options are recorded at fair value as a current asset or liability and any changes in fair value are recorded in "Direct cost 
ofrevenues" in the consolidated statements ofoperations. 

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted the accounting standard update to enhance disclosures and provide converged disclosures in U.S. GAAP 
and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") about derivative instruments that are either offset on the statement of flnancial position 
or subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether they are offset on the statement of financial 
position. Entities are required to provide both net and gross information for those assets and liabilities in order to enhance comparability between 
entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis of U.S. GAAP and entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis of IFRS. 
The adoption of this standard update did not impact Company's financial position, results ofoperations or cash fiows. 

Repairs and Maintenance 
The Company charges the cost of repairs and maintenance, including the cost of replacing minor items not constituting substantial betterment, to 
selling, general and adminisfrative expenses as these costs are incurred. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are translated to U.S. Dollars at end-of-period rates of exchange, and 
their monthly results ofoperations are translated to U.S. Dollars at the average rates of exchange for that month. Gains or losses resulting from 
such foreign currency translations are recorded in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are reported in "Other (expense) income, net" in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations. 

Advertising Expense 
Cost of advertising and commissions for customer acquisitions are charged to selling, general and administrative expenses in the period in which it 
is incurred. Most ofthe advertisements are in prmt, over the radio, or direct mail. In the year ended December 31, 2012, the years ended July 31, 
2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited), advertising expense included in selling, general and 
administrative expense was $0.8 million, $1.6 million, $0.1 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively. 
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On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted the accounting standard update to simplify how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. The 
amendments in the update allow an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative 
goodwill impairment test. An entity is no longer required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit (Step 1) unless the entity determines, based 
on a qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that the fair value ofthe reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The adoption of 
this standard update did not impact the Company's financial position, results ofoperations or cash flows. 

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted the accountmg standard update to reduce the complexity of performing an impairment test for 
indefinite-lived intangible assets by simplifying how an entity tests those assets for impairment and to improve consistency in impairment testing 
guidance among long-lived asset categories. The adopted updated standard permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether 
it is more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the 
quantitative impairment test. Prior to the adoption of this update, an entity was required to test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment, on 
at least an annual basis, by comparing the fair value ofthe asset with its carrying amount. The adoption of this standard update did not impact the 
Company's flnancial position, results ofoperations or cash flows. 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 
The Company records its derivatives instmments at their respective fair values. The accounting for changes in the fair value (that is, gains or 
losses) of a derivative instmment is dependent upon whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and 
fiarther, on the type of hedging relationship. 

IDT Energy supplies electricity and natural gas to its retail customers. IDT Energy utilizes forward physical delivery contracts for a portion of its 
purchases of electricity and natural gas, which are defined as commodity derivative confracts. Using the exemption available for qualifying 
contracts, IDT Energy applies the normal purchase and normal sale accounting treatment to its forward physical delivery contracts. Accordingly, 
IDT Energy recognizes revenue from customer sales as electricity and natural gas is delivered to retail customers, and the related electricity or 
natural gas under the forward physical delivery confract is recognized as direct cost of revenues when it is received from suppliers. In addition, IDT 
Energy enters into put and call options as hedges against unfavorable fiuctuations in market prices of electricity and natural gas. The forward 
contracts and put and call options are recorded at fair value as a current asset or liability and any changes in fair value are recorded in "Direct cost 
ofrevenues" in the consolidated statements ofoperations. 

On January 1. 2013, the Company adopted the accounting standard update to enhance disclosures and provide converged disclosures in U.S. GAAP 
and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") ahout derivative instmments that are either offset on the statement of financial position 
or subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar a^eement, irrespective of whether they are offset on the statement of financial 
position. Entitles are required to provide both net and gross information for those assets and liabilities in order to enhance comparability between 
entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis of U.S. GAAP and entities that prepare their financial statements on the basis of IFRS. 
The adoption of this standard update did not impact Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

Repairs and Maintenance 
The Company charges the cost of repairs and maintenance, including the cost of replacing minor items not constituting substantial betterment, to 
selling, general and administrative expenses as these costs are incurred. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are translated to U.S. Dollars at end-of-period rates of exchange, and 
their monthly results of operations are translated to U.S. Dollars at the average rates of exchange for that month. Gains or losses resulting from 
such foreign currency translations are recorded in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. Foreign currency fransaction gains and losses are reported in "Other (expense) income, net" in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations. 

Advertising Expense 
Cost of advertising and commissions for customer acquisitions are charged to selling, general and administrative expenses in the period in which it 
is incurred. Most ofthe advertisements are in print, over the radio, or direct mail. In the year ended December 31, 2012, the years ended July 31, 
2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited), advertising expense included in selling, general and 
adminisfrative expense was $0.8 million, $1.6 million, $0.1 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively. 
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Income Taxes 
For the periods prior to the Spin-Off, the accompanying financial statements include provisions for federal, state and foreign income taxes on a 
separate tax retum basis. 

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the 
financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. A valuation allowance is provided when it is 
more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on 
the generation of future taxable income during the period in which related temporary differences become deductible. The Company considers the 
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in its assessment of a valuation allowance. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized 
in income in the period that includes the enactment date of such change. 

The Company uses a two-step approach for recognizing and measuring tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in a tax retum. The Company 
determines whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or 
litigation processes, based on the technical merits ofthe position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition 
threshold, the Company presumes that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant 
information. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured to determine the amount of tax benefit to 
recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement. Differences between tax positions taken in a tax retum and amounts recognized in the financial statements will 
generally result in one or more ofthe following: an increase in a liability for income taxes payable, a reduction ofan income tax refund receivable, 
a reduction in a deferred tax asset, or an increase in a deferred tax liability. 

The Company classifies interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of income tax expense. 

Contingencies 
The Company accrues for loss contingencies when both (a) information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is 
probable that a liability had been incurred at the date ofthe financial statements and (b) the amount of loss can reasonably be estimated. When the 
Company accrues for loss contingencies and the reasonable estimate ofthe loss is whhin a range, the Company records its best estimate within the 
range. When no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the Company accmes the minimum amount in the range. The 
Company discloses an estimated possible loss or a range of loss when it is at least reasonably possible that a loss may have been incurred. 

Earnings Per Share 
Basic eamings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to all classes of common stockholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of shares of all classes of common stock outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted eamings per share is determined in the 
same manner as basic eamings per share, except that the number ofshares is increased to include restricted stock still subject to risk of forfeiture 
and to assume exercise of potentially dilutive stock options usmg the treasury stock method, unless the effect of such increase is anti-dilutive. The 
eamings per share for the periods prior to the Spin-Off were calculated as if the number of shares outstanding at the Spin-Off were outstanding 
during those periods. 

The weighted-average number of shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted eamings per share attributable to the Company's common 
stockholders consists ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudhed) 

Basic weighted-average number ofshares 
Effect of dilutive securities: 

Stock options 

20,687 20,366 20.365 20,365 
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20,365 

Non-vested restricted Class B common stock 
Diluted weighted-average number ofshares 

— 
20,687 

2,131 
22,497 

1,977 
22,342 

1,977 
22,342 

1,977 
22,342 
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The following shares were excluded from the diluted eamings per share computations because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 
457 

1,896 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

— 
— 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 
— 
— 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 
— 
— 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
— 
— 

Stock options 
Non-vested restricted Class B common stock 
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings 

per share - •____ 2.353 

The diluted loss per share equals basic loss per share in the year ended December 31, 2012 because the Company had a net loss and the impact of 
the assumed exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock would have been anti-dilutive. 

The dividends on the 1.6 million shares ofthe Company's Series 2012-A preferred stock issued in October 2012 as well as the 0.3 million shares of 
the Company's Series 2012-A preferred stock issued in March 2013 (see Note 9) are expected to reduce net income available to common 
stockholders by $1.2 million each year. 

An entity affiliated with Lord (Jacob) Rothschild has a one time option through November 12, 2017 to exchange its GOGAS shares for shares of 
the Company with equal fair value as determined by the parties (see Note 9). The number ofshares issuable in such an exchange is not currently 
determinable. If this option is exercised, the shares issued by the Company may dilute the eamings per share in future periods. 

Stock-Based Compensation 
The Company recognizes compensation expense for grants of stock-based awards to its employees based on the estimated fair value on the grant 
date. Stock based awards granted to nonemployees are marked-to-market until the vesting of the award. Compensation cost for awards is 
recognized using the straight-line method over the vesting period. Stock-based compensation is included in selling, general and administrative 
expense. 

Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations 
Financial instmments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents and trade 
accounts receivable. The Company holds cash and cash equivalents at several major fmancial institutions, which often exceed FDIC insured limits. 
Historically, the Company has not experienced any losses due to such concentration of credit risk. The Company's temporary cash investments 
policy is to limit the dollar amount of investments with any one financial institution and monitor the credit ratings of those institutions. While the 
Company may be exposed to credit losses due to the nonperformance ofthe holders of its deposits, the Company does not expect the settlement of 
these transactions to have a material effect on its results ofoperations, cash flows or financial condition. 

IDT Energy reduces Its credit risk by participating in purchase of receivable programs for a significant portion of its receivables. Utilify companies 
provide billing and collection services, purchase IDT Energy's receivables and assume all credit risk without recourse to IDT Energy. IDT 
Energy's primary credit risk is therefore nonpayment by the utility companies. Certain ofthe utility companies represent significant portions ofthe 
Company's consolidated revenues and consolidated gross frade accounts receivable balance and such concentrations increase the Company's risk 
associated with nonpayment by those utility companies. 

The following table summarizes the percentage of consolidated revenues from customers by utility company that equal or exceed 10% of 
consolidated revenues in the period (no other single utilify company accounted for more than 10% ofconsolidated revenues in any ofthe periods): 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 
34% 
na 
na 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

52% 
14% 
na 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 
47% 
17% 
10% 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 
50% 
21% 
12% 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
55% 
16% 
na 

: Con Edison 
National Grid USA 
National Grid dba Keyspan 

na-less than 10% ofconsolidated revenue in the period 
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The following table summarizes the percentage ofconsolidated gross trade accounts receivable by utility company that equal or exceed 10% of 
consolidated gross trade accounts receivable at December 31, 2012 and 2011: 

December 31 2012 2011 
Con Edison 
Penelec 
National (jrid USA 
National Grid dba Keyspan 

na-less than 10% of consolidated gross trade accounts receivable at December 31, 2012 or 2011 

19% 
10% 
na 
na 

34% 
na 
17% 
11% 

F-15 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
The allowance for doubtfiil accounts refiects the Company's best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. The 
allowance is determined based on known troubled accounts, historical experience and other currently available evidence. Doubtful accounts are 
written-off upon final determination that the trade accounts will not be collected. The change in the allowance for doubtfiil accounts was as 
follows: 

(in thousands) 

Additions 
Balance at charged to 

beginning of costs and Balance at 
period expenses Deductions(l) end of period 

Year ended December 31,2012 
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable: 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Five months ended Pecember 31,2011 

Reserves deducted from accounts receivable; 
Allowance for doubtfUl accounts 

Year ended July 31.2011 
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable: 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Year ended July 31,2010 

Reserves deducted from accounts receivable: 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 

Five months ended Pecember 31,2010 
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable: 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 

130 $ 

130 $ 

170 $ 

162 $ 

170 $ 

66 $ (106) $ 

66 $ (106) $ 

130 

130 

130 

170 

130 

(1) Uncollectible accounts written off. 

Fair Value Measurements 
Fair value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities is defined as an exit price, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liabJHfy in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The three-tier hierarchy for inputs used to 
measure fair value, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, is as follows: 

Level 1 -quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 - quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liabilify, either directly or 

indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the fiall term ofthe financial instmment. 
Level 3 -unobservable inputs based on the Company's assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. 

A financial asset or liability's classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the 
valuation ofthe assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy. 
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Allowance for Doubtfid Accounts 
The allowance for doubtfiil accounts reflects the Company's best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. The 
allowance is determined based on known troubled accounts, historical experience and other currently available evidence. Doubtful accounts are 
written-off upon final determination that the trade accounts will not be collected. The change in the allowance for doubtfiil accounts was as 
follows: 

(in thousands) 

Additions 
Balance at charged to 

beginning of costs and Balance at 
period expenses Deductions(l) end of period 

Year ended December 31,2012 
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable: 

Allowance for doubtfiil accounts 
Five months ended December 31,2011 

Reserves deducted from accounts receivable: 
AllowMice for doubtful accounts 

Year ended July 31, 2011 
Reserves deducted from accoimts receivable: 

Allowance for doubtfial accounts 
Year ended July 31,2010 

Reserves deducted froin accounts receivable: 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 

Five months ended December 31.2010 
Reserves deducted from accounts receivable; 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 

130 $ 

130 $ 

170 $ 

162 $ 

170 $ 

66 $ (106) $ 

66 $ (106) $ 

130 

130 

130 

170 

130 

(1) Uncollectible accounts written off. 

Fair Value Measurements 
Fair value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities is defined as an exit price, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to fransfer a liabilify in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The three-tier hierarchy for inputs used to 
measure fah value, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, is as follows: 

Level 1 -quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 - quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 

indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term ofthe financial instmment. 
Level 3 -unobservable inputs based on the Company's assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. 

A financial asset or liability's classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the 
valuation ofthe assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy. 

On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted the accounting standard update to achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements 
in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The amendments in this update (1) clarify the application of certain existing fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements and (2) change certain principles or requirements for measuring fair value or disclosing information about fair value measurements. 
The adoption of this standard update did not impact the Company's financial position, results ofoperations or cash fiows. 

Note 2—Fair Value Measurements 

The following table presents the balance of assets and liabilities at December 31, 2012 measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

(in thousands) 
Assets'. 

Corporate debt securities 
Derivative confracts 
Total 

Level 1 (1) 

$ 925 

$ 925 

Level 2 (2) 

$ 9,560 
308 

$ 9.868 

Level 3 (3) 

$ _ 

$ — 

$ 

$ 

Total 

10,485 
308 

10,793 
Liabilities: 
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Derivative confracts 152 $ 152 

(1) - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(2) - observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities 
(3) - no observable pricing inputs in the market 

F-16 

The Company's derivative confracts consist of natural gas and electricity call and put options and natural gas future contracts in which the 
underlying asset is a forward contract, which are classified as Level 2. These derivatives are valued using observable inputs based on quoted market 
prices in active markets for similar call options. 

The Company's subsidiary, GOGAS, issued a stock option and warrants. The GOGAS stock option was issued in June 2011 and is exercisable 
until April 9, 2015 at an exercise price of $5.0 million. The GOGAS warrants were issued in November 2010 and expired on November 12, 2011. 
The Company's subsidiary, GEIC, issued a stock option in April 2010 that was exchanged in June 2011 for the GOGAS stock option. At December 
31, 2012, the fair value ofthe GOGAS stock option was nil. The GOGAS warrants, GOGAS stock option and GEIC stock option were classified as 
Level 3 in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited) andtheyearsended July 31, 2011 and 2010. 

The following tables summarize the change in the balance ofthe Company's liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3): 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 
S — 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ (101) 

60 

41 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2011 
$ (200) 

(86) 

(41) 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 
$ ~ 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
$ (200) 

(280) 

(500) 

Balance, begmning of period 
Total gains (losses) (realized or unrealized): 

Included in eamings in "Other (expense) income, net' 
Included in eamings in "Selling, general and 
adminisfrative expense" 

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements: 
Issuance 
Settlement 

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 

(200) 
226 

Balance, end of period S — $ , — $ (101) $ (200) $ (980) 
The amount of total gains (losses) for the period 

attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses 
relating to liabilities still held at the end ofthe period; 

Included in earnings in "Otiier (expense) income, net" S 
Included in eamings in "Selling, general and 

administrative expense" $ 

- $ 

— $ 

60 — $ 

(41) $ 

— $ 

— $ 

(280) 

(500) 

There were no assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) durmg the year ended December 
31, 2012, the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited) and the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010. 

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 
The estimated fair value ofthe Company's other financial instmments was determined using available market information or other appropriate 
valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting this data to develop estimates of fair value. Consequently, the 
estimates are not necessarily indicative ofthe amounts that could be realized or would be paid in a current market exchange. 

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit, prepaid expenses, other current assets, advances from customers, dividends 
payable, due to IDT Corporation and other current liabilities. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the carrying amount ofthese assets and liabilities 
approximates fair value because ofthe short period of time to maturity. The fair value estimates for cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash were 
classified as Level 1 and certificates of deposit, prepaid expenses, other current assets, advances from customers, dividends payable, due to IDT 
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The Company's derivative confracts consist of natural gas and electricify call and put options and natural gas future contracts in which the 
underlying asset is a forward confract, which are classified as Level 2. These derivatives are valued using observable inputs based on quoted market 
prices in active markets for similar call options. 

The Company's subsidiary, GOGAS, issued a stock option and warrants. The GOGAS stock option was issued in June 2011 and is exercisable 
until April 9, 2015 at an exercise price of $5.0 million. The GOGAS warrants were issued in November 2010 and expired on November 12, 2011. 
The Company's subsidiary, GEIC, issued a stock option in April 2010 that was exchanged in June 2011 for the GOGAS stock option. At December 
31, 2012, the fair value ofthe GOGAS stock option was nil. The GOGAS warrants, GOGAS stock option and GEIC stock option were classified as 
Level 3 in the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited) andtheyearsended July 31, 2011 and 2010. 

The following tables summarize the change in the balance ofthe Company's liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3); 

Five Months 
Five Months ended 

Yearended ended Yearended Yearended December 31, 
December 31, December 31, July 31, July 31, 2010 

(in thousands) 2012 2011 2011 2010 (Unaudited) 
Balance, begmning of period $ — $ (101) $ (200) $ — $ (200) 
Total gains (losses) (realized or unrealized): 

Included in earnings ui "()ther (expense) income, net" — 60 (86) — (280) 
Included in earnings in "Selling, general and 
adminisfrative expense" — 41 (41) — (500) 

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements: 
Issuance — — — (200) — 
Settlement — — 226 — — 

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 
Balance, end of period $ — $ — $ (101) $ (200) $ (980) 
The amount of total gains (losses) for the period 

attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses 
relating to liabilities still held at the end ofthe period; 

Included in eamings in "Other (expense) income, net" $ 
Included in eamings in "Selling, general and 

adminisfrative expense" $ 

— $ 

— $ 

60 — $ 

(41) $ 

— $ 

— $ 

(280) 

(500) 

There were no assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the year ended December 
31, 2012, the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (unaudited) and the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010. 

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 
The estimated fafr value of the Company's other financial instruments was determined using available market information or other appropriate 
valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting this data to develop estimates of fair value. Consequently, the 
estimates are not necessarily indicative ofthe amounts that could be realized or would be paid in a current market exchange. 

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, certificates of deposit, prepaid expenses, other current assets, advances from customers, dividends 
payable, due to IDT Corporation and other current liabilities. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the carrying amount ofthese assets and liabilities 
approximates fair value because ofthe short period of time to maturify. The fair value estimates for cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash were 
classified as Level 1 and certificates of deposit, prepaid expenses, other current assets, advances from customers, dividends payable, due to IDT 
Corporation and other current liabilities were classified as Level 2 ofthe fair value hierarchy. 

Other assets. At December 31, 2012, other assets included an aggregate of $0.7 million in notes receivable from employees. The carrying amounts 
ofthe notes receivable approximate fair value. The fair value ofthe notes receivable was estimated based on the Company's assumptions, and were 
classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. At December 31, 2011,there were no financial instmments included in other assets. 

Note 3—Derivative Instruments 

The primary risk managed by the Company using derivative instmments is commodity price risk. Natural gas and electricity forward and fiiture 
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confracts and put and call options are entered into as hedges against unfavorable fluctuations in market prices of natural gas and elecfricity. The 
Company does not apply hedge accounting to IDT Energy's forward confracts and put and call options, therefore the changes in fair value are 
recorded in earnings. 

Thesummarized volume of IDT Energy's outstanding call and put options and future contracts as ofDecember 31, 2012 was as follows: 

Commodity 
Electricity 
Elecfricity 
Natural gas 
Natural gas 

Settlement Dates 
J£uiuary2013 
Febmary 2013 
Febraaiy 2013 
August 2013 

Volume 
79,200 MWh 
72,000 MWh 
2-Od6;000 Dth 
350,000 Dth 

F-17 

The fair value of outstanding derivative instmments recorded as assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

Asset Derivatives Balance Sheet Location 

Derivatives not designated or not qualifying as hedging 
instmments: 

Energy confracts and options Other current assets $ 308 $ 446 

The fair value of outstanding derivative insfruments recorded as liabilities m the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

Liability Derivatives Balance Sheet Location 

Derivatives not designated or not qualifying as hedging 
instmments: 

Energy confracts and options Other current liabilities $ 152 $ 938 

The effects of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations were as follows: 

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized on Derivatives 

(in thousands) 

Derivatives not designated or 
not qualifying as hedging 
instmments: 
Energy confracts and 
options 

GOGAS warrants 

GOGAS stock option 

GEIC stock option 

Total 

Location of Gain (Loss) 
Recognized on 
Derivatives 

Direct cost of 
revenues 
Selling, general and 
adminisfrative expense 
Other (expense) 

income, net 
Other(expense) 
income, net 

$ 

$ 

Year ended 
December 

31,2012 

(258) 

— 

— 

— 

(258) 

$ 

$ 

Five 
Months 

ended 
December 

31,2011 

(1,326) 

41 

60 

— 

(1,225) 

Year ended 
July 31, 2011 

$ 151 

(41) 

(86) 

— 

$ 24 

$ 

$. 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

406 

— 

— 

— 

406 

Five Months 
ended 

December 
31,2010 

(Unaudited) 

$ 104 

— 

— 

(280) 

$ (176) 
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The fair value of outstanding derivative instmments recorded as assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

Asset Derivatives Balance Sheet Location 
Derivatives not designated or not qualifying as hedging 

mstmments: 
Energy contracts and options Other current assets • $ 308 $ 446 

The fair value of outstanding derivative insfruments recorded as liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

Liability Derivatives Balance Sheet Location 
Derivatives not designated or not qualifying as hedging 

insfruments: 
Energy confracts and options Other current liabilities • $ 152 $ 938 

The effects of derivative insfruments on the consolidated statements ofoperations were as follows: 

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized on Derivatives 

(in thousands) 

Derivatives not designated or 
not qualifying as hedging 
instmments: 
Energy confracts and 
options 

GOGAS warrants 

GOGAS stock option 

GEIC stock option 
Total 

Location of Gain (Loss) 
Recognized on 
Derivatives 

Dfrect cost of 
revenues 
Selling, general and 
adminisfrative expense 
Other (expense) 

income, net 
Other (expense) 
income, net 

Year ended 
December 

31,2012 

$ (258) 

— 

— 

— 
$ (258) 

$ 

$ 

Five 
Months 

ended 
December 

31,2011 

(1,326) 

41 

60 

— 
(1,225) 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 2011 

$ 151 

(41) 

(86) 

— 
$ 24 

$ 

$ 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

406 

— 

— 

— 
406 

Five Months 
ended 

December 
31,2010 

(Unaudited) 

$ 104 

— 

— 

(280) 
$ (176) 

At December 31 ,2012 and 2011, the Company's energy contracts and options were all traded on the New York Mercantile Exchange which 
mitigated the Company's exposure to credit loss from nonperformance by the counterparty. 

OnOctober 31,2011,MF Global, the Company's former clearing broker, filed for bankmptcy protection. On that date, IDT Energy held $1.65 
million of cash on deposit with MF Global in support of hedging positions related to IDT Energy's commodity supply. Assets held by MF Global 
were placed under the control ofthe court appointed bankmptcy tmstee to be released as deemed appropriate. In November 2011, the Company 
transferred its hedging securities to an altemative clearing broker. In October 2011, the Company recognized a $0.45 million loss, relating to its 
cash deposit with MF Global, based on management's best estimate ofthe unrecoverable amount. In November 2012, the Company received $0.6 
milHon from a sale ofthe amount due from MF Global and recognized a gain of $0.3 million. 

Note 4—Marketable Securities 

The following is a summary of marketable securities: 
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Gross Gross 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized 

(in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 
December 31, 2012: 

Availablc-for-sale securities: 
Corporate debt securities $ , 10,500 $ 35 S (50) S 10.485 

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities inthe year ended December 31, 2012 were $1.0 million. There were no realized gains or 
losses in the year ended December 31,2012. The Company did not have any marketable securities in the five months ended December 31,2011 
and 2010 (unaudited) and the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company uses the specific identification method in computing the gross 
realized gains and gross realized losses on the maturities and sales of marketable securities. 

F-18 

The confractual maturities ofthe Company's available-for-sale corporate debt securities at December 31, 2012 were as follows: 

(in thousand^) Fair Value 
Withm one year $ 9,945 
After one year through five years 540 
After five years through t ^ years — 
After ten years — 
TOTAL ^ $ 10,485 

The following available-for-sale securities were in an unrealized loss position for which other-than-temporary impairments had not been 
recognized: 

Unrealized 
(in thousand^) Losses Fair Value 
December 31,2012: 

Corporate debt securities $ 50 $ 2,500 

At December 31, 2012, there were no securities in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or longer. 

Note 5—Investment in American Shale Oil, LLC 

AMSO, LLC is one of three holders of leases awarded by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") to research, develop and demonsfrate in-
situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production ("RD&D Lease") in westem Colorado. The RD&D Lease awarded to AMSO, LLC 
by the BLM covers an area of 160 acres. The lease mns for a ten year period beginning on January 1, 2007, and is subject to an extension ofup to 
five years if AMSO, LLC can demonstrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of shale oil is diligently being pursued. 
If AMSO, LLC can demonstrate the economic and environmental viabiUty of its technology, it will have the opportunity to submit a one-time 
payment pursuant to the Oil Shale Management Regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 5,120 acres which overlap and 
are contiguous with the 160 acres in its RD&D Lease. 

In March 2009, a subsidiary of TOTAL S.A. ("Total") acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to the Company of $3.2 
million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's research, development and demonsfration expenditures as well as certain 
other funding commitments. Immediately prior to this transaction, all owners ofequity interests in AMSO, LLC other than AMSO exchanged their 
ownership interest for a proportionate share of a 1% override on AMSO, LLC's fiiture revenue. Following the transaction with Total, AMSO and 
Total each own a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC. While AMSO is the operator ofthe project during the RD&D phase. Total will provide a majority 
of the fiinding during the RD&D phase, and technical and financial assistance throughout the RD&D and commercial stages. Total will lead the 
planning ofthe commercial development and will assume management responsibilities during the subsequent commercial phase. 

The Company accounts for its 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since the Company has the ability to exercise 
significant influence over its operating and financial matters, although it no longer controls AMSO, LLC. AMSO, LLC is a variable interest entity, 
however, the Company has determined that it is not the primary beneficiary, as the Company does not have the power to direct the activities of 
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The contractual maturities of the Company's available-for-sale corporate debt securities at December 31, 2012 were as follows: 

(in thousands) Fair Value 
Within one year $ 9,945 
After one year through five years 540 

: After five years through ten years — 
After ten years — 
TOTAL \ $ 10,485 

The following available-for-sale securities were in an unrealized loss position for which other-than-temporary impairments had not been 
recognized: 

Unrealized 
(in thousands) Losses Fair Value 
December 31,2012: 

Corporate debt securities ^ $_ 50 $ 2,500 

At December 31, 2012, there were no securities in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or longer. 

Note 5—Investment in American Shale Oil. LLC 

AMSO, LLC is one of three holders of leases awarded by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") to research, develop and demonstrate in-
situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production ("RD&D Lease") in westem Colorado. The RD&D Lease awarded to AMSO, LLC 
by the BLM covers an area of 160 acres. The lease runs for a ten year period beginning on January 1, 2007, and is subject to an extension ofup to 
five years if AMSO, LLC can demonstrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of shale oil is diligently being pursued. 
If AMSO, LLC can demonstrate the economic and environmental viability of its technology, it will have the opportunity to submit a one-time 
payment pursuant to the Oil Shale Management Regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 5,120 acres which overlap and 
are contiguous with the 160 acres in its RD&D Lease. 

In March 2009, a subsidiary of TOTAL S.A. ("Total") acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to the Company of $3.2 
million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's research, development and demonsfration expenditures as well as certain 
other fiinding commitments. Immediately prior to this transaction, all owners ofequity interests in AMSO, LLC other than AMSO exchanged their 
ownership interest for a proportionate share of a 1% override on AMSO, LLC's fiiture revenue. Following the transaction with Total, AMSO and 
Total each own a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC. While AMSO is the operator ofthe project during the RD&D phase, Total will provide a majority 
of the funding during the RD&D phase, and technical and financial assistance throughout the RD&D and commercial stages. Total will lead the 
plarming ofthe commercial development and will assume management responsibilities during the subsequent commercial phase. 

The Company accounts for its 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since the Company has the ability to exercise 
significant influence over its operating and financial matters, although it no longer controls AMSO, LLC. AMSO, LLC is a variable interest entity, 
however, the Company has determined that it is not the primary beneficiary, as the Company does not have the power to direct the activities of 
AMSO, LLC that most significantly impact AMSO, LLC's economic performance. 

AMSO has agreed to fund AMSO, LLC's expenditures as follows: 20% of the initial $50 million of expenditures, 35% of the next $50 milhon in 
approved expenditures and 50% of approved expenditures in excess of $100 million. AMSO has also agreed to fund 40% ofthe costs ofthe one­

time payment for conversion of AMSO, LLC's research, development and demonstration lease to a commercial lease, in the event AMSO, LLC's 
application for conversion is approved. The remaining amounts are to be funded by Total. As ofDecember 31, 2012, the cumulative contributions 
of AMSO and Total to AMSO, LLC were $61.3 million. Through December 31, 2011, AMSO was allocated 20% ofthe net loss of AMSO, LLC. 
AMSO's portion ofthe loss of AMSO, LLC increased in December 2011 from 20% to 35%, per the agreement with Total. AMSO's allocated share 
ofthe net loss of AMSO, LLC is included in "Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC" in the accompanying consolidated statements ofoperations. 

The following table summarizes the change in the balance ofthe Company's investment in AMSO, LLC: 

Five Months 
Year ended ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, July 31, 
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(in thousands) 
Balance, beginning of period 
Capital confributions 
Equify Ul net loss of AMSO, LLC 
Balance, end of period 

S 

$ 

2012 
(685) $ 

4,102 
. (3,175) 

242 $ 

2011 
(630) $ 

2,040 
(2,095) 

(685) $ 

2011 
665 

3,943 
(5,238) 

(630) 

F-19 

At December 31, 2012, the investment in AMSO, LLC was included in the consolidated balance sheet in "Other assets." At December 31, 2011, 
the liability for equity loss in AMSO, LLC was included in the consolidated balance sheet in "Accmed expenses." 

In accordance with the agreement between the parties, AMSO was committed to a total investment of $10.0 million in AMSO, LLC, all ofwhich 
had been invested by January 31, 2012. AMSO remains obligated to fund its share ofthe expenditures it approves beyond the imtial $10.0 million 
investment. AMSO's share of AMSO, LLC's budget for the year ending December 31, 2013 is $4.2 million. There are also a number of other 
situations where AMSO's funding obligation could increase further. 

Total can increase AMSO's initial required funding commitment of $10.0 million up to an additional $8.75 million if Total notifies AMSO of its 
commitment to continue to fund the pilot test up to an agreed upon commitment level. To date, AMSO has not received such notification from 
Total. Additionally, even if AMSO were to withdraw its interest in AMSO, LLC, it will remain liable for its share of expenditures for safety and 
environmental reclamation related to events occurring prior to its withdrawal. 

Total may terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. If Total withdraws as a member of 
AMSO, LLC, AMSO may also terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. Although, 
subject to certain situations, AMSO and Total are not obligated to make additional contributions beyond their respective shares, they could dilute or 
forfeit their ownership interests in AMSO, LLC if they fail to contribute their respective shares for additional funding. 

At December 31, 2012, the Company's maximum exposure to additional loss as a result of its required investment fri AMSO, LLC was $4.2 
million, based on AMSO, LLC's 2013 budget. The Company's maximum exposure to additional loss could increase based on the situations 
described above. 

Summarized balance sheets of AMSO, LLC are as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Other current assets 
Equipment, net 
Other assets 

2,171 
69 
53 

805 

1,106 
197 
68 

567 

TOTALASSETS 3,098 $ 1,938 
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

Current liabilities 
Other liabilities 
Members' interests 

1.649 
644 
805 

3,657 
437 

(2,156) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS 3,098 $ 1,938 

Summarized statements ofoperations of AMSO, LLC are as follows; 

(in thousands) 

Five Months Year ended 
Year ended ended Year ended July 31, 

December 31, December 31, July 31, 2010 
2012 2011 2011 (Unaudited) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
REVENUES 
OPERATING EXPENSES: 
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At December 31, 2012, the investment in AMSO, LLC was included in the consolidated balance sheet in "Other assets." At December 31, 2011, 
the liabilify for equity loss in AMSO, LLC was included in the consolidated balance sheet in "Accmed expenses." 

In accordance with the agreement between the parties, AMSO was committed to a total investment of $10.0 million in AMSO, LLC, all ofwhich 
had been invested by January 31, 2012. AMSO remains obligated to fund its share ofthe expenditures it approves beyond the initial $10-0 million 
investment. AMSO's share of AMSO, LLC's budget for the year ending December 31, 2013 is $4.2 million. There are also a number of other 
situations where AMSO's funding obligation could increase further. 

Total can increase AMSO's initial required fiinding commitment of $10.0 million up to an additional $8.75 million if Total notifies AMSO of its 
commitment to continue to fund the pilot test up to an agreed upon commitment level. To date, AMSO has not received such notification from 
Total. Additionally, even if AMSO were to withdraw its interest in AMSO, LLC, it will remain liable for its share of expenditures for safefy and 
environmental reclamation related to events occurring prior to its withdrawal. 

Total may terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. If Total withdraws as a member of 
AMSO, LLC, AMSO may also terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. Although, 
subject to certain situations, AMSO and Total are not obligated to make additional contributions beyond their respective shares, they could dilute or 
forfeit their ownership interests in AMSO, LLC if they fail to contribute their respective shares for additional fimding. 

At December 31, 2012, the Company's maximum exposure to additional loss as a resuh of its required investment in AMSO, LLC was $4.2 
milhon, based on AMSO, LLC's 2013 budget. The Company's maximum exposure to additional loss could increase based on the situations 
described above. 

Summarized balance sheets of AMSO, LLC are as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash eqiuvalents 
Other current assets 
Equipment, net 
Other assets 

2,171 
69 
53 

805 

$ 1,106 
197 
68 

567 

TOTALASSETS 3,098 $ 1,938 
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

C ûrrent Habilities 
Other liabilities 

: Members' interests 

1,649 
644 
805 

$ 3,657 
437 

(2,156) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS 3,098 1,938 

Summarized statements ofoperations of AMSO, LLC are as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 
(Unaudited) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

; REVENUES 
OPERATING EXPENSES: 

General and adminisfrative 
Research and development 

507 
8,563 

248 
9,156 

767 
25,423 

910 
7,100 

336 
7,955 

! TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 
Loss from operations 
Other expense 
NET LOSS $ 

9,070 
(9,070 ) 

(9,070) $ 

9,404 
(9,404 ) 

(9,404) $ 

26,190 
(26,190) 

(1) 
(26,191) $ 

8,010 
(8,010) 

(2) 
(8,012) $ 

8,291 
(8,291 ) 

(8,291) 

Note 6—Property and Equipment 
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December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 
Omputer software and development 
Computers and computer hardware 
Laboratory equiprnent 
Office equipment and other 

340 $ 
220 
383 
237 

338 
206 
317 
228 

Less accumulated depreciation 
Property and equipment, net $ 

1,180 
(771) 
409 $ 

1,089 
(643) 
446 . 

F-20 

Note 7—Revolving Line of Credit 

As of April 23, 2012, the Company and IDT Energy entered into a Loan Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank for a revolving line of credit for 
up to a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. The proceeds from the line of credit may be used to provide working capital and for the 
issuance of letters of credit. The Company agreed to deposit cash in a money market account at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral forthe line of 
credit equal to the greater of (a) $10.0 million or (b) the sum ofthe amount of letters of credit outstanding plus the outstanding principal under the 
revolving note. The Company is not permitted to withdraw funds or exercise any authorify over the required balance in the collateral account. The 
principal outstanding will bear interest at the lesser of (a) the LIBOR rate multiplied by the statutory reserve rate established by the Board of 
Govemors ofthe Federal Reserve System plus 1.0% per annum, or (b) the maximum rate per annum permitted by whichever of applicable federal 
or Texas laws permit the higher interest rate. Interest is payable at least every three months and all outstanding principal and any accmed and 
unpaid interest is due on the maturity date of April 30, 2013. The Company paid a facility fee of $37,500 and pays a quarterly unused commitment 
fee of 0.08% per annum on the difference between $25.0 million and the average daily outstanding principal balance ofthe note. In addition, as of 
April 23, 2012, GEIC issued a Corporate Guaranty to JPMorgan Chase Bank whereby GEIC unconditionally guarantees the full payment of all 
indebtedness ofthe Company and IDT Energy under the Loan Agreement. At December 31, 2012, there were no amounts borrowed or utilized for 
letters of credit under the line of credit, and cash collateral of $10.0 million was included in "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Note 8—Income Taxes 

Significant components ofthe Company's deferred income tax assets consist ofthe following: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 
Deferred income tax assets: 

Bad debt reserve 
Accrued expenses 
State taxes 
Charitable contributions 
Net operating loss 
Exercise of stock options and lapsing of restrictions on resfricted stock 
Depreciation . 

54 $ 
2,330 

359 
71 

7,084 
1,464 
1,098 

54 
1,850 
2,567 

— 
6,523 

636 
— 

Total deferred income tax assets 
Valuation allowance 

12,460 
(11,861) 

11,630 
(6.523) 

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS, NET 599 5,107 

Subsequent to the Spin-Off, the Company initiated a tax strategy that enables the Company to deduct losses from its foreign subsidiaries against its 
profitable U.S. operations. Because of this strategy, the decrease in pre-tax eamings of IDT Energy in 2012, and the Company's current 
projections, the Company concluded that it no longer met the criteria of more likely than not in order to utilize its deferred federal income tax assets 
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Company recorded a valuation allowance against its deferred federal income tax assets. 

The provision for income taxes consists ofthe following; 

Five Months 
Five Months 

ended 
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Note 7—Revolving Line of Credit 

As of April 23, 2012, the Company and IDT Energy entered into a Loan Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank for a revolving line of credit for 
up to a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. The proceeds from the line of credit may be used to provide working capital and for the 
issuance of letters of credit. The Company agreed to deposit cash in a money market account at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for the line of 
credit equal to the greater of (a) $10.0 million or (b)thesumof the amount of lettersof credit outstanding plus the outstanding principal under the 
revolving note. The Company is not permitted to withdraw funds or exercise any authority over the required balance in the collateral account. The 
principal outstanding will bear interest at the lesser of (a) the LIBOR rate multiplied by the statutory reserve rate established by the Board of 
Govemors ofthe Federal Reserve System plus 1.0% per annum, or (b) the maximum rate per annum permitted by whichever of applicable federal 
or Texas laws permit the higher interest rate. Interest is payable at least every three months and all outstanding principal and any accrued and 
unpaid interest is due on the maturity date of April 30, 2013. The Company paid a facility fee of $37,500 and pays a quarterly unused commitment 
fee of 0.08% per annum on the difference between $25.0 million and the average daily outstanding principal balance ofthe note. In addition, as of 
April 23, 2012, GEIC issued a Corporate Guaranty to JPMorgan Chase Bank whereby GEIC unconditionally guarantees the fiall payment of all 
indebtedness ofthe Company and IDT Energy under the Loan Agreement. At December 31, 2012, there were no amounts borrowed or utilized for 
letters of credit under the line of credit, and cash collateral of $ 10.0 million was included in "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Note 8—Income Taxes 

Significant components ofthe Company's deferred income tax assets consist ofthe following: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

Deferred income tax assets: 
Bad debt reserve 
Accmed expenses 
State taxes 
Charitable contributions 

, Net operatmg loss 
Exercise of stock options and lapsing of restrictions on restricted stock 
Depreciation 

54 $ 
2,330 
359 
71 

7,084 
1,464 
1,098 

12,460 

(11,861) 

54 
1,850 
2,567 
— 

6,523 
636 
— 

11,630 

(6,523) 
Total deferred income tax assets 
Valuation allowance 
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS, NET 599 5,107 

Subsequent to the Spin-Off, the Company initiated a tax strategy that enables the Company to deduct losses from its foreign subsidiaries against its 
profitable U.S. operations- Because of this strategy, the decrease in pre-tax eamings of IDT Energy in 2012, and the Company's current 
projections, the Company concluded that it no longer met the criteria of more likely than not in order to utilize its deferred federal income tax assets 
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Company recorded a valuation allowance agamst its deferred federal income tax assets. 

The provision for income taxes consists ofthe following: 

(in thousands) 

Five Months 
Year ended ended 

December 31, December 31, Year ended Year ended 
2012 2011 Jufy 31,2011 Jufy 31, 2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

Current: 
Federal 
State and local 
Foreign 

(1,312) 
392 $ 
735 

4,869 $ 
2,760 

10,064 $ 
3,196 

3,191 
990 

(1,312) 1,127 7,629 13,260 4,181 

Deferred: 
Federal 
State and local 
Foreign 

3,773 
469 

(392) 
(119) 

(198) 
(486) 

524 
166 

4,242 (511) (684) 690 
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2,930 $ 616 $ 6,945 $ 13,950 $ 4,181 

F-21 

The differences between income taxes expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and income taxes provided are as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

138 
4,711 

41 
4 

(1,964) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 122 
— 
74 
20 

400 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 2011 

$ 1,537 
— 

3,122 
804 

1,482 

Year ended 
July 31, 2010 

$ 9,983 
— 

1,768 
14 

2,185 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

$ 1,784 
— 

918 
835 
644 

U.S. federal income tax at statutory rate 
Valuation allowance 
Foreign tax rate differential 
Other 
State and local mcome tax, net of federal benefit 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 2,930 $ 616 $ 6,945 $ 13,950 $ 4,181 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $0.8 million and $19.4 million, 
respectively. These carry-forward losses are available to offset future U.S. federal and state taxable income. The federal net operating loss carry­

forwards will start to expire in 2032, with the year ended December 31, 2012's loss expiring in fiscal 2033. The state net operating loss carry­
forwards will start to expire in 2028, with the year ended December 31, 2012's loss expiring in fiscal 2033. 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had foreign net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $26.6 million. This carry-forward loss is 
available to offset future foreign taxable income. The net operating loss carry-forwards will start to expire in 2029, with the year ended December 
31, 2012's loss expiring in fiscal 2033. 

The change in the valuation allowance for deferred income taxes was as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 

6,523 

6,522 

4,391 

2,998 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Additions 
charged to 
costs and 
expenses 

5,338 

1 

2,131 

1,393 

Balance at 
Deductions end of period 

$ — $ 11,861 

$ — $ 6,523 

$ — $ 6,522 

$ — $ 4,391 

Year ended December 31,2012 
Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 
taxes, net 

Five months ended Pecember 31,2011 
Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 

taxes, net 
Year ended July 31,2011 

Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 
taxes, net 

Year ended July 31,2010 
Reserves for v^iiation allowances deducted from deferred income 

taxes, net 

The table below summarizes the change in the balance of unrecognized income tax benefits: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 

Balance at beginning of period 
Additions based on tax positions related to the current 

period 

2,507 $ 2,340 

89 167 

1,050 $ 

979 

3,600 $ 
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The differences between income taxes expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and income taxes provided are as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 
138 

4,711 
41 
4 

(1,964) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 122 
— 
74 
20 

400 

Year ended 
July 31,2011 
$ 1,537 

— 
3,122 

804 
1,482 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 2010 
$ 9,983 

— 
1,768 

14 
2,185 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
$ 1,784 

— 
918 
835 
644 

U.S. federal income tax at statutory rate 
Valuation allowance 
Foreign tax rate differential 
Other 
State and local income tax, net of federal benefit 
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 2,930 616 $ 6,945 $ 13,950 $ 4,181 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $0.8 million and $19.4 million, 
respectively. These carry-forward losses are available to offset future U.S. federal and state taxable income. The federal net operating loss carry­

forwards will start to expire in 2032, with the year ended December 31, 2012's loss expiring in fiscal 2033. The state net operating loss carry­
forwards will start to expire in 2028, with the year ended December 31, 2012's loss expiring in fiscal 2033. 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had foreign net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $26.6 million. This carry-forward loss is 
available to offset ftiUire foreign taxable income. The net operating loss carry-forwards will start to expire in 2029, with the year ended December 
31, 2012's loss expiring in fiscal 2033. 

The change in the valuation allowance for deferred income taxes was as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 

Additions 
charged to 

costs and 
expenses 

Balance at 
Deductions end of period 

Year ended December 31, 2012 
Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 
taxes, net 

Five months ended December 31, 2011 
Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 

taxes, net 
Year ended July 31,2011 

Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 
taxes, net 

Year ended July 31,2010 
Reserves for valuation allowances deducted from deferred income 

taxes, net 

$ 6,523 $ 5,338 $ 

$ 6,522 $ 1 $ 

$ 4,391 $ 2,131 $ 

$ 2,998 $ 1,393 $ 

11,861 

6,523 

6,522 

4,391 

The table below summarizes the change in the balance of unrecognized income tax benefits: 

(in thousands) 

Five Months 
Year ended ended 

December 31, December 31, 
2012 2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 
1,050 

979 
311 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 
$ 3,600 

250 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
$ 1,050 

90 

[ Balance at begmning of period 
Additions based on tax positions related to the current 

period 
Additions for tax positions of prior periods 
Reductions for tax positions of prior periods 
Settlements 
Lapses of statutes of limitations 

S 2,507 $ 

89 

2,340 $ 

167 

(2,373) (2,800 ) 
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Balance at end of period $ 223 $ 2,507 $ 2,340 $ 1,050 $ 1,140 

All ofthe unrecognized income tax benefits at December 31, 2012 would have affected the Company's effective income tax rate if recognized. The 
Company does not expect the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, the years ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the 
Company recorded interest on income taxes of nil, $0.2 million, $0.3 million, $0.1 million and nil, respectively. As ofDecember 31, 2012 and 
2011, accmed interest included in current income taxes payable was nil and $0.1 million, respectively. 

The Company currently remains subject to examinations of its tax retums as follows: U.S. federal tax retums for fiscal 2009 to calendar 2012, state 
and local tax retums generally for fiscal 2008 to calendar 2012 and foreign tax retums generally for fiscal 2008 to calendar 2012. 

F-22 

Note 9—Equify 

Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock 
The rights of holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical except for certain voting and conversion rights and 
restrictions on transferability. The holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock receive identical dividends per share when and if 
declared by the Company's Board ofDirectors. In addition, the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock have identical and 
equal priority rights per share in liquidation. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock do not have any other confractual participation 
rights. The holders of Class A common stock are entitled to three votes per share and the holders of Class B common stock are entitled to one-tenth 
of a vote per share. Each share of Class A common stock may he converted into one share of Class B common stock, at any time, at the option of 
the holder. Shares of Class A common stock are subject to certain limitations on transferability that do not apply to shares of Class B common 
stock. 

Series 2012-A Preferred Stock 
Each share of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock") has a liquidation preference of $8.50 (the "Liquidation Preference"), is entitled 
to receive an annual dividend per share equal to the sum of (i) $0.6375 (the "Base Dividend") plus (ii) seven and one-half percent (7.5%) ofthe 
quotient obtained by dividing (A) the amount by which the EBITDA for a fiscal year ofthe Company's retail energy provider business exceeds $32 
million by (B) 8,750,000 (the "Additional Dividend"), payable in cash and will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option ofthe Company 
following October 11, 2016. The redemption price for the Preferred Stock is 101% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accmed and unpaid 
dividends between October 11, 2016 and October 11, 2017, and 100% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accmed and unpaid dividends 
thereafter. EBITDA consists of income (loss) from operations exclusive of depreciation and amortization and other operating gains (losses). 

During any period when the Company has failed to pay a dividend on the Preferred Stock and until all unpaid dividends have been paid in full, the 
Company is prohibited from paying dividends or disfributions on the Company's Class B or Class A common stock. 

The Base Dividend will be payable (if declared by the Company's Board ofDirectors, and accrued, ifnot declared) quarterly on each February 15, 
May 15, August 15 and November 15, commencing with Febmary 15, 2013 (which was prorated for the portion ofthe Company's fourth fiscal 
quarter during which the Preferred Stock was outstanding), and to the extent that there is any Additional Dividend payable with respect to a fiscal 
year, it will be paid to holders of Preferred Stock with the May dividend (prorated for fiscal 2012). With respect to the payment of dividends and 
amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the Preferred Stock is equal in rank to all other equity securities the Company issues, the 
terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank on a parity with the Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights 
upon the Company's liquidation, dissolution or winding up; senior to the Company's common stock; and junior to all ofthe Company's existing and 
future indebtedness. 

Each share of Preferred Stock has the same voting rights as a share of Class B common stock, except on certain matters that only impact the 
Company's common stock, as well as additional voting rights on specific matters or upon the occurrence of certain events. 

Dividend Payments 
On January 5, 2012, theCompany paid a cash dividend of $0.05 per share to stockholders of record atthe close of business on December 22, 2011 
ofthe Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock. On April 3, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0,033 per share to 
stockholders ofrecord at the close ofbusiness on March 26, 2012 ofthe Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The 
dividend paid on April 3, 2012 was for the two-monfii period of November and December 2011 that represented the period between the end of the 
Company's prior fiscal quarter and the beginning ofthe new fiscal quarter in connection with the change in the Company's fiscal year to a calendar 
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Note 9—Equify 

Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock 
The rights of holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical except for certain voting and conversion rights and 
restrictions on transferabilify. The holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock receive identical dividends per share when and if 
declared by the Company's Board ofDirectors. In addition, the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock have identical and 
equal priorify rights per share in liquidation. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock do not have any other contractual participation 
rights. The holders of Class A common stock are entitled to three votes per share and the holders of Class B common stock are entitled to one-tenth 
of a vote per share. Each share of Class A common stock may be converted into one share of Class B common stock, at any time, at the option of 
the holder. Shares of Class A common stock are subject to certain limitations on transferability that do not apply to shares of Class B common 
stock. 

Series 2012-A Preferred Stock 
Each share of Series 2012-A Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock") has a liquidation preference of $8.50 (the "Liquidation Preference"), is entitied 
to receive an annual dividend per share equal to the sum of (i) $0.6375 (the "Base Dividend") plus (ii) seven and one-half percent (7.5%) ofthe 
quotient obtained by dividing (A) the amount by which the EBITDA for a fiscal year ofthe Company's retail energy provider business exceeds $32 
million by (B) 8,750,000 (the "Additional Dividend"), payable in cash and will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option ofthe Company 
following October II, 2016. The redemption price for the Preferred Stock is 101% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accmed and unpaid 
dividends between October 11, 2016 and October 11, 2017, and 100% ofthe Liquidation Preference plus all accmed and unpaid dividends 
thereafter. EBITDA consists of income (loss) from operations exclusive of depreciation and amortization and other operating gains (losses). 

During any period when the Company has failed to pay a dividend on the Preferred Stock and until all unpaid dividends have been paid in full, the 
Company is prohibited from paying dividends or distributions on the Company's Class B or Class A common stock. 

The Base Dividend will be payable (if declared by the Company's Board ofDirectors, and accmed, ifnot declared) quarterly on each Febmary 15, 
May 15, August 15 and November 15, commencing with Febmary 15, 2013 (which was prorated for the portion ofthe Company's fourth fiscal 
quarter during which the Preferred Stock was outstanding), and to the extent that there is any Additional Dividend payable with respect to a fiscal 
year, it will be paid to holders of Preferred Stock with the May dividend (prorated for fiscal 2012). With respect to the payment of dividends and 
amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the Preferred Stock is equal in rank to all other equity securities the Company issues, the 
terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank on a parity with the Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights 
upon the Company's liquidation, dissolution or winding up; senior to the Company's common stock; and junior to all ofthe Company's existing and 
future indebtedness. 

Each share of Preferred Stock has the same voting rights as a share of Class B common stock, except on certain matters that only impact the 
Company's common stock, as well as additional voting rights on specific matters or upon the occurrence of certain events. 

Dividend Payments 
On January 5, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.05 per share to stockholders ofrecord atthe close of business on December 22, 2011 
ofthe Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock. On April 3, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0,033 per share to 
stockholders ofrecord at the close ofbusiness on March 26, 2012 ofthe Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The 
dividend paid on April 3, 2012 was for the two-month period of November and December 2011 that represented the period between the end ofthe 
Company's prior fiscal quarter and the beginning ofthe new fiscal quarter in connection with the change in the Company's fiscal year to a calendar 
year, and represented a pro-rated dividend of 2/3 '"'̂ of the normal quarteriy dividend. On May 30, 2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.05 
per share to stockholders ofrecord at the close ofbusiness on May 21, 2012 ofthe Company's Class A and Class B common stock. On August 28, 
2012, the Company paid a cash dividend of $0.05 per share to stockholders ofrecord at the close ofbusiness on August 20, 2012 ofthe Company's 
Class A and Class B common stock. The aggregate dividends declared in the year ended December 31, 2012 and the five months ended December 
31, 2011 were $3.1 million and $1.1 million, respectively, and the aggregate dividends paid m the year ended December 31, 2012 were $4.2 
million. 

On February 15, 2013, the Company paid a pro-rated Base Dividend of $0.1317 per share on the Preferred Stock for the fourth quarter of 2012. The 
aggregate amount paid was $0.2 million. In March 2013, the Company's Board ofDirectors declared a quarterly Base Dividend of $0.1594 per 
share on the Preferred Stock forthe first quarter of 2013. The dividend will be paid on May 15, 2013 to stockholders ofrecord as ofthe close of 
business on May 8, 2013. In connection with the completion ofthe exchange offer and issuance ofthe Preferred Stock (see below), the Company 
has suspended payment of dividends on its Class A and Class B common stock for the foreseeable fiiture. 

Stock Repurchase Program 
On December 8,2011, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 20 
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million shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock for up to an aggregate of $20 million. At December 31, 2012, no repurchases had been 
made and 20 million shares remained available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program. 

F-23 

Exchange Offers and Issuances of Preferred Stock 
On August 2, 2012, the Company initiated an offer to exchange up to 8.75 million outstanding shares of its Class B common stock for the same 
numberof shares of its Preferred Stock. The offer expired on October 10,2012. OnOctober 17, 2012, the Company issued 1,604,591 shares of its 
newly designated Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number ofshares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

On November 26, 2012, the Company initiated an offer to exchange up to 7.15 million outstanding shares of its Class B common stock for the 
same number of shares of its Preferred Stock. The offer expired on March 5, 2013. On March 11, 2013, the Company issued 313,376 sharesof its 
Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number of shares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

Sales of Stock of Subsidiaries 
In April 2010, GEIC sold shares of its common stock and an option to purchase additional shares of its common stock to Michael Steinhardt, the 
Chairman ofthe Board of lEl, for $5.0 million. The option was exercisable until April 9, 2015 at an exercise price of $5.0 million (see below). In 
addition, in April 2010, GEIC sold shares of its common stock to W. Wesley Perry, the Chairman ofthe Board of GEIC, for $0.4 million. The 
aggregate minority interest of GEIC sold in April 2010 was 2.7%. 

In June 2011, in a refinement ofthe terms ofthe initial investment and the rights associated with that investment, Mr. Steinhardt exchanged his 
interest in GEIC (including the option to purchase additional interests) for a corresponding 2.5% interest (including options) in GOGAS and 
arranged for the Company and IDT to receive certain consulting services from a third parfy. In retum, the Steinhardt stockholder entity was paid 
$1.7 million. The GOGAS stock option was issued in June 2011 and is exercisable until April 9, 2015 at an exercise price of $5.0 million. At 
December 31,2012, the estimated fair value of the GOGAS stock option was nil. At July 31, 2011, the estimated fair value of the GOGAS option 
of $60,000 was included in "Other current liabilities" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company accounted for the exchange 
of Mr. Steinhardt's equity interest in GEIC for a corresponding equity interest in GOGAS as an equity fransaction. Therefore, no gain or loss was 
recognized in the accompanying consolidated statement ofoperations. 

In November 2010, GOGAS sold a 5.0% equity interest to an entity affiliated with Lord (Jacob) Rothschild for $10.0 million paid in cash. Also in 
November 2010, GOGAS sold a 0.5% equity interest to Rupert Murdoch for $1.0 million paid with a promissory note. The note is secured by a 
pledge of the shares issued in exchange for the note. The note accmes interest at 1.58% per annum, and the principal and accmed interest is due and 
payable on November 15, 2015. In connection with the purchase by the entity affiliated with Lord Rothschild, in November 2010, warrants were 
issued to purchase up to an aggregate of 1% ofthe common stock outstanding of GOGAS at an exercise price ofup to $2 million that expired on 
November 12, 2011. In addition, in connection with this purchase, the entity affiliated with Lord Rothschild has a one time option through 
November 12, 2017 to exchange its GOGAS shares for shares ofthe Company with equal fair value as determined by the parties. The number of 
shares issuable in such an exchange is not currentiy determinable. 

Note 10— Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock-Based Compensation Plan 
The Company's 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan is intended to provide incentives to executives, employees, directors and consultants ofthe 
Company. Incentives available under the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan may include stock options, stock appreciation rights, limited rights, 
deferred stock units, and restricted stock. The plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Dfrectors. At 
December 31, 2012, theCompany had 1.14 million shares of ClassB common stock reserved for award under its 2011 Stock Option and Incentive 
Plan and 0-5 million shares were available for future grants. In addition, as a result ofthe Spin-Off, the Company reserved 2.5 million shares of 
Class B common stock for grants in connection with the equitable adjustment by IDT of certain awards previously granted by IDT. 

Restricted Stock 
The fair value of restricted shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock is determined based on the closing price ofthe Company's Class B 
common stock on the grant date. Share awards generally vest on a graded basis over three years of service. 
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A summary ofthe status ofthe Company's grants of resfricted shares of Class B common stock is presented below: 

Number of 
Non-

vested Shares 
(in 

thousands) 

Weighted-
Average Grant 

Date Fair 
Value 

Non-vested shares at Jufy 31,2011 
Granted 
Vested 
Forfeited 
Non-vested shares at December 31,2011 
(Granted 
Vested 
Forfeited 
NON-VESTED SHARES AT DECEMBER 31,2012 

2,372 $ 
273 

(2) 

2,643 $ 
31 

(776) 

1,898 $ 

2.52 
7.13 
6.85 

2.99 
8.26 
3.90 

2.70 

As part ofthe Spin-Off, holders of restricted Class B common stock of IDT received, in respect of those resfricted shares, one restricted share ofthe 
Company's Class B conmion stock for every restricted share of IDT tiiat they owned as ofthe record date for the Spin-Off. An aggregate of 2.4 
million resfricted shares of the Company's Class B common stock were issued at a weighted-average grant date fair value of $2.52 per share. The 
weighted-average grant date fair value was based on an allocation of the original weighted-average grant date fair value of the IDT shares. Such 
resfricted shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock are restricted under the same terms as the IDT restricted stock in respect ofwhich they 
were issued. The restricted shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock received in the Spin-Off are subject to forfeiture on the same terms, 
and their restrictions will lapse at the same time, as the corresponding IDT shares. 

As of December 31, 2012, there was $2.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock-based compensation 
arrangements, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.8 years. The total grant date fair value of shares vested in 
the year ended December 31, 2012 and the five months ended December 31, 2011 was $3.0 million and $15,000, respectively. The Company 
recognized compensation cost related to the vesting of the restricted stock of $2.1 million intheyearended December 31, 2012 and $0.6 million in 
the five months ended December 31,2011. 

Stock Options 
Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price ofthe Company's stock on the date of grant. Option awards 
generally vest on a graded basis over three years of service and have ten-year confractual terms. The fair value of stock options was estimated on 
the date of the grant using a Black-Scholes valuation model and the assumptions in the following table. No option awards were granted in the year 
endedDecember31,2012ortheyearsended July 31,2011 and 2010. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Company's Class B 
common stock and other factors. The Company uses historical data on exercise of stock options, post vesting forfeitures and other factors to 
estimate the expected term ofthe stock-based payments granted. The risk free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of 
grant. 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

ASSUMPTIONS 
Average risk-free interest rate 
Expected dividend yield 
Expected volatility 

Expected term 

A summary of stock option activity for the Company is as follows: 

1.06-1.62% 

67.7 % 
6.0-

7.25 years 

Number of 
Weighted-

Average 

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 
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:Outstanding at July 31,2011 
Granted (including 50,000 as part ofthe Spin-Off) 
Exercised 
Cancelled / Forfeited 
OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31,2011 
EXERCISABLE AT DECEMBER 31,2011 

Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled / Forfeited 
OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31,2012 
EXERCISABLE AT DECEMBER 31,2012 

Options 
(in thousands) 

— • 

458 

458 
50 

(1) 

457 
137 

$ 

$ . 
$ 

$ 
$ 

Exercise 
Price 

— 
6.85 

6.85 
6.85 

6-85 

6.85 
6.85 

Term (in 
years) 

9.2 
3.7 

8.2 
6.8 

$. 

$ 

$ 

s-

Intrinsic Value 
(in thousands) 

495 
54 

114 
34 
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The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted by the Company during the fivemonths ended December 31, 2011 was $4.35. The 
total infrinsie value of options exercised during the year ended December 31,2012 was $2,000. As of December 31,2012, there was $ 1.3 million of 
total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
2.8 years. The Company recognized compensation cost related to the vesting ofthe options of $0.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 
and $0.1 million inthe five months ended December 31,2011. 

In order to equitably adjust the value of the options to purchase IDT Class B common stock that were outstanding on the Spin-Off date, IDT 
proportionately reduced the exercise price of each such option based on the frading price of IDT following the Spin-Off. Further, each option 
holder shared ratably in a pool of 50,000 newly issued options to purchase shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock with an exercise price 
of $6.85 equal to the market value on the issuance date and an expiration date equal to the expiration ofthe corresponding IDT options held by 
such option holder. The adjustment to the exercise price of the options to purchase IDT shares and the issuance of the 50,000 options to purchase 
the Company's shares were accounted for as a modification. No incremental charge was required as a result ofthe modification. 

Restricted Stock Granted by IDT Corporation 
Intheyearsended July 31, 2011 and 2010, stock-based compensation cost of $0.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively, was included in "Selling, 
general and administrative expense" in the consolidated statements of operations, relating to resfricted stock granted by IDT Corporation to 
employees ofthe Company. 

Grants of Equity of Subsidiaries 
In the year ended July 31, 2010, GEIC granted common stock representing 0.5% of its outstanding shares at the time to a consultant for consulting 
services provided through April 30, 2011. The share award vested over the related service period. In each ofthe years ended July 31, 2011 and 
2010, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of $0.3 million. 

On October 21, 2009, Mr. James A. Courter, IDT's former Chief Executive Officer, received from IDT a grant of 0.3 million resfricted shares of 
IDT's Class B common stock. All ofthe restricted shares vested on the date of grant. Pursuant to a Warrant to Purchase Common Stock executed 
by IDT and Mr. Courter, Mr. Courter has the right to exchange shares of IDT's Class B common stock for up to 1,000 shares of GEIC common 
stock. The exchange ratio is 225.13 shares of IDT's Class B common stock for one share of GEIC common stock. The Warrant expfres on October 
21,2014. 

On March 28, 2012, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors approved the grant of equify interests in certain 
subsidiaries ofthe Company to Howard Jonas, the Chairman ofthe Company's Board ofDirectors. The Compensation Cormnittee approved the 
following grants to Mr. Jonas: (1) deferred stock units for shares of common stock of IDT Energy representing 2.5% of the equity in IDT Energy 
on a fully diluted basis, (2) ordinary shares of lEI representing 0.25% ofthe equity in lEI on a fully diluted basis, (3) ordinary shares of GIOG 
representing 0.30% ofthe equity in GIOG on a fully diluted basis, and (4) shares representing 0.25% ofthe Company's entity that seek to develop 
oil shale opporhinities in an Asian countiy ("the Asian Venture"). 

In addition, the Compensation Committee approved grants of interests representmg 1.13% ofthe equity in IDT Energy, 1.46% ofthe equity in lEI, 
12.92% ofthe equity in GIOG and 12.24% in the Asian Venture to certain ofthe Company's officers and employees. 
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The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted by the Company during the five months ended December 31, 2011 was $4.35. The 
total infrinsic value of options exercised during theyear ended December 31, 2012 was $2,000. As of December 31, 2012, there was $1.3 million of 
total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
2.8 years. The Company recognized compensation cost related to the vesting ofthe options of $0.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 
and $0.1 million in the five months ended December 31, 2011. 

In order to equitably adjust the value of the options to purchase IDT Class B common stock that were outstanding on the Spin-Off date, IDT 
proportionately reduced the exercise price of each such option based on the trading price of IDT following the Spin-Off. Further, each option 
holder shared ratably in a pool of 50,000 newly issued options to purchase shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock with an exercise price 
of $6.85 equal to the market value on the issuance date and an expiration date equal to the expiration ofthe corresponding IDT options held by 
such option holder. The adjustment to the exercise price ofthe options to purchase IDT shares and the issuance ofthe 50,000 options to purchase 
the Company's shares were accounted for as a modification. No incremental charge was required as a result ofthe modification. 

Restricted Stock Granted by IDT Corporation 
In theyeafs ended July 31, 2011 and 2010, stock-based compensation cost of $0.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively, was included in "Selling, 
general and administrative expense" in the consolidated statements of operations, relating to restricted stock granted by IDT Corporation to 
employees ofthe Company. 

Grants of Equity of Subsidiaries 
In the year ended July 31, 2010, GEIC granted common stock representing 0.5% of its outstanding shares at the time to a consultant for consulting 
services provided through April 30, 2011. The share award vested over the related service period. In each ofthe years ended Jufy 31, 2011 and 
2010, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of $0.3 million. 

On October 21, 2009, Mr. James A. Courter, IDT's former Chief Executive Officer, received from IDT a grant of 0.3 million restricted shares of 
IDT's Class B common stock. All ofthe restricted shares vested on the date of grant. Pursuant to a Warrant to Purchase Common Stock executed 
by IDT and Mr. Courter, Mr. Courter has the right to exchange shares of IDT's Class B common stock for up to 1,000 shares of GEIC common 
stock. The exchange ratio is 225.13 shares of IDT's Class B common stock for one share of GEIC common stock. The Warrant expires on October 
21,2014. 

On March 28, 2012, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors approved the grant of equify interests in certain 
subsidiaries ofthe Company to Howard Jonas, the Chairman ofthe Company's Board ofDirectors. The Compensation Committee approved the 
following grants to Mr. Jonas: (1) deferred stock units for shares ofcommon stock of IDT Energy representing 2.5% ofthe equity in IDT Energy 
on a fully diluted basis, (2) ordinary shares of lEI representing 0.25% ofthe equity in lEI on a fully diluted basis, (3) ordinary shares of GIOG 
representing 0.30% ofthe equity in GIOG on a fully diluted basis, and (4) shares representing 0.25% ofthe Company's entify that seek to develop 
oil shale opportunities in an Asian country ("the Asian Venture"). 

In addition, the Compensation Committee approved grants of interests representing 1.13% ofthe equity in IDT Energy, 1.46% ofthe equity in lEI, 
12.92% ofthe equify in GIOG and 12.24% in the Asian Venture to certain ofthe Company's officers and employees. 

The fair value ofthe grants of equify interests on the date ofthe grant was estimated to be $4.2 million, which will be recognized over the vesting 
period that ends in December 2015. The fair value ofthe equity interest granted was estimated based on discounted cash flows ofthe subsidiaries 
that granted the equify awards, as well as other valuation technics, as applicable. The unrecognized compensation cost relating to these grants of 
equify interests at December 31, 2012 was $3.3 million. The Company recognized compensation cost related to the vesting ofthese equity interests 
of $0.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2012. In the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a reduction in "Additional 
paid-in capital" and an increase in "Noncontrolling interests" of $ 1.9 million for the issuance of ttie grants of equity in IDT Energy. 

Note 11—Variable Interest Entities 

In 2011, an employee of IDT, until his employment was terminated effective December 30, 2011, incorporated Citizens Choice Energy, LLC 
("CCE"), which is a REP that resells elecfricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the State of New York. Tari 
Corporation ("Tari") is the sole owner of CCE. In addition, DAD Sales, LLC ("DAD"), which is 100% owned by Tari, used its network of door-to-

door sales agents to obtain customers for CCE. In December 2012, DAD ceased to acquire customers for CCE. The Company provided CCE, DAD 
and Tari with substantially all of the cash required to fund their operations. The Company determined that at the present time it has tiie power to 
direct the activities of CCE, DAD and Tari that most significantly impact their economic performance and it has the obligation to absorb losses of 
CCE, DAD and Tari that could potentially be significant to CCE, DAD and Tari on a stand-alone basis. The Company therefore determined that it 
is the primary beneficiary of CCE, DAD and Tari, and as a result, the Company consolidates CCE, DAD and Tari within its IDT Energy segment. 
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The Company does not own any interest in CCE, DAD or Tari and thus the net income or loss incurred by CCE, DAD and Tari was attributed to 
nonconfroUing interests in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Net income (loss) of CCE, DAD and Tari and aggregate net 
funding repaid to (provided by) the Company to CCE, DAD and Tari in order to finance their operations were as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
July 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
Net income (loss): 

CCE 
DAD 
Tari 

Aggregate funding repaid to (provided by) the Company, 
net 

S 1,857 
(327) 
161 

738 

$ (235) 
(477) 

— 

(2,529) 

$ (2,041) $ 
(263) 

(3) 

(3,291) 

— $ 
— 
— 

— 
— 
— 

— 

Summarized combined balance sheets of CCE, DAD and Tari are as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) ^ 2012 2011 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets 
Fixed assets, net 
Other assets 

1,047 
39 

4,168 
485 
519 
38 

493 
6,789 

3,035 
5,082 

(1,328) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

763 
81 

2,766 
70 

413 
57 

282 
4,432 

1,631 
5,820 

(3,019) 

TOTAL ASSETS 
LIABILITIES AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 

Trade accounts payable 
Due to IDT Energy 
Noncontrolling mterests 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS $ 6,789 $ 4,432 

The assets of CCE, DAD and Tari may only be used to settle obligations of CCE, DAD and Tari, and may not be used for other consolidated 
entities. The liabilities of CCE, DAD and Tari are non-recourse to the general credit ofthe Company's other consolidated entities. 

In April 2012, IDT Energy entered into a Consulting Agreement with Tari for customer networking services and other sales related services. In 
addition, in April 2012, IDT Energy and DAD entered into a Client Agreement whereby DAD will use its network ofdoor-to-door sales agents to 
obtain customers for IDT Energy in exchange for cash commissions. 

Note 12—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

The accumulated balances for each classification of other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Unrealized 
loss on 

available-
for-
sale 

securities 
— $ 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 

(1) 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

$ (1) 

Page 259 of 317 

Balance at July 31,2009 



Exhibit C-1 Annual Report (2012) 

The Company does not own any interest in CCE, DAD or Tari and thus the net income or loss incurred by CCE, DAD and Tari was attributed to 
noncontrolling interests in the accompanying consolidated statements ofoperations. Net income (loss) of CCE, DAD and Tari and aggregate net 
funding repaid to (provided by) the Company to CCE, DAD and Tari in order to finance their operations were as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
Net income (loss): 

CCE 
DAD 
Tari 

Aggregate funding repaid to (provided by) the Company, 
net 

$ 1,857 $ 
(327) 
161 

738 

(235) $ 
(477) 

— 

(2,529) 

(2,041) $ 
(263) 

(3) 

(3,291 ) 

— $ 
— 
— 

— 

— 
— 
— 

— 

Summarized combined balance sheets of CCE, DAD and Tari are as follows: 

December 31 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets 
Fijted assets, net 
Other assets 

1,047 
39 

4,168 
485 
519 
38 

493 

763 
81 

2,766 
70 

413 
57 

282 

TOTAL ASSETS 6,789 4,432 

LIABILITIES AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 
Trade accounts payable 
Due to IDT Energy 
Noncontrolling interests 

3,035 
5,082 

(1,328) 

1,631 
5,820 

(3,019) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 6,789 $ 4,432 

The assets of CCE, DAD and Tari may only be used to settle obligations of CCE, DAD and Tari, and may not be used for other consolidated 
entities. The liabilities of CCE, DAD and Tari are non-recourse to the general credit of the Company's other consolidated entities. 

In April 2012, IDT Energy entered into a Consultmg Agreement with Tari for customer networking services and other sales related services. In 
addition, in April 2012, IDT Energy and DAD entered into a Client Agreement whereby DAD will use its network ofdoor-to-door sales agents to 
obtain customers for IDT Energy in exchange for cash commissions. 

Note 12—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

The accumulated balances for each classification of other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows: 

Unrealized 
loss on 

available-
for-
sale 

securities 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) (in thousands) 

Balance at Jufy 31,2009 
Other comprehensive loss atfributable to Genie 
Balance at July 31,2010 
Other comprehensive income attributable to Genie 

securities 
$ — 

— 

translation income (loss) 
$ (1) $ (1) 

(23) (23) 
(24) (24) 
381 381 
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BalanceatJuly 31,2011 
Other comprehensive loss attributable to Genie 
Balance at December 31,2011 
Other comprehensive income attributable to Genie 
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,2012 $ 

— 

(15) 
(15) $ 

357 
(494) 
(137) 
422 
285 $ 

357 
(494) 
(137) 
407 
270 

Note 13—Legal Proceedings 

On August 15, 2010, the Israel Union for Environmental Defense (the "Union") filed a petition with the Supreme Court of Israel against various 
ministries of the State of Israel and the Jemsalem Regional Committee for Planning and Construction, and naming lEI, as a respondent. The 
petition sought an order of the Court requiring the respondents to explain the grant of the oil shale exploratory license to lEI and setting aside or 
cancelling the license. The Union claims that the license was granted without following all requirements imposed by applicable law, particularly 
regarding environmental impact and compliance with zoning, land use and similar laws and plans. lEI believes that it followed the requirements 
imposed by the Govemment of Israel and that it is in compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements. On October 29, 2012, the Court 
denied the petition. 
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On June 6,2012, the Union filed anotiier petition with the Supreme Court of Israel, against various minisfries ofthe State of Israel, lEl and other oil 
and gas exploration companies. The Union sought to cancel the regulations enacted by the Ministry of Energy pursuant to Section 47 ofthe Israeli 
Petroleum Law goveming the permitting process of oil and gas exploration, and sought to cancel the exploration license granted to lEI. On 
December 24, 2012, the Supreme Court of Israel rejected the petition. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Company may from time to time be subject to other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course ofbusiness. 
Although there can be no assurance in this regard, the Company does not expect any of those legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on 
the Company's results ofoperations, cash fiows or financial condUion. 

Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies 

Purchase and Other Commitments 
The Company had purchase and other commitments of $0.2 million as of December 31,2012. 

Tax Audits 
IDT Energy's New York State sales and use tax retums for the period from June 2003 though August 2009 are currently being audited. At 
December 31, 2012, IDT Energy had accrued $0.8 million for this audit and the estimated potential exposure above the amount accmed was $1.2 
million. 

The Company is subject to audits in various jurisdictions for various taxes. At December 31, 2012, the Company accmed for the estimated loss 
from these audits for which it is probable that a liability has been incurred, however amounts asserted by taxing authority or the amount ultimately 
assessed against the Company could be greater than the accmed amount. Accordingly, additional provisions may be recorded in the future as 
revised estimates are made or underlying matters are settled or resolved. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax audits could have an adverse 
effect on the Company's results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

In October 2012, IDT Energy reached an agreement relatmg to the New York City utility tax audit on electricity sales for the period from June I, 
2007 (commencement of IDT Energy's business activities) through October 31, 2012. As a result, IDT Energy paid $5.5 million in November 
2012, all ofwhich was accmed in prior periods. Also in October 2012, IDT Energy completed the New York State income tax audit for the years 
ended Jufy 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and received a refund of $0.4 million. The accrual for the New York State income tax audit of $2.5 million 
was reversed in September 2012. 

Surety Bonds 
IDT Energy has performance bonds issued through an insurance company for the benefit of various states in order to comply with the states' 
financial requirements for retail energy providers. At December 31, 2012, IDT Energy had aggregate performance bonds of $3.2 miUion 
outstanding. 

Lease Commitments 
The future minimum payments for operating leases as ofDecember 31,2012 are as follows: 
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On June 6, 2012, the Union filed another petition with the Supreme Court of Israel, against various minisfries ofthe State of Israel, lEI and other oil 
and gas exploration companies. The Union sought to cancel the regulations enacted by the Ministry of Energy pursuant to Section 47 ofthe Israeli 
Petroleum Law governing the permitting process of oil and gas exploration, and sought to cancel the exploration license granted to lEI. On 
December 24, 2012, the Supreme Court of Israel rejected the petition. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Company may from time to time be subject to other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course ofbusiness. 
Although there can be no assurance in this regard, the Company does not expect any of those legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on 
the Company's results ofoperations, cash flows or financial condition. 

Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies 

Purchase and Other Commitments 
The Company had purchase and other commitments of $0.2 million as of December 31, 2012. 

Tax Audits 
IDT Energy's New York State sales and use tax retums for the period from June 2003 though August 2009 are currently being audited. At 
December 31, 2012, IDT Energy had accrued $0.8 million for this audit and the estimated potential exposure above the amount accmed was $1.2 
million. 

The Company is subject to audits in various jurisdictions for various taxes. At December 31, 2012, the Company accmed for the estimated loss 
from these audits for which it is probable that a liability has been incurred, however amounts asserted by taxing authority or the amount ultimately 
assessed against the Company could be greater than the accrued amount. Accordingly, additional provisions may be recorded in the future as 
revised estimates are made or underlying matters are settled or resolved. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax audits could have an adverse 
effect on the Company's results ofoperations, cash flows and financial condition. 

In October 2012, IDT Energy reached an agreement relating to the New York Cify utility tax audit on electricity sales for the period from June 1, 
2007 (commencement of IDT Energy's business activities) through October 31, 2012. As a result, IDT Energy paid $5.5 million in November 
2012, all ofwhich was accrued in prior periods. Also in October 2012, IDT Energy completed the New York State income tax audit for the years 
ended July 31, 2007, 2008 arid 2009 and received a refund of $0.4 million. The accrual for the New York State income tax audit of $2.5 million 
was reversed in September 2012. 

Surety Bonds 
IDT Energy has performance bonds issued through an insurance company for the benefit of various states in order to comply with the states' 
financial requirements for retail energy providers. At December 31, 2012, IDT Energy had aggregate performance bonds of $3.2 million 

outstanding. 

Lease Commitments 
The future minimum payments for operating leases as of December 31, 2012 are as follows: 

(in thousands) ^ — ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ _ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ ^ _ _ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ _ _ _ _ _ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ ^ ^ _ ^ ^ ^ _ _ _ _ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ _ 
Year ending December 31; 

2013 $ 216 
2014 171 
2015 29 
2016 11 
2017 — 
Thereafter — 

Total payments $ 427 

Rental expense under operating leases was $0.8 million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million, $0.3 million and $42,000 intheyear endedDecember 31, 2012, 
theyearsended July 31,2011 and 2010, and the five months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Other Contingencies 
Since 2009, IDT Energy has been party to a Preferred Supplier Agreement with BP Energy Company ("BP"), pursuant to which BP is IDT 
Energy's preferred provider of electricify and natural gas. The agreement's termination date is June 30, 2014, which automatically renews for an 
additional year unless either party provides written notice to the other party at least six months prior to June 30, 2014 that it will not renew the 
agreement. Under the arrangement, IDT Energy purchases elecfricity and natural gas at market rate plus a fee. IDT Energy's obligations to BP are 
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secured by a first security interest in deposits or receivables from utilities in connection with their purchase of IDT Energy's customer's 
receivables, and in any cash deposits or letters of credit posted in connection with any collateral accounts with BP. IDT Energy's ability to 
purchase electricify and natural gas under this agreement is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions including the maintenance of certain 
covenants. At December 31, 2012, the Company was in compliance with such covenants. As ofDecember 31, 2012, resfricted cash of $0.8 million 
and trade accounts receivable of S40.2 miUion were pledged to BP as collateral for the payment of IDT Energy's trade accounts payable to BP of 
$15.9 million as of December 31, 2012. 

F-28 

Note 15—Related Party Transactions 

Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, the Company's former parent company, charged the Company for certain fransactions and allocated routine expenses 
based on company specific items. The allocated amounts also included charges for utilizing the net operating loss of IDT, as the Company was 
included in IDT's consolidated federal income tax retum in all periods through the date ofthe Spin-Off. In addition, IDT confrolled the flow of the 
Company's treasury fransactions. Following the Spin-off, IDT charges the Company for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services 
Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, the Company provides specified administrative services to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries. 
The charges for these services reduce the Company's "Selling, general and administrative" expense. 

The amounts IDT charged the Company, and the amounts the Company charged IDT, were as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
Amount IDT charged the Company: 

Included iri "Selling, general and admmisfrative 
expense" 
Included in "Provision for income taxes" 

Amount the Company charged IDT 

S 3,775 $ 
— 

129 

2,578 $ 
1,945 

— 

4,694 $ 
5,736 

• — 

3,774 $ 
— 

— • 

1,837 
3,220 

— 

The Company had notes receivable outstanding from employees aggregating $0.7 million and nil at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, 
which are included in "Other assets" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

Note 16—Business Segment Information 

The Company owns 99.3% of its subsidiary, GEIC, which owns 96.4% of IDT Energy and 92% of GOGAS. The Company has two reportable 
business segments: IDT Energy, an REP supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the Northeastem 
United States, and Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's 
abundant oil shale and other conventional and unconventional fuel resources. The Genie Oil and Gas segment consists of (1) a 50% interest in 
AMSO, LLC, the Company's oil shale project in Colorado, and (2) an 89% interest in lEI, the Company's oil shale project in Israel. In addition, in 
Febmary 2013, GIOG was awarded an exclusive petroleum license by the Govemment of Israel covering 396.5 square kilometers in the southem 
portion ofthe Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant ofthe license is subject to challenge by the competmg applicant 
for the license which may be filed within 30 days of the grant. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, consulting fees, legal fees, 
business development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor 
does it incur any direct cost ofrevenues. 

The Company's reportable segments are distinguished by types of service, customers and methods used to provide their services. The operating 
results ofthese business segments are regularly reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker. 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as the accounting policies of the Company as a whole. The Company evaluates the 
performance of its business segments based primarily on income (loss) from operations. There are no significant asymmefrical allocations to 
segments. 
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Note 15—-Related Parfy Transactions 

Up until the Spin-Off, IDT, the Company's former parent company, charged the Company for certain fransactions and allocated routine expenses 
based on company specific items. The allocated amounts also included charges for utilizing the net operating loss of IDT, as the Company was 
included in IDT's consolidated federal income tax retum in all periods through the date ofthe Spin-Off. In addition, IDT controlled the flow ofthe 
Company's freasury transactions. Following the Spin-off, IDT charges the Company for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services 
Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, the Company provides specified administrative services to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries. 
The charges for these services reduce the Company's "Selling, general and administrative" expense. 

The amounts IDT charged the Company, and the amounts the Company charged IDT, were as follows: 

(in thousands) 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2011 

Year ended 
Jufy 31, 

2010 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31. 
2010 

(Unaudited) 
Amount IDT charged the Company: 

Included in "Selling, general and adminisfrative 
expense" 
Included in "Provision for income taxes" 

Amount the Company charged IDT 

$ 3,775 $ 
— 

129 

2,578 $ 
1,945 
. — 

4.694 $ 
5,736 

— 

3,774 $ 
— 
— 

1,837 
3,220 

— 

The Company had notes receivable outstanding from employees aggregating $0.7 million and nil at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, 
which are included in "Other assets" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

Note 16—^Business Segment Information 

The Company owns 99.3% of its subsidiary, GEIC, which owns 96.4% of IDT Energy and 92% of GOGAS. The Company has two reportable 
business segments: IDT Energy, an REP supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the Northeastem 
United States, and Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's 
abundant oil shale and other conventional and unconventional fuel resources. The Genie Oil and Gas segment consists of (1) a 50% interest in 
AMSO, LLC, the Company's oil shale project in Colorado, and (2) an 89% interest in lEI, the Company's oil shale project in Israel. In addition, in 
Febmary 2013, GIOG was awarded an exclusive petroleum license by the Govemment of Israel covering 396.5 square kilometers in the southem 
portion ofthe Golan Heights. GIOG is controlled by Genie Oil and Gas. The grant ofthe license is subject to challenge by the competing applicant 
for the license which may be filed within 30 days of the grant. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, consulting fees, legal fees, 
business development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor 
does it incur any direct cost ofrevenues. 

The Company's reportable segments are distinguished by types of service, customers and methods used to provide their services. The operating 
results ofthese business segments are regularly reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker. 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as the accounting policies of the Company as a whole. The Company evaluates the 
performance of its business segments based primarily on income (loss) from operations. There are no significant asymmefrical allocations to 
segments. 

F-29 

Operating results for the business segments ofthe Company were as follows: 

(in thousands) IDT Energy 
Genie Oil 

and Gas Corporate Total 
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Operating results for the business segments ofthe Company were as follows: 

(in thousands) IDT Energy 
Genie Oil 

and Gas Corporate Total 
Year ended December 31,2012 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Depreciation 
Research and development 
Equity m Qie net loss of AMSO, LLC 

229,459 $ 
24,972 

40 
(14,038) 

83 
9,365 
3,175 

(7,887 ) 
1 

229,459 
3,047 

124 
9,365 
3,175 

Five Months ended December 31,2011 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Depreciation 
Research and development 
Equify in tiie net loss of AMSO, LLC 

76,783 $ 
8,907 

15 
(5,476) 

2,648 
2,095 

(1,703) 
76,783 

1,728 
15 

2,648 
2,095 

Year ended July 31, 2011 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Depreciation 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

196,018 
22,458 

24 
(13,641 ) 

7,843 
5,238 

(1,843 ) 
196,018 

6,974 
24 

7,843 
5,238 

Year ended July 31,2010 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Depreciation 
Research and development 
Equity m the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

195,429 
37,814 

86 
(7,274) 

5,226 
1,603 

(810) 
195,429 
29,730 

86 
5,226 
1,603 

Five Months ended December 31,2010 (unaudited) 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Depreciation 
Research and development 
Eqiuty in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

74,877 
11,739 

11 
(5,570 ) 

3,045 
1,658 

(613) 

Net long-lived assets and total assets held outside ofthe United States, which are located primarily in Israel, were as follows: 

(in thousands) 
United 
States 

Foreign 
Counfries 

74,877 
5,556 

11 
3,045 
1,658 

There were no revenues from customers located outside ofthe United States in all periods presented. 

Total assets for the business segments ofthe Company were as follows: 

(in thousands) 
Total assets: 
December 31,2012 
December 31, 2011 
July 31, 2011 

IDT Energy 
Genie Oil 

and Gas 

$ 65,377 $ 36,561 i 
60,483 
61,301 

2,498 
5,384 

Corporate 

E 48,368 $ 
87,213 

721 

Total 

150,306 
150,194 
67,406 

Total 
December 31, 2012 
Long-lived assets, net 
Total assets 
December 31,2011 
Long-lived assets, net 
Total assets 

$ 

$ 

71 
142,694 

101 
148,180 

$ 

$ 

346 
7,612 

351 
2,014 

$ 

$ 

417 
150,306 

452 
150,194 
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July 31,2011 
Long-lived assets, net 
Total assets 

82 $ 
64,086 

255 $ 
3,320 

337 
67,406 

F-30 

Note 17—Selected Quarterfy Financial Data (Unaudited) 

The table below presents selected quarterly financial data ofthe Company for its fiscal quarters in 2012 and 2011: 

Quarter Ended 
(in thousands. 

except per share data) 
2012: 

December 31 
September 30 
June 30 
March 31 

TOTAL 
2011: 

December 31 
September 30 
June 30 
March 31 

TOTAL 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Revenues 

65,403 
63,725 
42,826 
57,505 

229,459 

43,621 
52,158 
38,716 
63,426 

197,921 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Direct cost 

ofrevenues 

46,936 
42,285 
31,178 
39,473 

159,872 

32,897 
33,163 
28,902 
46,261 

141,223 

Income (loss) 

$ 

S 

$ 

S 

from 
operations 

1,891 
3,469 

(5,006 ) 
2,693 
3,047 

(2,863 ) 
2,144 

(2,610) 
6,475 
3,146 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Net income 

(loss) 

1,060 
(1,084) 
(3,714) 
1,203 

(2,535) 

(2,085 ) 
138 

(4,172) 
2,380 

(3,739) 

Net 
income 

(loss) 
attributable 

to Genie 

Energy Ltd. 

$ 2,008 
(2,641) 
(3,252) 

604 
$ (3,281) 

$ (1,161) 
1,493 

(2,330 ) 
2,743 

$ 745 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Income (loss) 

Basic 

0.09 $ 
(0.13) 
(0.15) 
0.03 

(0.17) $ 

(0.06) $ 
0.07 

(0.11) 
0.13 
0.04 $ 

per share 

Diluted 

0.08 
(0.13) 
(0.15) 
0.03 

(0.17) 

(0.06 ) 
0.07 

(0.11) 
0.12 
0.03 

F-31 
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EXHIBIT 12.1 

COMPUTATION OF CONSOLIDATED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED 
CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS 

(in thousands) 

Income before income taxes 

Noncontrolling interests in fricome of subsidiaries friat have not incurred fixed charges 
Loss available for fixed charges (a) 

Fixed charges: 
Interest incurred (b) 

Preferredstock dividends 
Total combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends 

Consolidated ratio of eamings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends 

Deficiency in the ratio of eamings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

$ 395 

(Z16) 
i (351) 

211 

211 

N/A (c) 

562 

(a) For purposes of calculating the consolidated ratio of eamings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends, eamings consist of 
income before income taxes less noncontrolling interests in income of subsidiaries that have not incurred fixed charges. 

(b) TheCompany did not incur fixed charges in all periods since August 1, 2009. For periods prior to the year ended December 31, 2012, the 
Company did not accme preferred stock dividends. 

(c) The ratio is negative and therefore not presented. The amount ofthe coverage deficiency is disclosed. 
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Exhibit 21.01 

DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES 

American Shale Oil Corporation (DE) 
American Shale Oil, LLC (DE), Assumed Name in TX: AMSO, LLC 
AMSO Holdings I, Inc. (DE) 
AMSO Holdings, LLC (DE) 
Evergreen Gas & Electric, LLC (DE) 
Genie Energy Intemational Corporation (DE) 
Genie Mongolia, Inc. (DE) 
Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. (DE) 
IDT Energy, Inc. (DE) 
Residents Energy, LLC(NY) 
North American Energy, Inc. (DE) 
Tmpro Energy, LLC (CT) 
Virtual Power Hedging, LLC (DE) 

FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES 

Name 
Genie Dutch Holdings B.V. 
Genie Energie B.V. 
Genie Energy Intemational (Genie Energy Intemational is a registered frade name) 
Genie Energy Israel Ltd. 
Genie IP B.V. 
Genie Israel Oil & Gas Ltd. 
Genie Mongolia B.V. 
Israel Energy Initiatives Ltd. 

Country of Formation 
Netheriands 
Netherlands 
Netherlands 
Israel 
Netherlands 
Israel 
Netherlands 
Israel 
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Exhibit 23.01 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We have issued our report dated March 21, 2013, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of Genie 
Energy Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. We hereby consent to the 
incorporation by reference of said report in the Regisfration Statement of Genie Energy Ltd. and Subsidiaries on Form S-8 (File No. 333-177565, 
effective October 27, 2011). 

Is/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

New York, New York 
March 21, 2013 
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Exhibit 23.02 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We have issued our report dated October 6, 2011, with respect to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended July 31, 2011, included in 
the Armual Report on Form 10-K ofGenie Energy Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2012. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statement ofGenie Energy Ltd. and Subsidiaries on 
Form S-8 (FileNo. 333-177565, effective October 27, 2011). 

Isl ZWICK AND BANYAI, PLLC 

Southfield, Michigan 
March 21, 2013 
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Exhibit 23.03 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We consent to the use, in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Genie Energy Ltd. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries of our report dated 
March 21, 2013 on our audits ofthe balance sheets of American Shale Oil, LLC (A Development Stage Company) as ofDecember 31, 2012 and 
2011 and the related statement ofoperations, members' interest (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012, the period from 
August 1,2011 through December31,2011 and for the year ended July 31, 2011. 

Isl ZWICK AND BANYAI, PLLC 
Southfield, Michigan 
March 21, 2013 
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Exhibit 31.01 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Claude A. Pupkin, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K ofGenie Energy Ltd.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untme statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure confrols and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal confrol over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure confrols and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal confrol over financial reporting, or caused such intemal confrol over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe regisfrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's interna! confrol over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regisfrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case ofan armual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying ofricer(s) and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the regisfrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, sunmiarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
regisfrant's intemal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 21, 2013 

Isl Claude A. Pupkin 

Claude A. Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.02 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer 
pursuant to Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Avi Goldin, certify that: 

1. 1 have reviewed this Aimual Report on Form 10-K ofGenie Energy Ltd.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untme statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure confrols and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal confrol over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure confrols and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such intemal confrol over financial reporting, or caused such intemal confrol over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe regisfrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of tiie disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal confrol over financial reporting that occurred during the 
regisfrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an armual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisfrant's intemal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

(a) Ail significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's intemal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 21, 2013 

Isl Avi Goldin 

Avi Goldin 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32.01 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

Certification Pursuant to 

18 U.S.C. Section 1350 
(as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002) 

In connection with the Annual Report ofGenie Energy Ltd. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2012 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Claude A. Pupkin, Chief Executive Officer ofthe Company, certify, pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results ofoperations ofthe 
Company. 

Date: March 21, 2013 

Isl Claude A. Pupkin 

Claude A. Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the 
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Genie 
Energy Ltd. and will be retained by Genie Energy Ltd. and fumished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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Exhibit 32.02 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

Certification Pursuant to 

18 U.S.C. Section 1350 
(as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002) 

In cormection with the Annual Report of Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the armual period ended December 31, 2012 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Avi Goldin, Chief Financial Officer ofthe Company, certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe SecuritiesExchange Actof 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results ofoperations ofthe 
Company. 

Date: March 21,2013 

Isl Avi Goldin 

Avi Goldin 
Chief Financial Officer 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the 
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Genie 
Energy Ltd. and will be retained by Genie Energy Ltd. and fiamished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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Exhibit 99.01 

AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC. 

(A Development Stage Company) 

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Report oflndependent Registered Public Accoimting Firm on Financial Statements 

Balance Sheets 

Statements of Operations 

Statement of Members' Interest (Deficit) 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Notes to Financial Statements 

F-2 

F-3 

F-4 

F-5 

F-6 

F-7 

F-1 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

To the members of American Shale Oil, LLC, 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of American Shale Oil, LLC (A Development Stage Company) (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and the related statement of operations, members' interest (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, and the period from August 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011, and for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2011. The Company's 
management is responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intemal control over financial reporting. Our audits included 
consideration of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes examinmg, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash fiows for the year ended December 31, 2012, theperiod 
from August 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011, and for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2011, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America. 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concem. As discussed in Note 1 to the 
financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring net losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raises substantial doubt 
about its ability to continue as a going concem. Management's plans in regards to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial 
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 

The accompanying statements ofoperations, members' interest (deficit) and cash flows of the Company for the year ended July 31, 2010 and for 
the period from April 10, 2008 (inception) to July 31, 2010, were not audited by us and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them. 

Isl Zwick and Banyai, PLLC 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

To the members of American Shale Oil, LLC, 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of American Shale Oil, LLC (A Development Stage Company) (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2012 and December 31,2011 and the related statement of operations, members' interest (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, and the period from August 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011, and for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2011. The Company's 
management is responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intemal control over financial reporting. Our audits included 
consideration of intemal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal control over flnancial reporting. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 
December 31,2012 and December 31,2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31,2012, the period 
from August 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011, and for the fiscal year ended Jufy 31, 2011, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America. 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concem. As discussed in Note 1 to the 
financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring net losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raises substantial doubt 
about its ability to continue as a going concem. Management's plans in regards to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial 
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 

The accompanying statements ofoperations, members' interest (deficit) and cash flows ofthe Company for the year ended July 31, 2010 and for 
theperiod from April 10, 2008 (inception) to July 31. 2010, were not audited by us and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them. 

Isl Zwick and Banyai, PLLC 

Zwick and Banyai, PLLC 
Southfield, Michigan 

March 21, 2013 

F-2 

AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31, 
(in thousands) 2012 2011 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

$ 2,171 $ 
61 
8 

2,240 
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AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31, 
(in thousands) 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
Properfy and equipment, net 
Other assets 
TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTEREST (DEFICIT) 
CURRENT LIABILITIJES: 

Trade accounts payable 
Due to Members 
Accmed expenses 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Other liabilities 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

Commitments and contingencies 
MEMBERS' INTEREST (DEFICIT): 

Members' contributions 
Accumulated deficit during the development stage 

TOTAL MEMBERS' INTEREST(DEFICIT) 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTEREST (DEFICIT) 

2012 2011 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2,171 
61 

8 

2,240 
53 

805 

3,098 

46 
247 

1,356 

1,649 
644 

2,293 

61,303 
(60,498) 

805 

3,098 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

1,106 
79 

118 

1,303 
68 

567 

1,938 

500 
328 

2,829 

3,657 
437 

4,094 

49,272 
(51,428) 

(2,156) 

1,938 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

F-3 

AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands) 

: REVENUES 
COSTS AND EXPENSES: 

General and administrative 
Research and development 

TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Loss from operations 

Year ended 

December 31, 

2012 

(Audited) 
$ — 

507 
8,563 

9,070 

(9,070) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 

2011 

(Audited) 

$ — 

248 
9,156 

9,404 

(9,404 ) 

Fiscal year ended July 31, 

2011 

(Audited) 
$ . — 

767 
25,423 

26,190 

(26,190 ) 

2010 

(Unaudited) 

$ — 

910 
7,100 

8,010 

(8,010 ) 

For the 
period from 

April 10, 
2008 

(inception) 
to 

December 
31, 

2012 

(Unaudited) 
$ — 

3,711 
56,792 

60,503 

(60,503 
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AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands) 

REVENUES 
COSTS AND EXPENSES: 

Gener^ and administi-ative 
Research and development 

TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Loss from operations 

Interest (expense) income, net 

NET LOSS 

Year ended 

December 31, 

2012 

(Audited) 

$ — 

507 
8,563 

9,070 

(9,070 ) 
— 

$ (9,070) 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 

2011 

(Audited) 

$ — 

248 
9,156 

9,404 

(9,404 ) 
— 

$ (9,404) 

Fiscal year ended July 31, 

2011 2010 

(Audited) (Unaudited) 

$ — $ . 

767 
25,423 

26,190 

(26,190 ) 

(1) 
$ (26,191) $ 

— 

910 
7,100 

8,010 

(8,010 ) 
(2) 

(8,012) 

For the 
period from 

April 10, 
2008 

(inception) 
to 

December 
31, 

2012 

(Unaudited) 
$ _ 

3,711 
56,792 

60,503 

(60,503 ) 
5 

$ (60,498) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

F-4 

AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' INTEREST (DEFICIT) 

(in thousands) 

BALANCE AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 
Members' contributions 
Net loss 

BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

(Audited) 

S (2,156) 
12,031 
(9,070 ) 

$ 805 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 

2011 

(Audited) 

$ (2,952) 
10,200 
(9,404) 

$ (2,156) 

Fiscal year ended July 31, 

2011 2010 

(Audited) (Unaudited) 

$ 3,526 $ 1,587 
19,713 9,951 

(26,191) (8,012) 

$ (2,952) $ 3,526 

For the 
period from 

April 10, 
2008 

(inception) 
to 

December 
31, 

2012 

(Unaudited) 
$ — 

61,303 
(60,498) 

S 805 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net loss 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in 

operating activities: 
Depreciation 

Change in assets and liabilities: 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets and other assets 
Due to Members 
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other 

liabilities 
Net cash used in operating activities 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Capital expenditures 
Net cash used in investing activities 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Members' capital contributions 
Net cash provided by financing activities 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beghming of period 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 

Five Months 
ended 

December 
31, 

2011 

(Audited) 

For the 
period from 

April 10, 
2008 

(inception) 
to 

December 
31, 

2012 

(Audited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

Fiscal year ended July 31, 
i o n 2010 

(9,070) S (9,404) $ (26,191) $ (8,012) $ (60,498) 

19 7 6 4 36 

18 
(127) 

(8X) 

(1,721) 

(10,962 ) 

(4) 

(4) 

12,031 

12,031 

1,065 
1,106 

$ 2,171 $ 

69 
(110) 
201 

(3,349) 

(12,586) 

— 

— 

10,200 

10,200 

(2,386 ) 
3,492 

1,106 $ 

54 
(115) 

(63) 

5,708 

(20,601) 

(66) 

(66) 

19,713 

19,713 

(954) 
4,446 

3,492 $ 

(149) 
(63) 

(3) 

641 

(7,582) 

(11) 

(11) 

9,951 

9,951 

2,358 
2,088 

4,446 $ 

(61) 
(812) 
247 

2,044 

(59,044 ) 

m) 
(89) 

61,304 

61,304 

2,171 
— 

2,171 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 
American Shale Oil, LLC (the "Company") is one of three holders of leases awarded by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management to research, develop 
and demonstrate in-sim technologies for potential commercial shale oil production ("RD&D Lease") in westem Colorado. The Company's RD&D 
Lease covers an area of 160 acres. The lease runs for a ten year period beginning on January 1, 2007, and is subject to an extension ofup to five 
years if the Company can demonstrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of shale oil is diligently being pursued. If 
the Company can demonstrate the economic and environmental viability of its technology, it will have the opportunity to submit a one-time 
payment pursuant to the Oil Shale Management Regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 5,120 acres which overlap and 
are contiguous with the 160 acres in its RD&D Lease. The Company is in the development stage and had no revenues since its inception. 
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AMERICAN SHALE OIL, LLC (A Development Stage Company) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 
American Shale Oil, LLC (the "Company") is one of three holders of leases awarded by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management to research, develop 
and demonstrate in-situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production ("RD&D Lease") in westem Colorado. The Company's RD&D 
Lease covers an area of 160 acres. The lease mns for a ten year period beginning on January 1, 2007, and is subject to an extension ofup to five 
years if the Company can demonsfrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of shale oil is diligently being pursued. If 
the Company can demonstrate the economic and environmental viability of its technology, it will have the opportunity to submit a one-time 
payment pursuant to the Oil Shale Management Regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 5,120 acres which overlap and 
are contiguous with the 160 acres in its RD&D Lease. The Company is in the development stage and had no revenues since its inception. 

The flnancial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis. The Company incurred aggregate net losses of $60.5 million for the period 
from its inception on April 10, 2008 to December 31, 2012. These incurred losses raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue 
as a going concem. The Company's continuation as a going concem is wholly dependent upon its ability to obtain adequate financing. The 
Company will require substantial additional fiands to finance its ongoing development activities, and will have a continuing long-term need to 
obtain additional financing. Through December 31, 2012, the Company's funding was provided by the members ofthe Company. Future funding 
from the members is dependent upon, among other things, successful progress of the development of the Company's shale oil technology. The 
financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets, or the amounts and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary in the event the Company cannot continue in existence. 

The Company changed its fiscal year end from July 31 to December 31, in order to better align the Company's financial reporting with its 
operational and budgeting cycle and with other industry participants. The Company's financial statements included the results for its transitional 
period for the five months from August 1, 2011 through December 31,2011. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. 
GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Research and Development Costs 
Costs for research and development are charged to expense as incurred. 

Environmental Obligations 
The Company's oil shale development activities are subject to various federal and state laws and regulations goveming the protection of the 
envfronment. The Company conducts its operations so as to protect the public health and environment and believes its operations are in compliance 
with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and 
regulations. The Company is required to make deposits with a state agency to secure future site reclamation and other environmental obligations. 
At December 31, 2012, the deposit amount was $0.8 million and the accrual for site reclamation and environmental obligations was $0.6 million. 
At December 31, 2011, the deposit amount was $0.5 million and the accmal for she reclamation and environmental obligations was $0.4 million. 
The deposits were included in other assets, and the accmals, which were not discounted, were included in other liabilities in the balance sheets. 
Estimating this accrual requires significant judgment and assumptions by management. Should the estimates and assumptions prove to be incorrect, 
the Company may be required to record additional expense in future periods and such expense could be material. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The 
Company holds cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions, which often exceed FDIC insured limits. Historically, the Company has not 
experienced any losses due to such concentration of credit risk. 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a sfraight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which is 5 years. 
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Income Taxes 
The Company is a limited liability company which is classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. The Company's income or loss is 
passed-through to its members and, accordingly, the Company does not pay income taxes. Therefore, no provision for or benefit from income taxes 
in recorded in the accompanying financial statements. 

Contingencies 
The Company accrues for loss contingencies when both (a) information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is 
probable that a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements and (b) the amount of loss can reasonably be estimated. When the 
Company accrues for loss contingencies and the reasonable estimate ofthe loss is within a range, the Company records its best estimate within the 
range. When no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the Company accrues the minimum amount in the range. The 
Company discloses an estimated possible loss or a range of loss when it is at least reasonably possible that a loss may have been incurred. 

Fair Value Measurements 

At December 31, 2012, there were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 

Note 2—Properfy and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists ofthe following: 

December 31 2012 2011 

(in thousands) 
Equipment 
Computer software 
Automobile 

Less accimiulated depreciation 
Property and equipment, net 

Note 3—Members* Interest 

In April 2008, American Shale Oil Corporation, a former subsidiary of IDT Corporation, acquired a 75% equity interest in the Company. As part of 
this purchase, American Shale Oil Corporation made certain commitments for ftiture funding of the Company's operations. In a separate 
transaction in April 2008, IDT Corporation acquired an additional 14.9% equity interest in the Company. 

On October 28, 2011, Genie Energy Ltd. the ultimate parent company of American Shale Oil Corporation was spun-offby IDT Corporation and 
became an independent public company through a pro rata distribution of Genie Energy Ltd.'s common stock to IDT Corporation's stockholders. 

In March 2009, TOTAL E&P Research & Technology USA, ("Total"), a subsidiary of TOTAL S.A., the worid's fifth largest integrated oil and gas 
company, acquired from American Shale Oil Corporation a 50% member's interest in the Company. As part of this transaction. Total made certain 
commitments for future funding ofthe Company's operations. Immediately prior to this transaction, all owners other than American Shale Oil 
Corporation exchanged their ownership interest for a proportionate share of a 1% override on the Company's future revenue. Following the 
transaction with Total, American Shale Oil Corporation and Total each owned a 50% interest in the Company. 

Beginning in January 2011, Total may terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member ofthe Company. If Total 
withdraws as a member of the Company, American Shale Oil Corporation may also terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and 
withdraw as a member ofthe Company. 

Although, subject to certain exceptions, American Shale Oil Corporation and Total are not obligated to make additional contributions to the 
Company beyond their respective commitments, they could dilute or forfeit their ovmership interests in the Company if they fail to contribute their 
respective shares for additional funding. 
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13 
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89 
(36) 

$ 53 

(Audited) 

$ 65 
13 
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86 
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Note 4—Related Parfy Transactions 

American Shale Oil Corporation and Total (collectively, the "Members") charge the Company for their personnel who provide technical assistance 
for the Company's research, development and demonstration activities. In addition, American Shale Oil Corporation charges the Company for 
accounting, accounts payable, human resources, treasury and certain management services. 

The change in the Company's Due to Members balance was as follows: 

(in thousands) 

BALANCE AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 
Amounts charged by Members 
payments 
Amount due to AMSO capitalized in connection with 

March 2009 fransaction with Total 
BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 
AVERAGE BALANCE DURING THE PERIOD 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2012 
(Audited) 

$ 328 
1,542 

Five Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2011 

(Audited) 
S 127 

779 

Fiscal year ended July 31, 
2011 2010 

(Audited) (Unaudited) 
$ 190 $ 193 

2,024 1,683 

For the 
period from 

April 10, 
2008 

(inception) 
to 

December 
31, 

2012 
(Unaudited) 
$ -

7,967 
(1,623) 

247 $ 

288 S 

(578) 

328 $ 

228 S 

(2,087 ) 

127 $ 

158 S 

(1,686) 

190 $ 

192 $ 

(3,806) 

(4,034) 

127 
472 

Note 5—Commitments and Contingencies 

Environmental Obligations 
See Note 1 for contingencies relating to environmental obligations. 

Lease Commitments 
Rental expense under operating leases was $0.1 million and less than $0.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 and in the five months 
ended December 31, 2011, respectively, and $0.1 million intheyear ended Jufy 31, 2011. Rental expense under operating leases was less than $0.1 
miUion (Unaudited) in fiscal 2010, and $0.3 million (Unaudited) in the period from April 10, 2008 (inception) through December 31, 2012. 

Purchase Commitments 
The Company had purchase commhments of $0.8 million as of December 31, 2012. 
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Diversegy is a vi/holly-owned subsidiary of Shuk Holdings LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of IDTEnergy 
Inc., which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Genie Retail Energy, Inc., which is in turn a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Genie Energy International Corp., which is majority-owned (99.3%) by Genie Energy 
Ltd., a publicly traded company (NYSE: GNE). 

Al! updated financial statements and SEC filings for Genre Energy Ltd. can be found 

at http://genie.com/investors/sec-filings/ 

The two most recent 8-K documents can be found below and are Included in the following pages: 

http://b2i.api.edgar-online.com/EFX dil/EdgarPro.dll?FetchFilingHTMLl?SessionlD=gdYf6fMo-22Vo-

9&ID=10282115 

http://b2i.apl.edgar-online.com/EFX dll/EdgarPro.dll?FetchFilingHTMLl?SessionlD=gdYf6fMo-22Vo-

9&ID=10249998 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington , D.C. 20549 

FORM 8-K 

CURRENT REPORT 
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): November 5, 2014 

GENIE ENERGY LTD 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 1-35327 45-2069276 

(State or other jurisdiction (Commission File Number) (IRS Employer 
of incorporation) Identification No.) 

550 Broad Street 
Newark, New Jersey 07102 

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) 

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (973) 438-3500 

Not Applicabie 
(Former name or former address, if changed since last report.) 

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation ofthe registrant under any ofthe 
following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below): 

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) 

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b)) 

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)) 

Item 2.02. Results ofoperations and Financial Condition. 

On November 5, 2014, Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Registrant") posted an eamings release to the investor relations page of its website 
(www.genie.com) announcing its results ofoperations for its fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2014. A copy ofthe eamings release conceming 
the foregoing results is fumished herewith as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Page 285 of 317 

iit(p://b2i.api.edgar-online.com/EFX_dll/EdgarPro.dll?FetchFilingHTMLl?SessionrD=gdYf6fMo-22Vo-9&ID=10282115[12/8/2014 1:01:03 PM] 

http://www.genie.com


Genie Energy Ltd. (Form: 8-K, Received: 11/05/2014 07:40:13) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (11/5/2014) 

Item 2.02. Results ofoperations and Financial Condition. 

On November 5, 2014, Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Registrant") posted an eamings release to the investor relations page of its website 
(www.genie.com) announcing its results ofoperations for its fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2014. A copy ofthe eamings release conceming 
the foregoing results is fumished herewith as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

The Registrant is fumishing the information contained in this Report, including Exhibit 99.1, pursuant to Item 2.02 of Form 8-K 
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), This information shall not be deemed to be "filed" whh the SEC or 
incorporated by reference into any other filing with the SEC unless otherwise expressly stated in such filing. In addition, this Report and the press 
release contain statements intended as "forward-looking statements" that are subject to the cautionary statements about forward-looking statements 
set forth in the press release. 

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

(d) Exhibits. 

Exhibit No. Document 

99.1 Press Release, dated November 5, 2014, reporting the results of operations for Genie Energy Ltd.'s fiscal quarter ended 
September 30,2014. 

SIGNATURE 

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

By: Isl Howard S. Jonas 

Name: Howard S. Jonas 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

Dated: November 5, 2014 

EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit 
Number Document 

99.1 Press Release, dated November 5, 2014, reporting the results of operations for Genie Energy Ltd.'s fiscal quarter ended 
September 30,2014. 
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Exhibit 99.1 

Genie 
Energy 

Genie Energy Ltd. Reports Third Quarter 2014 Results 

NEWARK, NJ — November 5, 2014 : Genie Energy Ltd. (NYSE: GNE, GNEPRA) reported revenue of $46.2 million. Adjusted EBITDA* of 
$856 thousand, and a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $4.8 million ($0.22 per fiilly diluted share), for the third quarter, the three 
months ended September 30,2014. 

• Genie Retail Energy, Genie Energy's retail energy provider business, generated Adjusted EBITDA * of $5.8 million dollars In 3Q14; 

• The Northern District Planning and Building Committee in Israel issued a permit to Genie Energy's Afek subsidiary to conduct a 10-well 
oil and gas drilling exploration program within Afek's license area. Operations have been temporarily halted by an injunction issued by 
the High Court of Israel pending resolution of a legal challenge; 

• In September, Genie Mongolia signed a prospecting agreement with the Petroleum Authority of Mongolia. The new exploration block 
covers twenty-five thousand square kilometers in Central Mongolia southeast ofthe capital city ~ Ulaanbaatar. The Company has begun 
exploratory and resource characterization activities; 

• Genie Energy's working capital increased to $118 million following the purchase ofshares by Chairman and CEO Howard Jonas for 
$24.6 million. 

MANAGEMENT COMMENTS 

Howard Jonas, Genie Energy's Chairman and CEO, said, "The transformation taking place in our retail energy business has established a 
foundation for future growth. At Genie Oil and Gas, we continue to move forward despite a challenging regulatory environment. We added a 
significant new license area in IMongolia with a path to commercialization. I am hopeful that the legal challenges facing Afek will be resolved 
relatively quickly so that we can begin drilling within our Northern Israel license area during the first half of 2015. At lEI, we were disappointed by 
the decision of the Jerusalem District Planning and Building Committee not to issue a permit for our oil shale pilot plant, but I am optimistic that 
we will find a way to move forward on this important long-term project." 

Geoff Rochwarger, Genie Energy's Vice Chairman, said, "Our domestic electricity and natural gas provider business has been evolving rapidly in 
recent months, with exciting initiatives in branding, customer acquisition programs and expanded retail offerings. Reflective of this diversification, 
this quarter we begin reporting on these businesses, including the operations of IDT Energy, as Genie Retail Energy. Genie Retail Energy had a 
solid quarter generating $5.8 million in Adjusted EBITDA on strong margins for electric sales. The number of meters served has stabilized after 
declines in recent quarters, and we are confident that Epiq Energy, our network marketing subsidiary which we acquired less than a year ago, will 
help put us on the path to resume growing our customer base in the year ahead." 

GFNIE ENERGY 3014 CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 

$ in millions, except EPS 
Revenue 
Gross profit 
Gross margin percentage 
SG&A expense including stock-based compensation 

3 
$ 
$ 

$ 

Q14 2Q14 3Q13 
46.2 $ 48.8 $ 71.6 
17.8 S 11.5 $ 19.9 
38.6 % 23.5 % 27.8 % 
18.9 $ 13.4 $ 12.7 

YoY Change (%/$) 
(35.5 )% 
(10.6)% 

+1080 basis points 
+49.1 % 
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3Q14 2Q14 3Q13 YoY Change (%/$) 

GENIE ENERGY 3014 CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 

$ in millions, except EPS 

Revenue 
Gross profit 
Gross margin percentage 
SG&A expense including stock-based compensation 
Stock-based compensation 
Research and development expense 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 
Adjusted EBITDA* 
(Loss) income fi-om operations 
Net (loss) income attributable to Genie Energy common 
stockholders 
Diluted (loss) income per share attributable to Genie Energy's 
common stockholders 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 

* Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure intended to provide useful information that supplements the core operating results in accordance 
with GAAP ofGenie Energy or the relevant segment Please refer to the Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure at the end of this 
release for a complete explanation of Adjusted EBITDA and reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure. 

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW HIGHLIGHTS 

As of September 30, 2014, Genie Energy had $158.8 million in total assets, including $103.0 million in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash 
(short and long term), and certificates of deposit. Liabilities totaled $28.9 million, and working capital (current assets less current liabilities) totaled 
$118.1 million. 

Net cash used in operating activities in 3Q14 was $1.0 million compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $22.6 million in 2Q14 and 
net cash used in operating activities of $2.0 million in 3Q13. 

Through the nine months ended September 30, 2014, Genie Energy has distributed $982 thousand in dividends to holders of its Series 2012-A 
Preferred Stock. 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 

$ 
$ 

46.2 $ 
17.8 $ 
38.6 % 
18.9 $ 
4.9 $ 
3.0 $ 
0.0 $ 
0.9 $ 

(4.1) $ 

(4.8) $ 

(0.22) $ 
(1.0) $ 

48.8 $ 
11.5 $ 
23.5 % 
13.4 $ 
1.7 $ 
2.4 $ 
0.0 $ 

(2.6) $ 
(4.3) $ 

(5.2) $ 

(0.24) $ 
22.6 $ 

71.6 
19.9 
27.8 % 
12.7 
1.0 
2.7 
0.7 
5.0 
3.9 

1.7 

0.08 
(2.0) 

$ 
$ 

s. 
$ 

$ 
$ 

(35.5 )% 
(10.6)% 

+1080 bssis points 
+49.1 % 
+$3.9 
+14.7 % 

(0.7) 
(4.2) 
(8.1) 

(6.5) 

(0.30 ) 
(1.1) 

RESULTS BY SEGMENT 

Genie Retail Energy 

Genie Energy's retail energy provider and related businesses will be referred to as 'Genie Retail Energy' in this and future earnings 
announcements. This change refiects the Company's evolving business strategy including the diversification and expansion of brands, marketing 
and sales channels, and customer offerings beyond those which historically were referred to as 'IDT Energy'. 

S in millions 

Total revenue 
Elech-icity revenue 
Natural gas revenue 

Gross profit 
Gross margin percentage 
SG&A expense 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Income from operations 

3Q14 2Q14 3Q13 YoY Change 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

46.2 $ 
43.4 $ 

2.8 $ 
17.8 $ 
38.6 % 
12.2 $ 
5.8 $ 
5.6 $ 

48.8 $ 
40.0 $ 

8.8 $ 
11.5 $ 
23.5 % 
10.5 $ 
1.1 $ 
0.9 $ 

71.6 
66.9 
4.7 

19.9 
27.8 % 
10.3 
9.9 
9.6 

(35.5 )% 
(35.2)% 
(40.0)% 
(10.6)% 

+1080 basis points 
+18.1 % 
(41.5)% 
(41.5)% 
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RESULTS BY SEGMENT 

Genie Retail Energy 

Genie Energy's retail energy provider and related businesses will be referred to as 'Genie Retail Energy' in this and future earnings 
announcements. This change reflects the Company's evolving business strategy including the diversification and expansion of brands, marketing 
and sales channels, and customer offerings beyond those which historically were referred to as 'IDT Energy'. 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

46.2 $ 
43.4 $ 

2.8 $ 
17.8 $ 
38.6 % 
12.2 $ 
5.8 $ 
5.6 S 

48.8 $ 
40.0 $ 

8.8 $ 
11.5 $ 
23.5 % 
10.5 $ 
l.I $ 
0.9 $ 

71.6 
66.9 
4.7 

19.9 
27.8 % 
10.3 
9.9 
9.6 

(35.5 )% 
(35.2)% 
(40.0 )% 
(10.6)% 

+1080 basis points 
+18.1 % 
(41.5)% 
(41.5)% 

$ in millions 3Q14 2Q14 3Q13 YQV Chaugg 

Total revenue 
Electricity revenue 
Natural gas revenue 

Gross profit 
Gross margin percentage 
SG&A expense 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Income from operations 

In 3Q14, Genie Retail Energy increased gross meter acquisitions to 56 thousand in 3Q14 from 55 thousand in 2Q14 and decreased compared to 64 
thousand in 3Q13. The sequential increase incorporates conh-ibutions from several early stage initiatives: Epiq Energy's network marketing 
program, the deployment of an in house door-to-door sales force, utilization of a new brand — Residents Energy, and the expanded deployment of a 
12-month guaranteed rate offering in some utility territories. As previously disclosed, IDT Energy purchased Epiq Energy, operator of a network 
marketing channel, in December 2013. The improving customer acquisition performance also reflected the resumption of sales activity in all 
markets following suspensions in some areas related to the polar vortex. 

Genie Retail Energy's average monthly customer chum decreased significantly compared to the prior quarter, falling to 6.2% (representing 58 
thousand meters) from 8.1% in 2Q14, reflecting a retum to a 'normalized' chum rate following the impact of last winter's polar vortex. The 3QI4 
chum rate was also slightly below the year ago quarter's 6.3% chum rate. 

Genie Retail Energy's meters served decreased sequentially by approximately two thousand meters to 362 thousand at September 30, 2014 
compared to 364 thousand at June 30, 2014 and 456 thousand at September 30, 2013. 

Meters at end of Quarter 
(in thousands) 

Electricity meters 
Natural gas meters 

Total 

September 30, 
2014 

235 
127 
362 

June 30, 
2014 

238 
126 
364 

March 31, 
2014 

256 
135 
391 

December 31, 
2013 

282 
145 
427 

September 30, 
2013 

300 
156 
456 

Genie Retail Energy's residential customer equivalents (RCEs) also decreased year over year and sequentially, declining to 248 thousand reflecting 
the impact of the relatively cool summer in the service region and higher rates of chum among relatively higher average consumption meters, 
primarily in Permsylvania-

RCEs at end of Quarter 
(in thousands) 

Electricity RCEs 
Natural gas RCEs 

Total 

September 30, 
2014 

165 
83 

248 

June 30, 
2014 

174 
86 

260 

March 31, 
2014 

198 
90 

288 

December 31, 
2013 

228 
87 

315 

September 30, 
2013 

246 
91 

337 

Genie Retail Energy's revenue decreased to $46.2 million in 3Q14 from $71.6 million in the year ago quarter refiecting significant decreases in 
electric and gas meters and consumption. 

Electricity revenue decreased 35.2% year over year to $43.4 million in 3Q14. The decline primarily reflected the reduction in meters served over 
the past year augmented by a decline in consumption per meter reflective of the relatively cooler summer compared to the prior year. kWH sold 
decreased 36.7% year over year as the average number of meters served declined 20.8% and consumption per meter decreased 20.0%. 
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Average revenue per kWh sold increased 2.3% year over year, even as the average cost per kWh decreased 14.8%. As a result, the gross margin 
percentage on electric sales increased to 39.7% compared to 27.5% in the year ago quarter. Gross profit on electric sales was $17.2 million 
compared to $18.4 million in the year ago quarter. 

Natural gas revenue decreased 40.0% to $2.8 million in 3Q14. The decrease in revenue was driven by a 22.8% decline in therms sold reflective of 
the decline in gas meters served, and a 22.3% decrease in revenue per therm sold reflective of a significant decrease in the market price of natural 
gas. Genie Retail Energy's average cost per therm sold decreased 11.0%, declining more slowly than revenue per therm. As a result, the gross 
margin percentage on gas sales declined to 22.2% compared to 32.0% in the year ago quarter. Gross profit on gas sales was $0.6 million compared 
to $1.5 million in the year ago quarter. 

Genie Retail Energy's SG&A expense in 3Q14 increased 18.1% year over year to $12.2 million primarily due to personnel, professional, 
consulting and software costs associated with the integration and ramp-up ofoperations at Diversegy and Epiq Energy. 

Genie Retail Energy generated Adjusted EBITDA of $5.8 million in 3Q14 compared to $9.9 million in the year ago quarter, and income from 
operations of $5.6 miUion compared to $9.6 million in 3Q13. The decreases in Adjusted EBITDA and income from operations were driven 
primarily by lower electricity and natural gas gross profit and increased SG&A. 

a^nie OH and Gas (GOGAS) 

GOGAS currently generates no revenue. GOGAS' operating expenses consist primarily of research and development, resource evaluation and 
other business development efforts. 

GOGAS reported $249 thousand in SG&A expense in 3Q14, compared to $374 thousand in 3Q13. R&D expense was $3.0 million in 3Q14, 
compared to $2.7 million in 3Q13. 

In 3Q14 Genie elected not to fund its portion of capital calls for AMSO, LLC, and AMSO LLC's joint venture partner funded those calls under 
existing agreements. 

GOGAS' loss from operafions in 3QI4 was $3.3 million compared to $3.7 million in 3Q13. 

Corporate 

Genie Energy's corporate SG&A expense totaled $6.4 million in 3Q14, including $4.7 million in stock-based compensation related primarily to the 
amendment of Howard Jonas' employment agreement. In 3Q13, corporate SG&A expense totaled $1.9 million, including $611 thousand in stock-

based compensation. 

GOGAS OPERATIONS - PROJECT UPDATES 

Afek — Oil and Gas Exploratory Project in Northern Israel 
Afek was awarded a 36-month (extendable to seven years) petroleum exploration license covering 396.5 square kilometers in Northem Israel in 
2013. Afek conducted above ground geophysical tests, and, based upon its analysis ofthe results, applied to Israel's Northem District Planning and 
Building Committee for a permit to conduct a 10-well oil and gas exploration drilling program. In July, the Committee voted to approve the Afek 
application, and subsequently issued the drilling permit. 
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On October 20, 2014, the High Court of Justice in Israel issued an interim order to halt Afek's drilling program until it rules on a pethion filed by 
the Israel Union for Environmental Defense and some local residents challenging the issuance ofthe drilling permit. In announcing its decision, the 
Court stated that it expects to convene a three judge panel to hear arguments on the petitions within approximately two months. 

Isr&el Energy Initiatives (lEI) — Oil Shale Exploration Project in Central Israel 
lEI submitted its application to conduct an oil shale pilot test in 2013 to the Jerusalem District Planning and Building Committee. In September of 
2014, the Committee declined to issue lEI the permit. lEI is currently evaluating its options to determine the best course of action to move forward 
to exploit the resource covered by the exploration license. 

Genie Mongolia — Oil Shale Exploration Project in Central Mongolia 
In April 2013, Genie Mongolia and the Petroleum Authority ofMongolia entered into an exclusive oil shale development agreement to explore and 
evaluate the commercial potential of oil shale resources on a 34,470 square kilometer area in Central Mongolia. In September 2014, Genie 
Mongolia signed a prospecting agreement with the Petroleum Authority of Mongolia covering an additional 25,000 square kilometers in Central 
Mongolia. The 2014 agreement, the first to be signed under recently passed legislation, also provides a framework under which Genie Mongolia 
can request a commercial production agreement once a specific suitable resource and location are identified. In aggregate, Genie Mongolia 
currently has exclusive rights to explore for oil shale in approximately 60,000 square kilometers. In 3Q14, Genie Mongolia continued surface 
mapping and other geophysical evaluation work ofthe area. 

AMSO, LLC - Oil Shale RD&D Project in Western Colorado 
During 3Q14, AMSO, LLC continued its review of altemative heating system solutions. The heater development and new equipment qualification 
process will confinue through the remainder of 2014 and into 2015. Significant progress was made in the design, construction and operation of 
specialized testing systems to qualify various components ofthe various down-hole heaters under consideration. A number of additional testing 
systems will be deployed over the coming months to aid in evaluating heater equipment for potential use in pilot operations. 

GOGAS has not funded its portion of AMSO, LLC's caphal calls to date during 2014. Total S.A. funded GOGAS' share in the aggregate amount 
of $3.0 million. As a result, GOGAS' ownership interest in AMSO, LLC was reduced to 44.3% and Total's ownership interest increased to 55.7%. 
GOGAS is evaluating its options with respect to funding AMSO, LLC in 2015. Funding of less than GOGAS' full share will result in further 
dilution of its interest in AMSO, LLC. 

GF.NIE ENERGY EARNINGS CONFERENCE CALL 

Genie Energy's management will host a conference call at 8:30 AM Eastem today, November 5 * , to discuss financial and operational results, 
business outlook and strategy. The call will begin with management's remarks followed by Q&A with analysts and investors. 

To listen to the call and/or to participate in the Q&A, dial 1-800-860-2442 (domestic toll-free) or 1-412-858-4600 (intemational) and request the 
Genie Energy call. 

An audio file ofthe call in MP3 format replay will be available on the "Investors" section ofthe Genie Energy website approximately one hour 
after the call concludes. In addition, a teleconference replay will be available through November 12, 2014 at 1-877-870-5176 (US toll free) or I-

858-384-5517 (intemational). Callers should ask for conference call # 10055503. 

Genie Energy quarterly eamings releases are not distributed via news wire services. Investors can download the eamings release from the Genie 
Energy website investor relations page: htfp^^^www.genie.com/investors/investor-relations . Genie Energy encourages interested investors to sign 
up for email alerts through its website http://genie.com/investors/email-alerts/to have eamings releases and other press releases emailed directly to 
theni. 
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ABOUT GENTF. ENERGY LTD. 

Genie Energy Ltd. (NYSE: GNE, GNEPRA) is comprised ofGenie Retail Energy and Genie Oil and Gas (GOGAS). Genie Retail Energy is a 
retail energy provider supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the Northeastem United States, and other 
operations in the retail energy provider industry. GOGAS is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the 
world's abundant oil shales and other fuel resources. GOGAS resource development projects include a conventional oil and gas exploration 
program in Israel and in-situ oil shale projects in Colorado, Israel and Mongolia. For more information, visit www.genie.com . 

In this press release, all statements that are not purely about historical facts, including, but not limited to, those in which we use the words 
"believe," "anticipate," "expect," "plan, " "intend, " "estimate, "target" and similar expressions, are forward-looking statements within the 

meaning ofthe Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. While these forward-looking statements represent our current judgment of what 
may happen in the future, actual results may differ materially from the results expressed or implied by these statements due to numerous important 
factors, including, but not limited to, those described in our most recent report on SEC Form IO-K (under the headings "Risk Factors" and 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations"), which may be revised or supplemented in 

subsequent reports on SEC Forms IO-K, 10-Q and 8-K. These factors include, but are not limited to. the following: potential declines in prices for 
our products and services; our ability to return to profltability and improve our cash fiow; impact of government regidation; effectiveness ofour 
marketing and distribution efforts; and general economic conditions. We are under no obligation, and expressly disclaim any obligation, to update 
the forward-looking statements in this press release, whether as a result of new Information, future events or otherwise. 

Contact: 
Genie Energy Investor Relations 
Bill Ulrey 
P: (973) 438-3848 
E-mail: 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

September December 
30, 31, 
2014 2013 

(Ul 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash—short-term 
Ctatificates of deposit 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,238 at September 30, 2014 and 
$930 at December 31, 2013 
Receivable due from related party 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income tax assets, net 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 144,977 146,092 
Property and equipment, net 1,748 561 
Goodwill 7,226 7,349 
Reshicted cash—long-term 1,074 1,127 
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(Unaudited) 
(in thousands) 

$ 86,238 $ 
11,000 
4,661 

24,976 
263 

8,979 
4,170 

920 
3,770 

73,885 
14,429 
4,343 

42,926 
— 

3,344 
3,408 

840 
2,917 
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GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash etiuivalents 
Restricted cash—short-term 
Certificates of deposit 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,238 at September 30, 2014 and 
$930 at December 31, 2013 
Receivable due from related party 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income tax assets, net 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 
Property and equipment, net 
Goodwill 
Restricted cash—long-term 
Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities and equity 
Current liabilities: 

Trade accounts payable 
Accmed expenses 
Advances from customers 
Income taxes payable 
Due to IDT Corporation 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 
Other liabilities 

Total Habilities 28,893 42,503 
Commitments and contingencies 
Equity: 

Genie Energy Ltd. stockholders' equity: 
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; audiorized shares—10,000: 

Series 2012-A, designated shares—8,750; at liquidation preference, consisting of 2,322 and 1,917 shares 
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 

Class A common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—35,000; 1,574 shares issued and outstanding at 
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 

Class B common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—200,000; 23,178 and 19,755 shares issued and 
23,000 and 19,696 shares outstanding at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 

Additional paid-in capital 
Treasury stock, at cost, consisting of 178 and 59 shares of Class B common stock at September 30, 2014 

and December 31,2013, respectively 
Accumulated other comprehensive mcome 
Retained eamings 

Total Genie Energy Ltd. stockholders' equity 
Noncontrolling interests: 
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September 
30, 

2014 
(Unaudited) 

1 December 
31, 
2013 

(in thousands) 

$ 86,238 
11,000 
4,661 

24,976 
263 

8,979 
4,170 

920 
3,770 

144,977 
1,748 
7,226 
1,074 
3,806 

$ 158,831 

$ 13,618 
9,944 

227 
278 
831 

2,010 
26,908 

1,985 

$ 

z 

$ 

73,885 
14,429 
4,343 

42,926 
— 

3,344 
3,408 

840 
2,917 

146,092 
561 

7,349 
1,127 
3,714 

158,843 

25,302 
9,856 
1,103 
2,075 

541 
1,457 

40,334 
2,169 

19,743 

16 

232 
112,156 

(1,430) 
403 

4,521 
135,641 
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NonconfroUing interests 
Receivable for issuance ofequity 

Total noncontrolling interests 
Total equity 
Total liabilities and equity 

(4,703) 

(1,000) 

(5,703) 

129,938 

$ 158,831 $ 

(3.792 ) 

(1,000) 

(4,792) 

116,340 

158,843 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

2014 2013 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2014 
(in thousands, except per share data) 

43,357 
2,829 

66,923 
4,715 

179,347 
45,998 

46,186 
(28,359) 

71,638 
(51,699) 

225,345 
(186,170) 

17,827 19,939 

(4,358) 
(467) 

3,119 
(1,077) 

39,175 

(16,558 ) 
(420) 

2013 

166,613 
45,490 

212,103 
(163,179) 

48,924 

Revenues: 
Electricity 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 
Gross profit 
Operating expenses and losses: 

Selling, general and administrative (i) 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

(Loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other income (expense), net 

(Loss) income before income taxes 
Provision for income taxes 

Net (loss) income (4,825) 2,042 (16,978) (4,223) 
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests 430 (51) 929 (1,197) 

Net (loss) income attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. (4,395) 1,991 (16,049) (5,420) 
Dividends on preferred stock gTO) (306) (1,046) (917) 

Net (loss) income attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. common stockholders. $ (4,765) $ 1,685 $ (17,095) $ (6,337) 

18,890 
3,044 

— 
(4,107) 
117 
(518) 

150 

12,666 
2,653 

672 

3,948 
59 

(729) 

(159) 

46,605 
7,513 

— 
(14,943 ) 

310 
(2,046) 

121 

37,572 
7,734 

2,607 

1,011 
351 

(2,524) 

(344) 

(1,506) 
(2,717) 

(Loss) earnings per share attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. common 
stockholders; 
Basic 

Diluted 

$ (0.22) $ 0.09 $ (0.81) $ (0.33) 

$ (0.22) $ 0.08 $ (0.81) $ (0.33) 

Weighted-average number ofshares used in calculation of (loss) eamings 
per share: 
Basic 

Diluted 

(i) Stock-based compensation included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses 

21,224 

21,224 

19,384 

21,089 

21,189 

21,189 
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Genie Energy Ltd. (Fomi: 8-K, Received: 11/05/2014 07:40:13) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (11/5/2014) 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(Unaudited) 

Revenues; 
Elechicity 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost ofrevenues 
Gross profit 
Operating expenses and losses: 

Selling, general and adminisfrative (i) 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

(Loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other income (expense), net 

(Loss) income before income taxes 
Provision for income taxes 

Net (loss) income 
Net loss (income) attributable to nonconfrolHng interests 

Net (loss) income attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 
Dividends on preferred stock 

Net (loss) income attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. common 

(Loss) eamings per share attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. common 
stockholders: 
Basic 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

2014 
(in 

$ 43,357 
2,829 

46,186 
(28,359) 
17,827 

18,890 
3,044 

(4,107) 
117 

(518) 
150 

(4,358) 
(467) 

(4,825) 
430 

(4,395 ) 
(370) 

stockholders. $ ^4^755) 

2013 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2014 
thousands, except per share data) 

$ 

$ 

66,923 $ 
4,715 

71,638 
(51,699) 
19,939 

12,666 
2,653 

672 
3,948 

59 
(729) 
(159) 

3,119 
(1,077) 
2,042 

(51) 
1,991 
(306) 

1,685 $ 

179,347 $ 
45,998 

225,345 
(186,170) 

39,175 

46,605 
7,513 

(14,943) 
310 

(2,046) 
121 

(16,558) 
(420) 

(16,978) 
929 

(16,049) 
(1,046) 

(17,095) $ 

2013 

166,613 
45,490 

212,103 
(163,179) 

48,924 

37,572 
7,734 
2,607 
1,011 

351 
(2,524) 

(344) 
(1,506) 
(2,717) 
(4,223 ) 
(1,197) 
(5,420 ) 

(917) 

(6,337 ) 

$ (0.22) $ 0.09 $ (0.81) $ (0.33) 

Diluted $ (0.22) $ 0.08 $ (0.81) $ (0.33) 

Weighted-average number ofshares used in calculation of (loss) eamings 
per share: 
Basic 

Diluted 

(i) Stock-based compensation included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses 

21,224 

21,224 

19,384 

21,089 

21,189 

21,189 

19,413 

19,413 

4,929 $ 1,064 $ 8,492 $ 3,155 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
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Genie Energy Ltd. (Fomi: 8-K, Received: 11/05/2014 07:40:13) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (11/5/2014) 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Unaudited) 

Operating activities 
Net loss 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: 

Depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 
Stock-based compensation 
Loss on disposal of property 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Change in assets and Habilities: 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets and other assets 
Trade accounts payable, accmed expenses, other current liabilities and other liabilities 
Advances from customers 
Due to IDT Corporation 
Income taxes payable 

Net cash used in operating activities 
Investing activities 

Capital expenditures 
Capital contributions to AMSO, LLC 
Payments for acquisition 
Issuance of note receivable 
Purchases of certificates of deposit 
Proceeds from maturities of certificates of deposit 
Purchases of marketable securities 
Proceeds from maturities and sale of marketable securities 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 
Financing activities 

Dividends paid 
Proceeds from purchases of Class B common stock by Howard S. Jonas 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 
Advance on sale of interest in subsidiary 
Repurchases of Class B common stock 

Net cash provided by (used m) financing activities 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash md cash equivalents 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2014 2013 

(in thousands) 

(16,978) $ (4,223) 

92 
(80) 
308 

8,492 
— 
— 

3,482 

17,642 
(5,635 ) 
(763) 

(1,143) 

(11,129) 
(876) 
290 

(1,796) 

(8,094 ) 

(1,261) 

— 
(574) 

(50) 
(4,655) 

4,334 
— 
— 

(2,206) 

(982) 
24.552 

27 
300 
(957) 

22,940 

(287) 

12,353 

73,885 

$ 86,238 $ 

80 
— 
— 

3,155 

37 
2,607 

(665) 
1,799 
(834) 

651 
(950) 

(2,556) 
(399) 
(78) 

693 

(683) 

(300) 
(2,345) 

__ 
(375) 

(5,330) 

2,205 

(3) 
10,033 

3,885 

(826) 
— 
53 
— 

(270) 

(1,043) 

279 
2,438 

69,409 

71,847 
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Genie Energy Ltd- (Form: 8-K, Received: 11/05/2014 07:40:13) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (11/5/2014) 

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure for the Third Quarter of 2014 

In addition to disclosing financial results that are determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of 
America (GAAP), Genie Energy also disclosed for the third quarter of 2014 Adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP measure. Generally, a non-

GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company's performance, financial position, or cash fiows that either excludes or includes 
amounts that are not normally excluded or included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. 

Genie Energy's measure of Adjusted EBITDA consists of gross profit less selling, general and administrative expense, research and development 
expense, and equity in net loss of AMSO, LLC, plus depreciation and stock-based compensation (which are included in selling, general and 
administrative expense). Another way of calculating Adjusted EBITDA is to start with income (loss) from operations and add depreciation and 
stock-based compensation. 

Management believes that Genie Energy's Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to both management and investors by excluding certain 
expenses that may not be indicative of Genie Energy's or the relevant segment's core operating results. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA, 
among other measures, as a relevant indicator of core operational strengths in its financial and operational decision making. In addition, 
management uses Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate operating performance in relation to Genie Energy's competitors. Disclosure of this financial 
measure may be useful to investors in evaluating performance and allows for greater transparency to the underlying supplemental information used 
by management in its financial and operational decision-making. In addition, Genie Energy has historically reported Adjusted EBITDA and 
believes it is commonly used by readers of financial information in assessing performance, therefore the inclusion of comparative numbers 
provides consistency in financial reporting at this time. 

Management refers to Adjusted EBITDA, as well as the GAAP measures gross profit, income (loss) from operations and net income (loss), on a 
segment and/or consolidated level to facilitate intemal and extemal comparisons to the segments' and Genie Energy's historical operating results, in 
making operating decisions, for budget and planning purposes, and to form the basis upon which management is compensated. 

While depreciation is considered an operating cost under GAAP, it primarily represents the non-cash current period allocation of costs associated 
with long-lived assets acquired or constmcted in prior periods. While Genie Energy's business may be capital intensive in the future, Genie Energy 
does not expect to incur significant capital expenditures for the foreseeable future. Genie Energy's operating results exclusive of depreciation is 
therefore a useful indicator of its current performance. 

Stock-based compensation recognized by Genie Energy and other companies may not be comparable because of the various valuation 
methodologies, subjective assumptions and the variety of types of awards that are permitted under GAAP. Stock-based compensation is excluded 
from Genie Energy's calculation of Adjusted EBITDA because management believes this allows investors to make more meaningful comparisons 
ofthe operating results ofGenie Energy's core business with the results of other companies. However, stock-based compensation will continue to 
be a significant expense for Genie Energy for the foreseeable future and an important part of employees' compensation that impacts their 
performance. 

Adjusted EBITDA should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, or superior to, gross profit, income (loss) from operations, cash flow 
from operating activities, net income (loss), basic and diluted eamings (loss) per share or other measures of liquidity and financial performance 
prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, Genie Energy's measurements of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures reported by other companies. 

Following is the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is income (loss) from operations for 
Genie Energy's reportable segments and net income (loss) for Genie Energy on a consolidated basis. 

10 

Genie Energy Ltd. 
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net (Loss) Income 
(unaudited) 
$ in thousands 

Genie Retail 
Total Energy GOGAS Corporate 
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Genie Energy Ltd. (Form: 8-K, Received: 11/05/2014 07:40:13) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (11/5/2014) 

Total 
Genie Retail 

Energy GOGAS 

Genie Energy Ltd. 
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net (Loss) Income 
(unaudited) 
$ in thousands 

Three Months Ended September 30,2014 
(3Q14) 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subtract: 

Stock-based compensation 
Depreciation 

(Loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other income, net 
Provision for income taxes 
Net loss 
Net loss atfributable to nonconfrolHng interests 
Net loss atfributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014 
(2Q14) 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subtract: 

Stock-based compensation 
Depreciation 

(Loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financmg fees 
Other expense, net 
Provision for income taxes 

Net loss 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 
Net loss attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

Three Months Ended September 30,2013 
(3Q13) 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subteact; 

Stock-based compensation 
Depreciation 

Income (loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other expense, net 
Provision for income taxes 
Net income 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 
Net income atfributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 
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Corporate 

$ 

1. 

$ 

i-

$ 

$ 

856 $ 

4,929 
34 

(4,107) $ 
117 

(518) 
150 

(467) 
(4,825 ) 

430 
(4,395) 

5,771 

152 
7 

5,612 

Genie Retail 
Total 

(2,591) $ 

1,724 
29 

(4,344) $ 
99 

(583) 
(45) 

(134) 
(5,007) 

136 
(4,871) 

Energy 

1,120 

177 
3 

940 

Genie Retail 
Total 

5,041 $ 

1,064 
29 

3,948 $ 
59 

(729) 
(159) 

(1,077) 
2,042 

(51) 
1,991 

Energy 

9,856 

257 
3 

9,596 

$ (3,235) $ (1,680) 

32 4,745 
27 

$ (3,294) $ (6,425) 

GOGAS Corporate 

$ (2,605) $ (1,106) 

138 1,409 
26 

$ (2,769) $ (2,515) 

GOGAS Corporate 

$ (3,477) $ (1,338) 

196 611 
26 

$ (3,699) $ (1,949) 
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Genie Energy Ltd. (Fomi: 8-K, Received: 11/05/2014 07:40:13) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (11/5/2014) 

11 

Genie Energy Ltd. 
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Loss 
(unaudited) 
$ in thousands 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subtract: 

Stock-based compensation 

Depreciation 

(Loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other income, net 
Provision for income taxes 

Net loss 
Net loss attributable to nonconfrolHng interests 
Net loss attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

Total 

$ (6,359) 

8,492 
92 

(14,943) 
310 

(2,046) 
121 

(420) 

G 

$ 

$ 

enie Retail 
Energy 

6,127 

471 
13 

5,643 

GOGAS Corporate 

(16,978) 

929 

$ (8,112) $ (4,374) 

309 
78 

7,712 
1 

(8,499) $ (12,087) 

$ (16,049) 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subtract: 

Stock-based compensation 

Depreciation 
Income (loss) from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other expense, net 
Provision for income taxes 

Net loss 
Net income attributable to nonconfroUing interests 

Net loss attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

Genie Retail 
Total 

$ 4,246 $ 

3,155 
80 

1,011 $ 
351 

(2,524) 
(344) 

(2,717) 

Energy 

19,732 

748 
12 

18,972 

$ 

$ 

GOGAS 

(10,968 ) 

471 
67 

(11,506) 

Corporate 

$ (4,518 

1,936 
1 

$ (6,455 

(4,223 ) 
(1,197) 

$ (5,420) 

12 
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Genie Energy Ltd. 
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Loss 
(unaudited) 
$ in thousands 

Nine Months Ended September 30,2014 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subtract: 

Stock-based compensation 
Depreciation 

(Loss) income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other income, net 
Provision for income taxes 

Net loss 
Net loss atfributable to nonconfroilmg interests 
Net loss attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

Nine Months Ended September 30,2013 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Subtract: 

Stock-based compensation 
Depreciation 

Income (loss) from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other expense, net 
Provision for income taxes 
Net loss 
Net income atfributable to nonconfroUing mterests 
Net loss attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

Total 
Genie Retail 

Energy GOGAS Corporate 

$ (6,359) $ 6,127 $ (8,112) $ (4,374) 

8,492 
92 

(14,943 ) 
310 

(2,046) 
121 

(420) 
(16,978) 

929 
$ (16,049) 

Total 

471 
13 

$ 5,643 

Genie Retail 
Energy 

309 
78 

$ (8,499) 

GOGAS 

7,712 
1 

$ (12,087 

Corporate 

4,246 $ 19,732 $ (10,968) $ (4,518) 

$ 

3,155 
80 

1,011 $ 
351 

(2,524) 
(344) 

(2,717) 
(4,223 ) 
(1.197) 
(5,420) 

748 
12 

18,972 $ 

471 
67 

(11,506) $ 

1,936 
1 

(6,455 

12 
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Genie Energy Ltd. (Fomi: 8-K, Received: 10/15/2014 16:38:46) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (10/15/14) 

UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 8-K 

CURRENT REPORT 
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): October 15, 2014 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter) 

1-35327 
(Commission File Number) 

Delaware 45-2069276 

(State or other jurisdiction 
of incorporation) 

550 Broad Street 
Newark, New Jersey 

(IRS Employer 
Identification No.) 

07102 
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) 

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (973) 438-3500 

Not Applicable 
(Former name or former address, if changed since last report.) 

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation ofthe registrant under any ofthe 
following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below): 

D Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

n Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) 

n Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b)) 

D Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)) 
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GenieEnergy Ltd. (Fomi: 8-K, Received: 10/15/2014 16:38:46) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (10/15/14) 

Item 7.01 Regulation FD Disclosure. 

On October 15, 2014, Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Registrant") posted the attached release (the "Release") to the investor relations page of 
the Registrant's website ( www.genie.com 1 relating to the Registrant's forthcoming dividend. A copy of the Release is fumished herewith as 
Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

The Registrant is fumishing the information contained in this Report, including Exhibit 99.1, pursuant to Item 7.01 of Form 8-K 
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). This information shall not be deemed to be "filed" with the SEC or 
incorporated by reference into any other filing with the SEC. In addition, the questions and answers posting contain statements intended as 
"forward-looking statements" that are subject to the cautionary statements about forward-looking statements set forth in the question and answers 

posting. 

Item 8.01 Other Events. 

The information contained in Item 7.01 above is incorporated herein by reference into this Item 8.01. 

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

(d) Exhibits. 

Exhibit No. Document 99.1 Release, dated October 15,2014. 

SIGNATURE 

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regisfrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

By: Isl Howard S. Jonas 

Name: Howard S. Jonas 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

Dated: October 15, 2014 

Exhibit Index 

Exhibit No. Document 

99.1 Release, dated October 15,2014. 
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Genie Energy Ltd. (Form: 8-K, Received: 10/15/2014 16:38:46) Exhibit C-2 SEC Filings 8-K (10/15/14) 

Exhibit 99.1 

Gcnic 
P^nergy 

GENIE ENERGY DECLARES 3 l^OUARTER 2014 DIVIDEND ON PREFERRED STOCK 

NEWARK NJ - October 15, 2014 : The Board ofDirectors ofGenie Energy Ltd., (NYSE: GNE, GNEPRA) today declared a third quarter 2014 
dividend of $0.1594 per share of its Series 2012-A Preferred Stock. 

The dividend will be paid on November 14, 2014 to preferred stockholders ofrecord as ofthe close ofbusiness on November 6, 2014. The ex-
dividend date is November 4, 2014. 

The distribution will be treated as a retum of capital for tax purposes. 

Genie Energy announces declarations for GNEPRA Series 2012-A Preferred Stock dividends via Form 8-K filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and press releases posted on the investor relations pages ofthe Genie Energy website http://genie.com/investors/investor-

relations/. 

About Genie Energy Ltd.: 
Genie Energy Ltd. (NYSE: GNE, GNEPRA) is comprised of IDT Energy and Genie Oil and Gas (GOGAS). IDT Energy is a retail energy provider 
supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the Northeastem United States. GOGAS is pioneering 
technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's abundant oil shales and other fuel resources. GOGAS resource 
development projects include a conventional oil and gas exploration program in Israel and in-situ oil shale projects in Colorado, Israel and 
Mongolia. For more informafion, visit www.genie.com. 

Contact: 
Genie Energy Investor Relations 
Bill Ulrey 
P: (973) 438-3848 
E-mail: invest{ggenie.com 
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Exhibit C-3 - "Financial Statements" 

As a wholly-owned subsidiary, Diversegy, LLC does not have separately-audited financial statements. Its 

financial Information is included in the consolidated financial statements of its ultimate parent company, 

Genie Energy Ltd. 

Genie Energy Ltd.'s most recent financial statements can found as part ofthe Information included in 

Exhibits C-1 and C-2. 
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Exhibit C-4 - "Financial Arrangements" 

Diversegy, LLC is seeking to renew its certification as a broker/aggregator of electricity services only, and 

will not take title to electricity in the state of Ohio. As such, the requirement to demonstrate financial 

arrangements to conduct competitive retail electricity service as a business activity is not applicable to 

Diversegy, LLC. 
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Exhibit C-5 - "Forecasted Financial Statements" 

As a wholly-ow/ned subsidiary, Diversegy, LLC does not have separate forecasted financial statements 

from its parent company. 
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Exhibit C-6 - "Credit Rating" 

Exhibit C-7 - "Credit Report" 

Dun and Bradstreet report for Genie Energy Ltd. is appended. 
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Dun & Bradstreet 
C R E D I B I L I T Y C O R P 

Gen ie E n e r g y L t d . DUNS:96-9553424 

Business Information Report 

Company Information 

550 Broad Sfreet 
Clifton, NJ 07012 

This is a headquarter location. 

Telephone (973) 438-3500 

Chief Executive: THE OFFICER(S) and James A 
Courter, Irwin Katsof, W Wesley 
Perry, Alan B Rosenthal and Allan 
Sass PhD, 

Stock Symbol: GNE 

Year Started 2011 

Employees 98 

Corporate Family: 

This business is a headquarter of the corporate family. 

Financial Statement 

Date: 

Sales 

Nef Worth 

History: 

Financial Condition 

SIC: 

t.ine of Business: 

09/30/2014 

$279,174,000 

$116,340,000.00 

NA 

NA 

4911 
4924 

Electric services and natural gas 
distribution 

D & B R a t i n g ® 

Rating 

5A2 
Financial Strength: 5A ind icates $50,000,000 and over 

Composite Credit Appraisal; 2 is g o o d 

PAYDEX©® 
Score Not Ava i l ab le 

You must have three reported payment experiences, f rom at least two different vendors, to establish a PAYDEX® score. To 

ensure all of your payments are reflected in your credit f i le, add trade references to your report. Visit the Act ion Center to learn 

more. 

D&B Rating ® 

Rating 

5A2 
Financial Strength: 5A indicates $50,000,000 and over 

Composite Credit Appraisal: 2 is good 

The credit rating was assigned based on D&B's assessment o f t h e company's f inancial ratios and its cash 

f low. For more information, see the D&B Rating Key. 

Below is an overview o f t h e company's rating history since 12/15/2011 
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D&B Rating 

5A2 

ERN 

Date Applied 

2013-12-24 

2013-03-14 

2011-12-15 

The Summary Analysis section reflects Information In D&B's file as of December 8, 2014 

History & Operations 

The following information was reported: 04/29/2014 

Officer(s): 
CI_AUDE PUPKIN, CEO 
IRA GREENSTEIN. PRES 

AVI GOLDIN, CFO 
HOWARD S JONAS, EXEC CHB+ 
GEOFFREY ROCHWARGER, EXEC V CHAIRIVIAN 
LIORE ALROY, DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 

Incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 10, 2011. 
Business started 2011. 

The company was formeriy a subsidiary of IDT Corporation (IDT). On October 28, 2011, the company was spun-off by IDT Corp. 
and became an independent public company through a pro rata distribution of the company's common stocl< to IDT's stoci(holders 

(the Spin-Off). 
The company's Class B common stoclt is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "GNE". As of November 14, 
2011, there were 6 shareholders of record of the company's Class A common stock and 108 record holders of shares of the 
company's Class B common stock. As of March 23, 2012, the sole shareholder identified by the company as beneficially owning 5% 
or more ofthe outstanding shares of Class B Common Stoci<was Howard S. Jonas (18%). Asof the same date, officers and 
directors as a group beneficially owned 29.29% of the total outstanding shares of Class B common stock. 
Aso f March 23, 2012, the sole shareholder identified by the company as beneficially owning 5% or more of the outstanding shares 
of Aggregate Voting Power was Howard S. Jonas (74.5%). As of the same date, officers and directors as a group beneficially 
owned 75.6% of the total outstanding shares of Aggregate Voting Power. 
RECENT EVENTS. 

On October 28, 2011, IDT Corp., Newark, NJ, has completed the spin-off of Genie Energy Ltd, Clifton, NJ. 
CLAUDE PUPKIN. He has served as CEO of the company since August 2011 and served as Executive Vice President of IDT 
Corporation from December 2008 to October 2011. He has also served as CFO of Genie Energy International Corporation since 
September 2009 and as President, Treasurer and Secretary of AMSO LLC since April 2008. He joined IDT in January 2003 and has 
held several positions with IDT and its affiliates. Previously, he served as IDT's Senior Vice President of Corporate Development. 
Before joining the parent company, he was the Executive Vice President of Finance and Corporate Development for Net2Phone. He 
began his professional career as a CPA with Ernst & Young. He holds an MBA from The Wharton School of the University of 
Pennsylvania, an MA in International Studies from the University of Pennsylvania and a Bachelors Degree in Accounting from the 
University of Maryland, College Park where he graduated Summa CumLaude. 
IRA GREENSTEIN. He has served as President of the company since December 2011. He currently also serves as Counsel to the 

Chairman of IDT Corporation and had served as the President of IDT from August 2001 to December 2011. Prior to joining IDT, he 
was a Partner in the law firm of Morrison & Foerster LLP from February 1997 to November 1999, where he served as the CHB of 
the New York Office's Business Department. Concurrently, he was General Counsel and Secretary of Net2Phone from January 
1999 to November 1999. Priorto 1997, he was an Associate inthe New York and Toronto offices of the law firm Skadden, Arps, 
Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP. He also served on the Securities Advisory Committee and as secondment counsel to the Ontario 
Securities Commission. He received a B.S. from Cornell University and a J.D. from Columbia University Law School. 
AVI GOLDIN. He has served as CFO of the company since August 2011 and served as Vice President of Corporate Development 
of IDT Corporation from May 2009 to October 2011. He originally joined IDT in January 2004 and held several positions within IDT 
and its affiliates before leaving to join CayComm Media Holdings where he served as Vice President, Finance. He rejoined IDT in 
May 2009 as Vice President of Corporate Development. Prior to joining IDT, he served as an Investment Analyst at Dreman Value 
Management gnd an Assodate in the Satellite Communications group at Morgan Stanley & Co. He holds an MBA from the Stern 
School of Business of New York University, a BA in Finance from the Syms School of Business of Yeshiva University and is a 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). 

HOWARD S JONAS. Director since 2011. He has served as Executive CHB of the company since January 2011 and Co-Vice CHB 
of Genie Energy International Corporation since September 2009. He founded IDT in August 1990 and has served as CHB of IDT 
since its inception. He has served as CEO of IDT since October 2009 and from December 1991 to July 2001. He served as 
President of IDT from December 1991 to September 1996 and as Treasurer of IDT from inception to 2002. He has served as the 
CHB of CTM Media Holdings, Inc. since August 2009. He has also served as the Vice CHB of IDT Telecom from December 1999 to 
April 2008 and as Co-CHB since April 2008. He served as Co-CHB of IDT Entertainment from November 2004 to August 2006. He 
is also the Founder and has been President of Jonas Media Group since 1979. He was the CHB of Net2Phone from October 2001 
to October 2004, the Vice CHB of Net2Phone from October 2004 to June 2006, and has served as the CHB of Net2PhoRa^ri4@e of 31 
June 2006. He received a B.A. in Economics from Harvard University. 

GEOFFREY ROCHWARGER. He has served as Executive Vice Chairman ofthe company since August 2011, and has served as 



CEO of IDT Energy since January 2007 and as CHB of IDT Energy since June 2007. From 2004 to 2009, he served as President of 
IDT Capital, Inc. Prior to 2004, he has held various executive officer positions at IDT Corporation and its affiliates. He received a 
B.A. in Economics and Psychology at Yeshiva University in 1992. 
LIORE ALROY. He has served as the company's Deputy Chairman since October 2011. He has also served as Deputy Chairman of 
IDT Corporation since October 2011. He served as an Executive Vice President of IDT from December 2007 to October 2011. He 
has served as CEO, President and Co-Chairman of IDT Telecom from April 2008 to October 2011. From October 2004 to October 
2011, he served as CEO of NetZPhone. He joined IDT in 2001 and served in various capacities with IDT and its affiliates, including 
as a senior Vice President for Strategic Initiatives. He is a graduate of Cornell University and Columbia University Law School. 
JAMES A COURTER. Director since 2011. He has served as Vice CHB of the company since August 2011. He is the Co-Vice CHB 
of Genie Energy International Corporation. 
IRWIN KATSOF. Director since 2012. He founded and currently serves as the Managing Partner of Katsof Energy Consultants. 
W WESLEY PERRY. Director since 2011. He Owns and Operates S.E.S. Investments, Ltd. 
ALAN B ROSENTHAL. Director since 2011. He is the founding and Managing Partner of ABR Capital Financial Group LLC. 
ALLAN SASS PHD. Director since 2011. He is the former President and CEO of Occidental Oil Shale Corporation. 
Business address has changed from 520 Broad Street, Clifton, NJ, 07012 to 550 Broad Street, Clifton, NJ, 07012. 

Operations 

04/29/2014 

Description: 
The company, together with its subsidiaries, provides sustainable and reliable sources of energy. It engages in 
supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers. It also provides transportation 
fuels from the oil shale and other unconventional fuel resources. 

Terms are cash basis. Sells to commercial concerns and general public. Ten-itory: Regional. 

Revenues are impacted by, among other things, the weather and the seasons. Weather conditions have a significant impact on the 
demand for natural gas for heating and electricity for air conditioning. Typically, colder winters and hotter summers create higher 
demand and consumption for natural gas and electricity, respectively. Milder winters and/or summers will reduce the demand for 
natural gas and electricity, respectively. Natural gas revenues typically increase in the first quarter due to increased heating 
demands, and electricity revenues typically increase in the third quarter due to increased air conditioning use. 

Employees: 98 which includes partners. Undetermined employed here. The company also retains the services of a number of 
professional consultants, including geologists, hydrologists, drilling and completions engineers, process engineers, environmental 
experts, permitting consultants, energy experts, legal, and land designation and acquisition consultants. 

Facilities: Occupies premises in a building. 

Subsidiaries: This business has multiple subsidiaries, detailed subsidiary information is available in D&B's linkage or family tree 
products. 

SIC & NAICS 

SIC: 
Based on information in our file, D&B has assigned this company an extended 8-digit SIC. D&B's use of 8-digit SICs 
enables us to be more specific to a company's operations that if we use the standard 4-digit code.The 4-digit SIC 
numbers link to the description on the Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) Web site. Links open in 
a new frowser window. 

4911 0000 Electric services 
4911 9901 Distribution, electric power 
4911 9903 Transmission, electric power 
4924 0000 Natural gas distribution 

NAICS; 
221118 Other Electric Power Generation 
221121 Electric Bulk Power Transmission and Control 
221122 Electric Power Distribution 
221210 Natural Gas Distribution 

Payments 

PAYDEX®® 



Score Not Available 
You must have three reported payment experiences, from at least two different vendors, to establish a PAYDEX® score. To 

ensure all of your payments are reflected in your credit f i le, add trade references to your report. Visit the Act ion Center to learn 

more. 

Payments Summary 

Total (Last 12 Months): 1 

Top Industries 

Vlisc business service 

Other Categories 

Cash experiences 

Unknown 

Unfavorable comments 

Placed for collections with D&B: 

Other 

Total in D&B's file 

Total 

Received 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

Total Dollar 

Amount 

$45,000.00 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

N/A 

$45,000 

Largest High Credit 

Payment summary 

$45,000.00 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$45,000 

Within 

Terms 

100% 

-

-

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

31 

0 

-

-

-

~ 

~ 

-

Days Slow 

30-80:81-90 90 

0 0 0 

-

-

-

~ 

~ 

-

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

• " 

" 

~ 

~ 

The highest Now Owes on file is $25,000 

The highest Past Due on file is $0 

There are 1 payment experience(s) in D&Bs file for the most recent 24 months, with 1 experience(s) reported during the last three 

month period. 

Payments Details 

Total (Last 12 Months): 1 

Date • ^ Paying Record ' High Credit • Now Owes" P'astDue "Selling Terms Last sale wVf (Mo..) 

10/2014 Ppt $45,000 $25,000 1 mo 

Payments Detail Key: S ' 30 or more days beyond terms 

Accounts are sometimes placed for collection even though the existence or amount of the debt is disputed. 

Payment experiences reflect how bills are met in relation to the terms granted. In some instances payment beyond terms can be 

the result of disputes over merchandise, skipped invoices etc. 

Each experience shown is from a separate supplier. Updated trade experiences replace those previously reported. 

Banking and Finance 

Statement Update 

Key Business Ratios from D&B 
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3.00, 

2012 2013 2014 

This Company 

Key Financial Comparisons 

This Company's Operating Results Year Over Year 

NETSALES 

GROSSPROFIT 

NETPROFITAFTERTAX 

DIVIDENDS/WITHDRAWALS 

WORKINGCAPITAL 

This Company's Assets Year Over Year 

CASH 

ACCOUNTSRECEIVABLE 

NOTESRECEIVABLE 

INVENTORY 

OTHERCURRENTASSETS 

TOTALCURRENTASSETS 

FIXEDASSETS 

OTHERNON-CURRENTASSETS 

TOTALASSETS 

This Company's Liabilities Year Over Year 

ACCOUNTSPAYABLE 

BANKLOAN 

NOTESPAYABLE 

OTHERCURRENTLIABILITIES 

TOTALCURRENTLIABILITIES 

OTHERLONGTERMLIABILITIES 

DEFERREDCREDIT 

NETWORTH 

TOTALOFLIABILITIESANDNETWORTH 

2012($) 

229,459,000.00 

69,587,000.00 

-2,535,000.00 

NA 

108,992,000.00 

20,641,000.00 

NA 

NA 

11,568,000.00 

32,209,000.00 

NA 

NA 

118,097,000.00 

150,306,000.00 

2013$) 

279,174,000.00 

65,758,000.00 

-5,341,000.00 

NA 

105,758,000.00 

71,614,000.00 

40,932,000.00 

NA 

2,644,000.00 

26,011,000.00 

141,201,000.00 

409,000.00 

8,696,000.00 

150,306,000.00 

78,228,000.00 

42,926,000.00 

NA 

3,344,000.00 

21,594,000.00 

146,092,000.00 

561,000.00 

12,190,000.00 

158,843,000.00 

25,302.000.00 

NA 

NA 

15,032,000.00 

40,334,000.00 

2,169,000.00 

NA 

116,340,000.00 

158,843,000.00 

225,345,000.00 

39,175,000.00 

-16,978,000.00 

NA 

118,069,000.00 

86,238,000.00 

24,976,000.00 

NA 

8,979,000.00 

24,784,000.00 

144,977,000.00 

1,748,000.00 

12,106,000.00 

158,831,000.00 

13,618,000.00 

NA 

NA 

13,290,000.00 

26,908,000.00 

1,985,000.00 

NA 

129,938,000.00 
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Cash 

Accts Rec 

Inventory 

Restricted Cash 

Certificates Of Deposit 

Receivable Due From 

Related Party 

Defen-ed Income Tax 

Assets-Net 

Prepaid 

Other Curr Assets 

Current Assets 

Fixt & Equip 

Goodwill 

Restricted Cash 

Other Assets 

Total Assets 

86238000 

24976000 

8979000 

11000000 

4661000 

263000 

920000 

4170000 

3770000 

144,977,000.00 

1748000 

7226000 

1074000 

3806000 

158,831,000.00 

Liabilities($) 

26908000 

Current Liabs 

Other Liabilities 

PREFERRED STOCK 

COMMON STOCK 

ADDIT. PD.-IN CAP 

TREASURY STOCK 

RETAINED EARNINGS 

ADJUSTMENTS 

Total Liabilit ies 

13618000 

26,908,000.00 

1985000 

19743000 

248000 

112156000 

-1430000 

4521000 

-5300000 

158,831,000.00 

From JAN 01 2014 to SEP 30 2014 sales $225,345,000; cost of goods sold $186,170,000. Gross profit 
$39,175,000; operating expenses $54,118,000. Operating income $(14,943,000); other income 
$431,000; other expenses $2,046,000; net income before taxes $(16,558,000); Federal income tax 
$420,000; (net loss) $16,978,000. 

Statement obtained from Securities And Exchange Commission. Prepared from books without audit. 

A review of the accountant's opinion indicated that the financial statement meets generally accepted 
accounting principles and the audit contains no qualifications. 

Explanations 

Explanations: The net worth of this company includes intangibles; Adjustments consists of accumulated 
other comprehensive income, noncontrolling interests and receivable for issuance of equity. 

Key Business Ratios 
CONSINTERIM 2014-09-30 
(Industry Median is based on this number of firms: 24 
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^ , . . , _ . ^ . . , . , . . , . . , , 

1 Solvency 

i •• Quick Ratio 

1 Current Ratio 

I •. Current Liabilities to Net Worth 

; 1 
Current Liabilities to Inventory 

; Total Cunrent 
1 

11 Fixed Assets to Net Worth 

j Efficiency 

\r "" ' "" 
i Collection Period 

1 Inventory Turn Over 

Sales to NWC 

Acct Pay to Sales 

1 i Profitability 

1 j Retum on Sales 

i 
Return on Assets 

Return on NetWorth 

Tills Corhpany 

4.1 

5.4 

20.7 

299.7 

22.2 

1.3 

30.3 

33.5 

2.5 

4.5 

-7.5 

-10.7 

-13.1 

• Industry Median 

0.4 

1.0 

35.9 

999.9 

205.9 

213.5 

41.8 

30.2 

9.7 

9.1 

9.1 

2.9 

8.6 

Industry Quartile 

1 

1 

4 

4 

4 

4 

4 

2 

4 

4 

4 

4 

4 

B 

i 

; 

: 

\ 

-

'. 

•-. 

• 

; 

1 

Public Filings 

Summary 

The following data includes both open and closed filings found in D&B's database on this company. 

' # of Records Most Recent Filing Date Record Type # of Rec 

Bankruptcy Proceedings 

Judgments 

Liens 

Suits 

UCCs 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

The following Public Filing data is for information purposes only and is not the official record. 
Certified copies can only be obtained from the official source. 

Judgments 

We currently don't have enough data to display this section 

We currently don't have enough data to display this section 

We currently don't have enough data to display this section 

UCC Filings 



We currently don't have enough data to display this section 

© Dun & Bradstreet Credibility Corp., 2010 -11 . 
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Exhibit C-8 - "Bankruptcy Information" 

Diversegy, LLC has not made any bankruptcy filings nor undergone any reorganizations since it last filed 
for certification as an electricity broker/aggregator. 
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Exhibit C-9 - "Merger Information" 

On December S, 2013, Diversegy, LLC was acquired by Shuk Holdings, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
IDTEnergy Inc., which Is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Genie Retail Energy, Inc., which is in turn a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Genie Energy International Corp., which is majority-owned {99.3%) by Genie 
Energy Ltd., a publicly traded company (NYSE: GNE). 
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